CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee

Meeting date: 26 November 2025
Meeting time: 6.00 pm

Meeting venue: Council Chamber - Municipal Offices

Membership:
Councillor Glenn Andrews, Councillor Flo Clucas, Councillor Jan Foster, Councillor
Julian Tooke (Chair) and Councillor Suzanne Williams (Vice-Chair)

lan Mason (Tenant Representative), Lizzie Mawdsley (Leaseholder Representative)
and Agnieszka Wisniewska (Tenant Representative)

Important notice — filming, recording and broadcasting of Council
meetings

This meeting will be recorded by the council for live broadcast online at
www.cheltenham.gov.uk and https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams.
The Chair will confirm this at the start of the meeting.

If you participate in the meeting, you consent to being filmed and to the possible use
of those images and sound recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

If you have any questions on the issue of filming/recording of meetings, please
contact Democratic Services.

Contact: democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk
Phone: 01242 264 246



http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams
mailto:democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk

o

Apologies

2 Declarations of interest

w

Public and Member Questions

SN

Minutes of the last meeting (Pages 3 - 12)
5 CEO/Director Briefing (if required) (Verbal)

6 Rent Setting, Repairs, Empty Homes (Voids) and Recharge Policies (Pages
13 -102)

7 Compliance Performance data for October 2025 and KPI reporting for Q2
(Pages 103 - 114)

8 Housing Services Health and Safety Report (Pages 115 - 122)
9 Housing Improvement Plan (Pages 123 - 136)

10 6 monthly Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) Tracker Update (Pages 137
-192)

11 Q2 2025/26 Housing Complaints and Compliments Report (Pages 193 -
210)

12 Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels (Pages 211 - 212)
13 Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan (Pages 213 - 214)
14 Items to be referred to Cabinet

15 Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight (Pages 215 - 220)



Agenda ltem 4
Page 3

Cabinet Housing Committee
Minutes

Meeting date: 24 September 2025

Present:
Councillors:

Glenn Andrews, Dr Cathal Lynch, Julian Tooke (Chair) and Suzanne Williams (Vice-
Chair)

Cooptees:
Elizabeth Mawdsley, lan Mason

Also in attendance:
Councillors:

Rowena Hay

Officers

Claire Hughes (Director of Governance, Housing and Communities), Paul Leo
(Interim Director Housing Transformation), Olivia Underhill (Customer Services
Manager) and Matt Ward (Head of Housing Services)

1 Apologies

Apologies were received from Councillor Flo Clucas, Councillor Jan Foster and
Agnieszka Wisniewska.

Councillor Cathal Lynch acted a substitute.

2 Declarations of interest

There were none.

3 Public and Member Questions
One public question had been submitted; the response was taken as read.



Page 4

Question from Mr Gary Clarke

Will the Housing Committee confirm, with reference to any existing records or
policies from 1 January 2020 to the present, whether there are any plans or
intentions to package, transfer, or sell any part of the Council’s housing stock,
including the approximately 4,800 properties managed by Cheltenham Borough
Homes, to pension funds, private equity firms, or other third parties? If no such plans
exist, will the Committee commit to issuing a formal, public declaration within 30
days, confirming that this housing stock will remain under the Council’s direct
ownership, control, and management, with no such proposals under consideration?
If such plans do exist, what are the specific details of these proposals, including
when they were last discussed, and how do they align with the Council’s duties
under the Housing Act 1985 to manage its housing stock for public benefit?

Response from Councillor Julian Tooke, Chair of the Cabinet Housing
Committee

Thank you for your enquiry. The Cabinet Housing Committee is not aware of any
plans to package, transfer, or sell any part of the Council’s housing stock. In line with
the Council’s Constitution decisions on the disposal or exchange of land or property
is reserved for the Cabinet Member (where the value is between £10,000 and
£500,000) or the Cabinet as a whole (where the value is over £500,000). As this
decision falls outside of the authority of the Committee, it would be inappropriate to
issue a formal, public declaration on this matter. You are welcome to write to the
Cabinet Member for Housing or submit your question to the full Council.

Mr Clarke was not present to ask a supplementary question.

4 Appointment of Leasehold Representative

Elizabeth Mawdsley was UNANIMOUSLY elected as Leaseholder
Representative for the Committee.

5 Minutes of the last meeting

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16th July 2025.

RESOLVED THAT The minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2025 were
signed as a correct record.

6 Director Briefing (Verbal)

Objective: An update from the Director of Governance, Housing and
Communities on key issues which may be of interest to the Cabinet
Housing Committee.

The Director of Governance, Housing and Communities addressed the
Committee and highlighted that:



Page 5

Five appointments have been made since the Committee last met
which will bring structure and balance to the teams after a period
of change:

o Resource Planning Team Leader who will manage the team

who allocate jobs and make appointments with customers.

o Operations Manager Responsive repairs with overall

responsibility for the Repairs and Voids Service.

o Operations Manager Technical Investment who will manage

the planned and programmed maintenance.

o Head of Regulatory Compliance with overall responsibility for

all compliance.

o Project Manager for the Housing Improvement Programme.
The self-assessment against the Consumer Standards has been
completed and has been submitted to the Housing Quality Network
who are carrying out an independent review to provide assurance
that the approach taken and actions identified are correct. That
review will be conducted throughout October and will inform the
further development of the housing improvement action plan which
will be presented to the Committee and shared with tenants and
leaseholders in November.

The annual report to tenants for 2024/25 will be published online in
the next few days. Printed copies will be available at offices and
will include information on how you can acquire copies translated
into the three most common languages locally for the first time.
Voids (empty properties) are down 14% since July — there are 118
standard re-let Voids, 15 of these are currently with the letting
team, with work ongoing for the remaining 103. On average 20
new Voids are received per month and since April 2025 an
additional 118 properties have come through as new Voids.
Predominantly Voids are split into two categories being Majors and
Minors. Minor Voids are now the focus of an in-house Voids Team
who are working at a rate of around 8-10 properties per week. With
regards to Major Voids, we now have three active contractors
appointed and are starting work on these Voids — 28 are being
worked on currently with an expected average conservative
turnaround of 8 weeks.



Page 6

7 Proposed Performance Framework and Performance Data for August 2025

Objective: To provide the Committee with key performance information
relation to voids, arrears, day to day repairs, ASB and property
compliance.

The Director of Governance, Housing and Communities introduced the
report and highlighted that it provided a proposed framework to be used
moving forwards. She thanked the Governance, Risk and Assurance
Manager for her work preparing the framework. She explained that the
framework provides a suite of KPIs that will be reported on a monthly
basis and shared with the Compliance Monitoring Group which is
composed of officers and the Chair of the Cabinet Housing Committee. It
also includes how exceptions will be reported.

The Director of Governance, Housing and Communities highlighted the
following compliance matters:

- Of the four new high-risk actions reported at 3.1.4, three have now
been completed. The remaining outstanding high-risk action will be
added to the compartmentation contract which is due to start in
mid-October. Five of the seven new medium risk actions have now
been completed and we are working with experts to find solutions
for the two outstanding, more complicated actions.

- Legacy risk actions are currently still recorded in the old
spreadsheet method (new actions have been inputted into a more-
automated system that allows reports to be run immediately).
Legacy actions have reduced from 49 to 42, as 7 actions relating
to fire doors have been completed.

- At the Chair’s request a detailed breakdown of risk actions has
been included at appendix 5 to show actions by block, what is
happening and what mitigations are in place. Actions 1-6,10, 22,
24 and have now been completed. The report reflects a point in
time and will be updated regularly.

- A new scorecard format has also been included to quickly and
clearly show where we are compliant, non-compliant and what
actions need to be followed up.

- The KPIs included in appendix 6 are being shared with the
Committee for the first time. In the future it will move to look more
like the scorecard.



Page 7

The Chair thanked the Compliance Team for the work carried out to
ensure that data collection, consistency, and system have improved,
providing better reports that are needed for the Committee. Providing
better data and processes.

The Committee’s discussion raised the following points:

The fire doors scheduled to be fitted in September have now been
fitted.

An inspection took place at a leaseholder property when it was
meant to be limited to tenant properties. The contractor was not
aware they were carrying out tests beyond their remits and
revealed that fire doors are not compliant, which the leaseholder is
now responsible for resolving. There is a consistent theme of blind
spots around leaseholders which officers have noted.

Quiality assurance checks will be carried out by the Head of
Regulatory Compliance, once they have taken up the post, and the
Governance, Risk and Assurance Manager, supported by the
council’s data analyst. The outcomes of these checks will be
shared with the appropriate meeting for scrutiny.

It was noted that the report shows that arrears are increasing. As
mentioned at a recent meeting a lot of tenants are experiencing
issues following their migration to Universal Credit and are ending
up in arrears despite doing everything right. The arrears position is
ahead of target and the arrears are currently lower than the same
point last year. Work to do in regards to the report as the correct
targets need to be entered, the next report will include these.
Currently the spike in homelessness applications has not been
explored in regards to what is driving the increase. Exceptions will
identify issues that can be discussed with managers responsible
for that information to explore the matter, ideally this would have
happened prior to the meeting. We are currently still streamlining
the data collection and reporting process. We will ensure this
information is provided by the appropriate manager before the next
meeting.

The Committee UNANIMOUSLY approved the recommended
performance framework process and noted the compliance
information.



Page 8

8 Housing Complaints and Compliments Report - Quarter 1

Objective: To provide an overview of housing related complaints and
compliments, identifying key areas of dissatisfaction and areas for
learning and service improvement.

The Customer Services Manager introduced the quarter 1 complaints
and compliments report. She noted that nationally complaints numbers
have increased, which shows that more tenants are accessing the
complaints process. Since the last report to the Committee, the
Complaints Handling Code self-assessment has been completed and
was compliant in all areas. It has been submitted to the Housing
Ombudsman and uploaded on the housing service website. Additional
resource has also been recruited within the complaints service to
support the Complaints Officer.

The Committee’s discussion raised the following points:

- It would be beneficial to provide data over time in the learning
framework applied chart to establish whether the figures are
improving or worsening. It was noted that results do fluctuate but
the team are aware where focus needs to be on improvement.

- It was noted that there had been 12 complaints relating to the
guality of work in quarter 1 and concerns were raised that this was
due to the absence of routine post-inspections and contractor work
not being monitored. It was confirmed that there had been issues
with contract management due to resource shortages and a lack of
the particular skill set needed to manage contractors. A skills gap
analysis is being carried out at the moment. A lot of work has been
carried out on how contractors are procured in the last few months
to ensure they are appointed through robust processes. For
example, the three new contractors appointed recently to work on
voids are being given a smaller number of jobs initially to allow an
assessment to be carried out of their strengths and issues that
need to be addressed. Should significant issues be identified then
we may stop using that contractor. The new contracts agree a rate
but does not commit the council to a specific number of jobs, they
also include a framework for how performance will be monitored.

- It was noted that leaseholders are experiencing similar issues and
are being charged for repeated call outs where repairs are not
completed and where contractors have not really been fit for their
role. The Head of Housing Services will discuss this matter with



Page 9

the Leasehold Representative to confirm whether they are
financially liable where repairs are not completed and how they
can ensure they are receiving value for money.

The importance of complaints was highlighted in driving
improvement and holding contractors to account. It was confirmed
that a meeting has been held with a contractor to discuss
complaints and further meetings are scheduled.

It was highlighted that repeated visits to repairs without noticeable
progress or evidence of work being carried out erodes tenants
trust and may make them less likely to engage with the service or
ensure the service is good.

Concern was raised that the service may be being charged for
visits where no action is taken.

It was noted that the numbers in the report tend not to match
exactly as the 10-day response target often falls across periods.

9 Housing Risk Register

1. Objective: To review the strategic risks relating to housing from the
Council’s Risk Register.

The Director of Governance, Housing and Communities introduced the
report to the Committee. She highlighted that:

The score for risk ‘CH1 - Housing Revenue Account’ has
increased to reflect the end of year position reported to the
Committee in July.

The score for risk ‘CH3 - Stock Condition Data’ has decreased to
reflect that over 70% of stock conditions have now been
completed. It was noted that outstanding surveys are primarily due
to lack of access to properties. Legal advice is currently being
sought on how to engage with these tenants. Work is also now
being carried out on the data from the surveys to develop the
planned maintenance programme.

The Committee’s discussion raised the following points:

It was highlighted that the Leaseholder Panel have raised financial
concerns around when fees for large work across properties will
fall, particularly in a time of great financial vulnerability. They were
assured that engagement activities are planned for both tenants



Page 10

and leaseholders as the planned maintenance programme is
developed.

Concerns were raised around the conversion of flats back into one
property which could impact the housing waiting list. As this related
to privately owned properties it was agreed that this did not fall
under the remit of the Committee and would instead be discussed
at an alternative forum.

10 Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels

Objective: To highlight the ongoing activities of the Tenant and
Leaseholder Panels and provide an additional opportunity for tenant and
leaseholder voices to be heard.

The leaseholder representative updated the Committee on the recent
activity of the Leaseholder Panel, she explained that the key themes that
had emerged from their discussions were:

A focus on repairs and maintenance and concerns around
response times, communication received, confusion between
tenant and leaseholder properties, and the expectation they must
be present with little opportunity to negotiate times.

Contractor accountability and performance review in terms of
responsive maintenance.

Service charges and transparency around costs and how fees are
calculated, especially with cost of living an issue. There is concern
around S20 notices for large repairs and a perception that costs
are unfairly passed to leaseholders. Whilst this is not the case the
costs do often seem incredibly unreasonable in terms of quality
and scope of work carried out.

The Panel would like to see accessible breakdowns of how fees
are arrived at with plain English summaries available on request to
ensure the wider leaseholder network are able to understand the
documents.

Earlier engagement and understandable timelines around major
works and planned maintenance would be useful to allow
leaseholders to make informed decisions and reduce the feeling of
threat from upcoming fees.

Communication is a key theme across all these issues, especially
as it often seems focused on tenants. There has been
inconsistency on how information is received, and it is important



Page 11

that formats are accessible. A review of communication is
scheduled in the future.

The Committee’s discussion raised the following points:

- The Leaseholder Representative’s comments were welcomed. It
was noted that S20 is a legal process that needs to be followed.
Work has already been carried out to make the descriptions of
service charges more detailed. Officers would like to work with the
Leaseholder Forum to review the notices before they are issued
and raise observations. The team also encourages leaseholders to
contact them and let them know if work isn’t carried out or is
unsatisfactory, and are happy to offer support through the S20
process. It is hoped that in the future this can be a more proactive
offer. An advisory audit of the S20 process is being carried out
which should provide recommendations for improving the service.

- Whilst there are observation opportunities, for example in relation
to cyclical decoration, it was noted that respondents hadn’t heard
back within the time frame and the responses eventually received
seemed to be dismissive. There is work to be done on improving
this observation process.

- It was highlighted how valuable it was to directly hear from
leaseholders so that we can adapt services.

11 Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan

The Housing Committee Forward Plan was noted.

12 Items to be referred to Cabinet

There were none.

13 Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight

Objective: To provide the Committee with an overview of recent
developments in the housing sector and provide opportunities for
horizon scanning.

The Committee’s discussion raised the following points:

- The council are signatories to the remediation acceleration plan for
three 11m blocks that have had cladding issues identified. Work
has already been carried out to ensure safety but a bid will be put
in to fully replace the cladding.



Page 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 11 June 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 6
Page 13

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee — 26 November 2025
Rent Setting, Repairs, Empty Homes (Voids) and Recharge

Policies

Accountable member:
ClIr Flo Clucas, Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services
Accountable officer:

Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and Communities

Executive summary:
This report brings forward new policies for the following:

¢ Rent Setting

e Recharges

e Empty Homes (Voids)

¢ Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties

Recommendations:
The Cabinet Housing Committee recommends that Cabinet approves:

The Rent Setting Policy (Appendix 2)

The Recharge Policy (Appendix 5)

The Empty Homes (Voids) Policy (Appendix 8)

The Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties Policy (Appendix 11)

N~

1 Background

1.1 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) provides a wide range of local services, including the provision
of social housing, maintaining approximately 5,000 domestic properties, communal blocks and
schemes.

Page 1 of 4



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 11 June 2025

Page 14

1.2 As part of our service delivery and the provision of homes it is essential that the council has a robust
policy framework in place which clearly sets out to our tenants what they can expect from the council
as their landlord.

1.3 This report brings forward a number of new policies for the cabinet housing committee to consider
and recommend to cabinet for approval. Each policy is supplemented with a tenant summary.

1.4 All policies have been reviewed by the tenant and leaseholder panels, and their feedback has been
incorporated.

2 Rent Setting Policy (Appendices 2 —4)

2.1 This policy explains how the council sets and reviews rents for its housing stock. It provides
information on the difference between social rent and affordable rent and on service charges.

2.2 The policy confirms that rent is charged weekly throughout the year, with four rent free weeks and
that rent is payable in advance.

3 Recharge Policy (Appendices 5 - 7)

3.1 This policy provides tenants with information on when they may be recharged for repairs, for example
when damaged has been caused to a home or changes have been made without the council’s
consent. Items which tenants may be recharged for include broken doors or windows, lost keys,
unsafe DIY work or rubbish left in the home.

3.2 The policy also provides information on special cases where recharges would not apply, including
where damage is a direct result of a crime or domestic abuse.

4 Empty Homes (Voids) Policy (Appendices 8 — 10)

4.1 This policy sets out the council’s process for managing empty homes to make sure that they are
ready for new tenants quickly, safely and fairly.

4.2 It provides information to tenants on terminating their tenancy and what they can expect during the
termination period. It also sets out the council’s lettable standard so that tenants know in advance
what they can expect from their new home.

4.3 The policy provides KPlIs for performance so that the council can measure its performance against
the policy standards.

5 Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties Policy (Appendices 11 — 13)

5.1 This policy sets out the process for repairs and maintenance in the councils tenanted properties. It
provides information on how to report repairs, types of repairs, response times and appointment
schedules.

5.2 Following feedback from the leaseholder panel it was decided to update this policy to make it
applicable to tenants only to avoid confusion between tenant and leaseholder responsibilities. A
separate policy for leaseholder repairs and the s20 process is being developed. This will be subject
to leaseholder consultation before being bought forward to this committee for consideration in
January 2026.

Page 2 of 4



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 11 June 2025

Page 15

6 Equalities Impact Assessments

6.1 Equalities impact assessments have been completed for each policy and can be found in the
appendices

7 Key risks

7.1 Key risks are set out in the risk register at Appendix 1.

Report author:

Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and Communities, claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:
1. Risk Assessment
2. Rent Setting Policy
3. Rent Setting Policy Summary for Tenants
4, Rent Setting Policy Equality Impact Assessment
5. The Recharge Policy
6. The Recharge Policy Summary for Tenants
7. The Recharge Policy Equality Impact Assessment
8. The Empty Homes (Voids) Policy

9. The Empty Homes (Voids) Policy Summary for Tenants

10. The Empty Homes (Voids) Policy Equality Impact Assessment

11. The Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties Policy

12. The Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties Policy Summary for Tenants

13. The Repairs and Maintenance for Tenanted Properties Policy Equality Impact Assessment

Page 3 of 4


mailto:claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 11 June 2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Risk Risk description Risk owner Impact Likelihood Initial raw | Risk Controls / Control / Deadline
ref score score risk score | response | Mitigating actions | Action owner | for
controls/
(1-5) (1-5) (1-25) actions
1 The Council has a legal duty to ensure that Director of 5 3 15 Reduce Produce, approve | Director of December
properties it manages are safe and comply Governance, and implement Governance, | 2025
with all applicable statutory requirements. If Housing and clear and robust Housing and
the Council fails to adopt clear policies then Communities policies and Communities
this could result in ambiguity potentially associated
putting tenants and residents at risk procedures.
2 If the Council does not have clear policies in Director of 5 3 15 Reduce Produce, approve | Director of December
place or does not comply with the provisions | Governance, and implement Governance, | 2025
of the polices then there is a risk that the Housing and clear and robust Housing and

council could be subject to legal and/ or
financial risk.

Communities

policies and
associated
procedures.

Communities

9T abed




Page 17
CHELTENHAM
BOROUGTI COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Rent Setting Policy

Version control

Document name: Rent Setting Policy
Version: 2.0

Responsible officer

e Talia Izzard, Housing Services Manager
e Matt Ward, Head of Housing Services

Approved by:
Next review date: September 2028

Retention period: 1 year after policy update

Revision history

Revision date Version Description
September 2025 1 New policy
November 2025 2 Enhanced explanation of rent

collection over 48 weeks following
feedback from Tenant Panel.

Consultees
Internal

e Finance Team
External

e Tenant consultation
e Housing Committee consultation

Distribution

All employees. Council website.

Rent Setting Policy v.2 Page 1 of 7



Page 18

CHELTENHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL
Contents
1. Introduction and purpose of the POLICY...........euuuiuiiiiiii e 2
2. AIMS and SCOPE OF the POLICY ....uueeiiie e e e e e 3
3. Legislation and qUIdANCE .............oo o 3
4. SOCIAI FENES ...ttt e e e e e e e et e e e 3
o == Tod (o | o 1U o o EO PP PPPPPPPPPRR 3
4.2 Social rent SEHING ......cooii e 4
5. AffOrdable FENES ... e 4
T I = 2= Yo (o | o 18] To S 4
5.2 Affordable rent SEtiNgG .......ooeeiiiiee e 4
5.3 Affordability CHECKS..........euiie e 5
B. SEIVICE CRAIGES ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e bbbt bbb e e e et e e eeaaaaaeeans 5
7. RENE COBCHION ...ttt e e e eaeaae s 5
40 B O 1 =T ] o - T o 1SS 6
I C =T = To SR =T o £ TP PPRRPPPP 6
9. ANNUAI FENT FEVIBW ...ttt et e e e e e aaeaeeens 7
TO. REVIBW ...ttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 7

1. Introduction and purpose of the policy

Local authorities have the power to determine rent levels for their stock providing any
Council housing has rents that are aligned with the Regulator for Social Housing’s
published Rent Standard. Cheltenham Borough Council (‘the Council’) is committed to
providing affordable housing and maintaining the standard of its housing stock for the long-
term benefit of residents. The primary source of revenue to achieve this is the Council’s
housing rental income. The Council understands that some tenants may be on low
incomes and therefore seeks to provide accommodation that is affordable to those people
whilst also being able to reinvest sufficient funds to maintain and improve its housing
stock.

The purpose of this policy is to demonstrate how the Council will calculate, and charge
rent for its housing stock.

Rent Setting Policy v.2 Page 2 of 7



Page 19

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Rent Setting Policy — Summary

What is this document about?
This summary provides an overview of Cheltenham Borough Council’s (the Council) Rent

Setting Policy for 2025.

What is the purpose of the policy?
The policy explains how the Council sets and reviews rents for its housing stock, ensuring
affordability for tenants whilst maintaining property quality.

What are the different types of rent?

= Social rent: These rents are based on a government formula that considers property
value, size and local income. These rents are subject to an annual increase of CPI plus
1%

= Affordable rent: These rents can be up to 80% of market rent, inclusive of service
charges. These rents can increase, stay the same or reduce year on year. Tenants
offered affordable rent properties undergo checks to ensure they can sustain
payments.

Service charges

Additional costs for services like cleaning and lighting are applied for some properties and
charged with the rent. These are reviewed annually and must be transparent and
reasonable.

Rent collection
Rent is charged weekly throughout the year but there are four rent free weeks. Payment is
expected in advance. Support is available for tenants facing financial difficulties.

Garage rents
Rents for garages are charged monthly and reviewed annually. VAT applies to non-
tenants.

Annual review
Rent and service charges are reviewed annually, with new charges starting each April.
Tenants receive four weeks’ notice of any changes.

Rent Setting Policy Summary v.1 Page 1 of 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 21
Equality Impact Assessment

Introduction

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is a method for assessing the effects or impacts of a
council policy or function on removing barriers to equality.

The Equality Act 2010 includes a public sector equality duty which requires public authorities to
try and eliminate discrimination; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it and promote equality and good
relations across a range of protected characteristics.

The protected characteristics are:

Age Disability Gender Reassignment

Marriage and civil
partnership

Religion or belief
(including lack of belief)

Pregnancy and maternity = Race

Sex Sexual orientation

An EqlA should be completed with the full range of protected characteristics considered during
the initial stages of developing new strategies, policies, functions or services, prior to starting a
procurement exercise and before decisions are made.

Examples of when an EqlA should be completed are:

¢ Any proposals to introduce or add to a ¢ Any proposals to adopt policy priorities,
service strategies and plans

Changes to staffing structure where
groups of employees are likely to be
negatives affected

Any proposals in relation to procured or
commissioned services

e Any proposals to remove, reduce or alter
a service

¢ Any new policies or changes to policies

Stage 1 - Equality Screening

Whenever a policy/service or function is reviewed, changed, developed or removed an initial
equality impact assessment stage 1 will need to be undertaken. This is a screening template and
will help establish whether a full assessment is needed. This should be done at an early stage of
the process so that it is part of policy development.

Stage 2 — Equality Impact Assessment

This is the full EqIA and seeks to identify the equality considerations that have bene taken into
account including any mitigating actions proposed and ensures decisions are based on evidence.
The EqlA will need to be agreed with the appropriate Head of Service or Director and should be
included on the decision making report, along with commentary on the assessment in the main
body of the report.

l|Page



Page 22
STAGE 1 - Equality Screening

1. ldentify the policy, project, function or service change

a. Person responsible for this EqlA

Officer responsible: Talia 1zzard Service Area: Housing Services
Title: Housing Services Manager Date of assessment: 05/11/25
Signature: Jalia Jzzard

b. Is this a policy, function, strategy, service change or Policy
project?
If other, please specify:

c. Name of the policy, function, strategy, service change or project
Rent Setting Policy
Is this new or existing? New or proposed

Please specify reason for change or development of policy, function, strategy, service
change or project

The policy has been developed to demonstrate how the Council will calculate, and charge
rent for its housing stock.

d. What are the aims, objectives and intended outcomes and who is likely to benefit
from it?
The aim of this policy is to ensure that the Council’s process for setting and
Aims: charging rents is fair, transparent and meets all legal obligations.

The policy will:
= Depict how rents will be set, charged and reviewed (including rent
increases) for all properties, for both new and existing tenancies
= Demonstrate that the Council calculates, charges and maintains rent in
accordance with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Rent Standard and
other relevant legislation
= Ensure rent charges remain affordable for the Council’s tenants

Objectives:

1. Tenants will be aware of how their rent is calculated and set, both at the
beginning of their tenancy and when the rent charge is reviewed annually.

2. Viability and financial stability of the HRA will be ensured through
Outcomes: maintaining sufficient rental income.

3. The Council will be able to maintain a good standard of housing stock and
plan for future investment through sufficient rental income

2|Page



Page 23
1. This policy should offer assurance to tenants that the process for setting
and charging rents is fair and meets all legal obligations.

B 2. Employees of the Council can utilise this policy to ensure correct

processes are ensued when setting rents.

e. What are the expected impacts?

Are there any aspects, including how it is delivered No
or accessed, that could have an impact on the lives
of people, including employees and customers.

. » No impact expected
Do you expect the impacts to be positive or
negative?
Please provide an explanation for your answer:

This policy will determine how rent is set and charged, and as such how much rent tenants
are expected to pay for their properties. Whilst this could be considered to have a possible
impact on some, the process for rent setting is governed by legislative guidance that must
be adhered to and is therefore conducted in a transparent, fair and uniform manner for all
properties.

If your answer to question e identified potential positive or negative impacts, or you are
unsure about the impact, then you should carry out a Stage Two Equality Impact
Assessment.

f. Identify next steps as appropriate
Stage Two required No
Owner of Stage Two assessment

Completion date for Stage Two assessment

Please forward this completed form to [add email address] and move on to Stage 2 if
required.

3|Page



Page 24

STAGE 2 - Full Equality Impact Assessment

2. Engagement and consultation

The best approach to find out if a policy etc, is likely to impact positively or negatively on equality
groups is to look at existing research, previous consultation recommendations, studies or consult
with representatives of those equality groups.

a. Research and evidence
List below any data, consultations (previous, relevant, or future planned), or any relevant
research, studies or analysis that you have considered to assess the policy, function,
strategy, service change or project for its relevance to equality.

b. Consultation

Has any consultation be conducted? CIEBER S

Describe the consultation or engagement you have conducted or are intending to conduct.
Describe who was consulted, what the outcome of the activity was and how these results
have influenced the development of the strategy, policy, project, service change or budget
option.

If no consultation or engagement is planned, please explain why.

3. Assessment

a. Assessment of impacts

4|Page



Page 25
For each characteristic, please indicate the type of impact (positive — contributes to promoting
equality or improving relations within an equality group, neutral — no impact, negative — could
disadvantage them).

Please use the description of impact box to explain how you justify the impact and include any
data and evidence that you have collected from surveys, performance data or complaints to
support your proposed changes

5|Page



Protected
Characteristic

AGE

DISABILITY

A definition of disability
under the Equality Act

2010 is available here.

See also carer
responsibilities under
other considerations.

GENDER
REASSIGNMENT

MARRIAGE & CIVIL
PARTNERSHIP

PREGNANCY &
MATERNITY

RACE*

Further information on the
breakdown below each of
these headings, is
available here.

Specific
Characteristic
Older people (60+)
Younger People (16-
25)

Children (0-16)
Physical disability
Sensory Impairment
(sight, hearing)
Mental health

Learning Disability

Women

Men

Lesbians

Gay Men
Women

White

Mixed or multiple

ethnic groups
Asian

Impact

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Description of impact

Mitigating Action

9z abed

6|Page


https://www.gov.uk/definition-of-disability-under-equality-act-2010
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/ethnicgroupdetailed

For example Asian, African
includes Chinese,

Pakistani and Indian etc Carbbeanior Black

RELIGION & See note

BELIEF**

A list of religions used in
the census is available

here
SEX (GENDER) Men
Women
Trans Men
Trans Women
SEXUAL Heterosexual
ORIENTATION
Lesbian
Gay

Bisexual/Pansexual
Other considerations

Socio-economic

factors

(income, education,
employment, community
safety & social support)

Rurality

i.e. access to services;
transport; education;
employment; broadband
Other (e.g. caring
responsibilities)

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.
Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

/¢ abed

7|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

* To keep the form concise, race has not been included as an exhaustive list, please augment the list above where appropriate to reflect the complexity of other racial identities.

** There are too many faith groups to provide a list, therefore, please input the faith group e.g. Muslims, Buddhists, Jews, Christians, Hindus, etc. Consider the different faith groups
individually when considering positive or negative impacts. A list of religions in the census is available here

gz abed

8|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Page 29
4. Outcomes, Action and Public Reporting

a. Please list the actions identified through the evidence and the mitigating action to be taken.

Action Target completion Lead Officer
date

b. Public reporting

All completed EqlA’s are required to be publicly available on the Council’s website once they
have been signed off. EqlA’s are also published with the papers for committee and full council
decisions.

Please send completed EqlA’s to [email address]

5. Monitoring outcomes, evaluation and review

The Equalities Impact Assessment is not an end in itself but the start of a continuous monitoring
and review process. The relevant Service or Lead Officer responsible for the delivery of the
policy, function or service change is also responsible for monitoring and reviewing the EqlA and
any actions that may be taken to mitigate impacts.

Individual services are responsible for conducting the impact assessment for their area, staff from
Corporate Policy and Governance will be available to provide support and guidance, please
email xxxx if you have any questions.

6. Change log

Name Date Version Change

9|Page



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Recharge Policy

Version control
Document name: Recharge Policy
Version: 2.0
Responsible officer
e Talia Izzard, Housing Services Manager
Approved by:
Next review date: September 2028

Retention period: 1 year after policy update

Revision history

Revision date Version Description
September 2025 1 New policy
November 2025 2 Amendments made to mitigating

circumstances and inclusion of
section on damage caused by the
Council following feedback from
Tenant Panel.

Consultees
Internal

e Housing Services division
External

e Tenant consultation
¢ Housing Committee consultation

Distribution

Employees within the Housing Services division. Council website.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 1 of 7



Page 32

CHELTENHAM
Contents BOROUGH COUNCIL
1. Introduction and purpose of the POLICY...........uuuuiuiiiiiii i 2
2. Aims and sCOPE OFf the POLICY .....vvuuiiiii e 3
3. Legislation and gUIANCE .........cooo oo 3
4. ldentification Of FECNAIGES........ouii e 3
4.1 Rechargeable FEPAIrsS ......c..uuii ittt e e e e e e e e ara e e e eeenes 4
Y Lo 1o I =Yl 1 F= T o 1= T PRSP 4
4.3 Out Of NOUIS Call OULS........uuiiiiiiiiiiiee e 5
4.4 Damage caused by the COUNCIL.........cooiiiiiii i 5
5. MUUAI EXCRANGES ... .ot e e e e aaae 5
6. Mitigating CIFCUMSIANCES.........oeie e e e e eenes 6
7. Recharges raised against an estate...............cooii i 6
LS T D 11T o1 | =T PPN 6
9. Calculation and payment of reCharges...........cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 6
9.1 Debt PrioritiSatioN........cooiii e a e 7
9.2 UNPAIA FECNAIGES ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 7
1L TR I = T T P 7
T REVIBW ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e 7

1. Introduction and purpose of the policy

Cheltenham Borough Council (‘the Council’) is committed to ensuring that all its properties
are high quality, safe and well-maintained. Whilst the Council acknowledges that most of
its tenants will maintain their homes to a good standard, instances of wilful damage and
neglect do sometimes occur, and the cost of such repairs will be considered rechargeable.
The costs recovered from these recharges will be reinvested back into the Council’s
housing service to help provide long lasting homes for its tenants.

This policy outlines how the Council will identify, determine and recover the cost of repairs
that are not covered by the right to repair clause in the tenancy agreement. Repairs will be
deemed rechargeable when:

» The repair is the responsibility of the tenant

= Damage to a property belonging to the Council is not attributed to wear and tear and is
instead deemed to be wilful, or caused by neglect, misuse or abuse by the tenant, their
family or visitors to the property

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 2 of 7



Page 33

» The repair is required when moving out of a property to bring it

to an acceptable standard CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

2. Aims and scope of the policy

This policy will ensure the charging and collection of rechargeable repairs is undertaken in
a fair, effective and transparent manner, with any recovered expenditure being reinvested
back into the housing service.

To achieve this, this policy will:

» Provide clear guidelines on what repairs the Council will recharge for, and under what
circumstances recharges will apply

= Explain how recharges are calculated, raised and collected — including the actions to
be taken if a recharge is not paid

= Ensure that existing housing stock is maintained and preserved to acceptable
standards through the reinvestment of recharge costs

This policy applies to existing and former tenants of the Council.

3. Legislation and guidance

The Council’s tenancy agreement forms the basis for this policy. Upon signing, the tenant
takes responsibility for any damage caused by themselves, any member of their
household or any visitor to the property and agrees to pay any costs reasonably inccured
by the Council in carrying out the repair works. Furthermore, it is noted in the tenancy
agreement that any property alterations carried out without consent and approval from the
Council will be recharged in instances where remedial work is required.

4. Identification of recharges

Rechargeable works are most commonly identified and categorised in two main ways:

1. Through a customer reporting a repair, or one of the Council’s repairs operatives or
contractors attending the property. Assessment of the type of repair needed, the
cause of the damage and the circumstances surrounding the repair will help the
Council determine whether the repair is rechargeable or not. Repairs of this nature
are referred to as rechargeable repairs.

2. At a pre-termination visit or void inspection. These visits are undertaken by the
Council’s repairs operatives either prior to a tenancy terminating, or immediately
after a termination. The Council’s repairs operatives will identify whether any
remedial works are required to the property to bring it up to a suitable standard to
re-let. These repairs are rechargeable, are referred to as void recharges and are
the responsibility of the former tenant.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 3 of 7



Page 34

On occasion a recharge may be identified through a third party

attending the property, such as the Police or Social Services. This CHELTENHAM
would be reported into the Council who would then follow this DIRPEGE CRRRGL
policy to raise and issue the repair/invoice.

4.1 Rechargeable repairs

When the Council is made aware of a necessary property repair, whether directly through
a tenant, or via a repairs operative or contractor, they aim to determine at the earliest
opportunity whether this repair is the responsibility of the tenant and therefore
rechargeable, and if so the costings of this. This will then be relayed to the tenant before
any repair work commences.

The Council is responsible for maintainence and repair work to the structure, fixtures and
fittings of their properties. However, any wilful, accidental or negligent damage will be
recharged. For example, lock changes, replacing smashed glass and replacing a toilet
seat. In addition, any alterations made to the property by the tenant that have not been
pre-approved by the Council are also deemed rechargeable. Examples of such alterations
are outlined in the tenancy agreement and include things such as fitting a shower,
installing a new kitchen or bathroom, removing walls and making changes to fixtures and
fittings e.g. taps. There are further examples of which repairs are the tenant’s responsibility
and which are the Council’s in the Tenant Handbook.

All tenants have the option to carry out repairs that are their responsibility themselves,
however if this work is not done to an acceptable standard then the Council will undertake
remedial works and this will be recharged to the tenant.

Photographs should be taken of the repair work required and used as supporting evidence
for any recharges.

4.2 Void recharges

When a tenant vacates their property, any repair work required to return the property to an
acceptable and appropriate standard will also be recharged — these are specifically
referred to as ‘void recharges.’

Prior to tenancy termination, a tenant can arrange for a representative of the Council to
undertake a pre-termination inspection. The aim of this inspection is to identify any aspects
of disrepair which would be the tenant’s responsibility, and therefore rechargeable if not
rectified before the end of the tenancy. This provides the tenant with an opportunity to
remedy the damage/defects prior to the end of their tenancy and avoid recharges —
however, if they do not do so, then void recharges will be issued following the end of their
tenancy. All properties are void inspected (post termination when the property is empty) so
even those where a pre-termination inspection has not taken place will be assessed for
rechargeable repairs at the end of the tenancy period.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 4 of 7



Page 35

Common void recharges include:

CHELTENHAM

= Repairs due to deliberate damage or neglect to the external and BOROUGH COUNCIL
internal fabric of the building, including walls and fences (e.g.
damage to internal doors, kitchen units or glass)

» Inappropriate use of fixtures and fittings

» Repairs due to unauthorised/unsafe tenant improvements

= Lock changes due to keys not being returned upon tenancy termination

= Clearance of rubbish from properties and gardens

= Removal of sheds/outhouses/other structures not approved by, or provided by the
Council

4.3 Out of hours call outs

Repairs can be reported to the Council through their contact centre, which is open Monday
to Friday 9am to 5pm. Should a tenant have an emergency repair outside of these hours,
this can be reported through the Council’s out of hours service. This service is however for
emergency repairs only and as such the cost of the call out can be recharged to the tenant
if it is deemed upon arrival that the repair is not an emergency and/or the tenant is
misusing the service.

4.4 Damage caused by the Council

There may be rare occasions whereby damage to a property is caused inadvertently by
the Council, most likely in cases of an emergency. In these instances, whether there is a
recharge or not would be dependent upon the circumstances preceding the damage and
therefore each case would be assessed on its own merit.

For example, if the Council needed to force entry into a property due to safeguarding or
welfare concerns then it is very likely that there would be no recharge after the case has
been assessed, however if the Council needed to force entry to fix a leak as there had
been no successful communication with the tenant, and the leak was entering the property
below, then it is more than likely that there would be a recharge for gaining entry alongside
the necessary repairs to fix the leak. In both instances before determining a recharge the
case would be fully investigated, including a review of previous repair history.

5. Mutual exchanges

Prior to a mutual exchange taking place, both properties will be inspected by the Council.
Any rechargeable repairs that are identified must be completed and paid for before final
authorisation will be given for the mutual exchange to go ahead.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 5 of 7



Page 36

6. Mitigating circumstances CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Council acknowledges that there may be circumstances under

which it is not appropriate to recharge for a repair after additional information has been
obtained from the tenant or third party. Some examples are listed below:

» Repairs caused as a result of a crime, for example burglary, will not be recharged for
providing the crime has been reported to the Police, a Police incident number has been
obtained and provided to the Council and there is a satisfactory history of repairs at the
property

» Repairs to damage caused as a result of domestic abuse

» Repairs where a tenant’s mental or physical health, or age may have been a
contributing factor to needing the repair, or where these factors inhibit them from
carrying out repair work themselves

As such, each case will be investigated on an individual basis, previous repair history will
be reviewed and discretion may be utilised to waive the recharge in part or full if deemed
appropriate. Any balance that is waived will be written off following authorisation from the
Council’'s Housing Services Manager and/or Head of Housing Services.

7. Recharges raised against an estate

There may be occasions where a recharge arises following a tenant passing away. In this
instance, the invoice will be raised and issued to the next of kin. The next of kin will be
asked to make payment to clear the recharge from the estate, or to advise the Council in
writing if there are no such funds to do so to initiate the recharge being written off.

8. Disputes

Both current and former tenants have the right to dispute a rechargeable repair or void
recharge. The Council’'s Income team will thoroughly investigate any disputes, including
any evidence provided by the tenant to support their dispute. If a decision is made in
favour of the tenant then the recharge can be waived in part or full, and the appropriate
balance will be written off by the Council. If a decision is made that the recharge stands
the tenant will be asked to clear the outstanding balance in full, or to make a suitable
repayment plan. Should a tenant not be happy with the outcome of their dispute then they
have the right to utitlise the Council’s complaint process.

9. Calculation and payment of recharges

The Council uses the National Schedule of Rates (version 8), which is a recognised
standard within the industry, to determine rechargeable repair costs. This ensures a fair
and consistent process based on pre-determined pricing.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 6 of 7



Page 37

When a repair is identified as being rechargeable, the tenant will be

notified of this immediately and where possible, an expected CHELTENHAM
recharge amount will be given. Upon completion of a rechargeable BORQEEE QR
repair an invoice will be raised by the Council and posted to the tenant. The invoice will set

out that payment is required in full within 14 working days otherwise contact should be

made with the Council’s Income Team to secure an appropriate payment arrangement.

Details of how to pay by bank are provided on the invoice.

9.1 Debt prioritisation

In instances where a tenant has other priority debts owing to the Council i.e. rent, court
costs and former tenancy arrears, collection of recharges will come second to these unless
payment to recharges is explicitly requested by the tenant, or a specific arrangement has
been made.

9.2 Unpaid recharges

All outstanding rechargeable repair and void recharge costs, including those with secure
payment arrangements in place, will be monitored by the Council’s Income team to ensure
the outstanding costs are cleared as quickly as possible. If a recharge remains unpaid
after the invoice is issued, or if a payment arrangement is broken, then the Council’s
Income team will pursue recovery through the steps outlined in the Council’s
Rechargeable Repairs Procedure. This will include legal methods of enforcement where
appropriate.

If a tenant has any outstanding unpaid rechargeable repairs then the Council may make
the decision not to undertake any further non-emergency repairs at the property until the
outstanding debt has been paid. Emergency and external repairs will still take place.

10. Tracing

If a former tenant has outstanding recharges and a forwarding address is not known, the
Council’'s Income Team will try two tracing attempts. If both tracing attempts are
unsuccessful and no forwarding information can be obtained then the outstanding debt
should be recommended for write off.

11. Review

This policy will be reviewed every three years, unless legislative or regulatory changes
require an earlier review.

Recharge Policy v.2 Page 7 of 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Recharge Policy — Tenant Summary

What is this document about?
This summary explains which repairs Cheltenham Borough Council (the Council) will

recharge you for, how you can pay and what to do if you do not agree with the charge.

What is this policy about?
Sometimes tenants cause damage to their homes. If the damage is not normal wear and

tear, the Council may ask the tenant to pay for the repairs. This is called a recharge.

When might you have to pay?
= You or someone in your home damages the property
= You make changes to your home without asking the Council first
= You leave the property in poor condition when you move out
* You call the emergency repair service when it's not a real emergency

Examples of things you might pay for:
= Broken doors, windows or toilet seats
= Lost keys or lock changes
= Rubbish left in the home or garden
= Unsafe DIY work (for example fitting a shower or removing walls)

What if you’re moving out?
Before you leave, the Council can check your home. If repairs are needed and you do not
fix them to a good standard, you may be charged.

Special cases (you might not have to pay):
» |f the damage was caused by a crime (like burglary) and you report it to the Police
» |f the damage was caused by domestic abuse
= If your health or age makes it hard for you to do repairs yourself

How do you pay?
The Council will send you a bill. You should pay within 14 days or contact the Income
Team to make a payment plan.

Recharge Policy Summary v.1 Page 1 of 2



Page 40

What if you do not agree with the charge? CHELTENHAM
You can tell the Council. They will look at your case and decide if RO CROLNCIL

the charge is fair. If they decide it is not, they may cancel it.

Who can you contact if you need help or more information?

If you need further information or any support please contact the Council’s Income Team:
= Telephone — 0800 408 0000

» Email — incometeam@cheltenham.gov.uk
= Website — Cheltenham.gov.uk

Recharge Policy Summary v.1 Page 2 of 2


mailto:incometeam@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 41
Equality Impact Assessment

Introduction

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is a method for assessing the effects or impacts of a
council policy or function on removing barriers to equality.

The Equality Act 2010 includes a public sector equality duty which requires public authorities to
try and eliminate discrimination; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it and promote equality and good
relations across a range of protected characteristics.

The protected characteristics are:

Age Disability Gender Reassignment

Marriage and civil
partnership

Religion or belief
(including lack of belief)

Pregnancy and maternity = Race

Sex Sexual orientation

An EqlA should be completed with the full range of protected characteristics considered during
the initial stages of developing new strategies, policies, functions or services, prior to starting a
procurement exercise and before decisions are made.

Examples of when an EqlA should be completed are:

¢ Any proposals to introduce or add to a ¢ Any proposals to adopt policy priorities,
service strategies and plans

Changes to staffing structure where
groups of employees are likely to be
negatives affected

Any proposals in relation to procured or
commissioned services

e Any proposals to remove, reduce or alter
a service

¢ Any new policies or changes to policies

Stage 1 - Equality Screening

Whenever a policy/service or function is reviewed, changed, developed or removed an initial
equality impact assessment stage 1 will need to be undertaken. This is a screening template and
will help establish whether a full assessment is needed. This should be done at an early stage of
the process so that it is part of policy development.

Stage 2 — Equality Impact Assessment

This is the full EqIA and seeks to identify the equality considerations that have bene taken into
account including any mitigating actions proposed and ensures decisions are based on evidence.
The EqlA will need to be agreed with the appropriate Head of Service or Director and should be
included on the decision making report, along with commentary on the assessment in the main
body of the report.

l|Page



Page 42

STAGE 1 - Equality Screening

1. ldentify the policy, project, function or service change

a. Person responsible for this EqlA

Officer responsible: Talia 1zzard Service Area: Housing Services

Title: Housing Services Manager Date of assessment: 05/11/25
Signature: Jalia Jzzard

b. Is this a policy, function, strategy, service change or Policy
project?
If other, please specify:

c. Name of the policy, function, strategy, service change or project

Recharge Policy

Is this new or existing? New or proposed

Please specify reason for change or development of policy, function, strategy, service
change or project

The policy has been developed to outline how the Council will identify, determine and recover
the cost of repairs that are not covered by the right to repair clause in the tenancy agreement.

d. What are the aims, objectives and intended outcomes and who is likely to benefit

from it?

Aims:

Objectives:

Outcomes:

The aim of this policy is to ensure the charging and collection of rechargeable
repairs is undertaken in a fair, effective and transparent manner, with any
recovered expenditure being reinvested back into the housing service.

The policy will:
= Provide clear guidelines on what repairs the Council will recharge for,
and under what circumstances recharges will apply
= Explain how recharges are calculated, raised and collected — including
the actions to be taken if a recharge is not paid

1. Tenants will be informed as to what repairs are the responsibility of the
Council, what repairs are their responsibility and as such are rechargeable,
and what mitigating circumstances may result in charges being waived.

2. Employees of the Council will be able to utilise the policy to identify when a

repair should be recharged and under what circumstances a recharge may
be waived.

2|Page



Page 43
3. The Council will be able to ensure that existing housing stock is maintained
and preserved to acceptable standards through the reinvestment of
recharge costs.

1. This policy should offer assurance to tenants that the Council is committed
to ensuring all its properties are high quality, safe and well-maintained and
as such will recharge tenants who cause any wilful damage or neglect. The
costs recovered from these recharges will then be reinvested back into the

Benefits: Council’s housing service to help provide long lasting homes.

2. Employees of the Council can utilise this policy when determining whether
a repair is rechargeable to ensure fairness and transparency.

e. What are the expected impacts?

Are there any aspects, including how it is delivered Yes
or accessed, that could have an impact on the lives
of people, including employees and customers.
Unsure
Do you expect the impacts to be positive or
negative?

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

This policy acts as a standard to determine whether a repair is rechargeable or not, as well
as indicating what could be considered as mitigating circumstances. Some tenants may
view this to have a positive impact as it could be seen to improve the condition of the
Council’s housing stock through deterring people to cause wilful or neglectful damage, or to
make unauthorised adaptations whilst also recognising circumstances whereby damage
occurs through no fault of the tenant.However, for others it could be seen to have a
negative impact as there will be tenants who are recharged for damage they have caused,
and this could happen on numerous occasions if damage is repeated.

If your answer to question e identified potential positive or negative impacts, or you are
unsure about the impact, then you should carry out a Stage Two Equality Impact
Assessment.

f. Identify next steps as appropriate

Stage Two required Yes
Owner of Stage Two assessment Talia lzzard
Completion date for Stage Two assessment 05/11/25

Please forward this completed form to [add email address] and move on to Stage 2 if
required.

3|Page



Page 44
STAGE 2 - Full Equality Impact Assessment

2. Engagement and consultation

The best approach to find out if a policy etc, is likely to impact positively or negatively on equality
groups is to look at existing research, previous consultation recommendations, studies or consult
with representatives of those equality groups.

a. Research and evidence
List below any data, consultations (previous, relevant, or future planned), or any relevant
research, studies or analysis that you have considered to assess the policy, function,
strategy, service change or project for its relevance to equality.

b. Consultation

Has any consultation be conducted? e

Describe the consultation or engagement you have conducted or are intending to conduct.
Describe who was consulted, what the outcome of the activity was and how these results
have influenced the development of the strategy, policy, project, service change or budget
option.

If no consultation or engagement is planned, please explain why.

This policy has been reviewed by the Tenant Panel who were positive about the policy
and felt that it was clear, well-structured and easy to understand. Members of the panel
appreciated that the document clearly explained what a recharge is, when tenants might
be expected to pay and what steps could be taken if they disagree with a charge. The
Tenant Panel felt that the examples provided were helpful for residents and that the
inclusion of mitigating circumstances, including examples, shows a fair and considerate
approach to recharging.

The Tenant Panel did ask what happens if the Council itself causes damage to a

property, for example in cases of an emergency. In acknowledgement of this, an
additional section was created in the policy to outline this including examples.

4|Page



Page 45

3. Assessment

a. Assessment of impacts

For each characteristic, please indicate the type of impact (positive — contributes to promoting
equality or improving relations within an equality group, neutral — no impact, negative — could
disadvantage them).

Please use the description of impact box to explain how you justify the impact and include any
data and evidence that you have collected from surveys, performance data or complaints to
support your proposed changes

5|Page



Protected Specific Impact Description of impact Mitigating Action
Characteristic Characteristic

AGE Older people (60+)  Low negative Older people may be negatively Tenants have the right to
impacted by this policy as they could be dispute a rechargeable repair.
less able to carry out repairs themselves The Council’s Income team
and as such be recharged for them by will thoroughly investigate any
the Council. disputes, including mitigating

circumstances and previous
repair history to come to an
informed conclusion. Age will
be considered as a mitigating
factor where it may have
contributed to needing the
repair, or where age inhibits a
tenant from carrying out
repair work themselves. All
cases are investigated on an
individual basis and discretion
may be utilised to waive the
recharge in part or full if
deemed appropriate. The
policy outlines this in full.

o abed

Younger People (16- Neutral

25)
Children (0-16) Neutral
DISABILITY Physical disability Low negative Tenants with a physical disability may be Tenants have the right to
A definition of disability negatively impacted by this policy as dispute a rechargeable repair.
ST D By e their physical disability could be a The Council’s Income team
2010 is available here. . . . . . .
contributing factor in rechargeable will thoroughly investigate any
See also carer damage being caused and/or they could disputes, including mitigating
responsibilities under be less able to carry out repairs circumstances and previous
other considerations. themselves and as such be recharged repair history to come to an
for them by the Council. informed conclusion. Physical

disability will be considered
as a mitigating factor where it

6|Page


https://www.gov.uk/definition-of-disability-under-equality-act-2010

may have contributed to
needing the repair, or where a
physical disability inhibits a
tenant from carrying out
repair work themselves. All
cases are investigated on an
individual basis and discretion
may be utilised to waive the
recharge in part or full if
deemed appropriate. The
policy outlines this in full.

Sensory Impairment  Low negative Tenants with a sensory impairment may  Tenants have the right to

(sight, hearing) be negatively impacted by this policy as  dispute a rechargeable repair.
they could be less able to carry out The Council’s Income team
repairs themselves and as such be will thoroughly investigate any
recharged for them by the Council. disputes, including mitigating

circumstances and previous
repair history to come to an
informed conclusion. Sensory
impairment will be considered
as a mitigating factor where it
may have contributed to
needing the repair, or where
sensory impairment inhibits a
tenant from carrying out
repair work themselves. All
cases are investigated on an
individual basis and discretion
may be utilised to waive the
recharge in part or full if
deemed appropriate. The
policy outlines this in full.

/v abed

Mental health Low negative Tenants with mental health may be Tenants have the right to
negatively impacted by this policy as dispute a rechargeable repair.
their mental health could be a The Council’s Income team
contributing factor in rechargeable will thoroughly investigate any

7|Page



damage being caused and/or they could disputes, including mitigating

be less able to carry out repairs circumstances and previous
themselves and as such be recharged repair history to come to an
for them by the Council. informed conclusion. Mental

health will be considered as a
mitigating factor where it may
have contributed to needing
the repair, or where mental
health inhibits a tenant from
carrying out repair work
themselves. All cases are
investigated on an individual
basis and discretion may be
utilised to waive the recharge
in part or full if deemed
appropriate. The policy

outlines this in full. o

Learning Disability Low negative Tenants with a learning disability may be Tenants have the right to g

negatively impacted by this policy as dispute a rechargeable repair. [0}

their learning disability could be a The Council’s Income team S

contributing factor in rechargeable will thoroughly investigate any o

damage being caused and/or they could disputes, including mitigating

be less able to carry out repairs circumstances and previous

themselves and as such be recharged repair history to come to an

for them by the Council. informed conclusion.

Learning disabilities will be
considered as a mitigating
factor where it may have
contributed to needing the
repair, or where a learning
disability inhibits a tenant
from carrying out repair work
themselves. All cases are
investigated on an individual
basis and discretion may be
utilised to waive the recharge

8|Page



GENDER
REASSIGNMENT

MARRIAGE & CIVIL

PARTNERSHIP

PREGNANCY &
MATERNITY

RACE*

Further information on the
breakdown below each of

these headings, is
available here.

For example Asian,
includes Chinese,

Pakistani and Indian etc

RELIGION &
BELIEF**

A list of religions used in

the census is available
here

SEX (GENDER)

Women

Men

Lesbians

Gay Men
Women

White

Mixed or multiple
ethnic groups
Asian

African

Caribbean or Black

See note

Men

Women

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

in part or full if deemed
appropriate. The policy

outlines this in full.

61 obed

9|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/ethnicgroupdetailed
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Trans Men

Trans Women

SEXUAL Heterosexual
ORIENTATION

Lesbian

Gay

Bisexual/Pansexual
Other considerations

Socio-economic

factors

(income, education,
employment, community
safety & social support)

Rurality

i.e. access to services;
transport; education;
employment; broadband
Other (e.g. caring
responsibilities)

Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Negative Tenants on a low income could be If a tenant is recharged but
negatively impacted by this policy due to does not have the financial
being recharged for any wilful or means to pay the outstanding
neglectful damage. balance in full then a payment
arrangement can be made.
The policy outlines this in full. U
Neutral 8
@
a1
o
Neutral

* To keep the form concise, race has not been included as an exhaustive list, please augment the list above where appropriate to reflect the complexity of other racial identities.

** There are too many faith groups to provide a list, therefore, please input the faith group e.g. Muslims, Buddhists, Jews, Christians, Hindus, etc. Consider the different faith groups
individually when considering positive or negative impacts. A list of religions in the census is available here

10| Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Page 51
4. Outcomes, Action and Public Reporting

a. Please list the actions identified through the evidence and the mitigating action to be taken.

Action Target completion Lead Officer
date

b. Public reporting

All completed EqlA’s are required to be publicly available on the Council’s website once they
have been signed off. EqlA’s are also published with the papers for committee and full council
decisions.

Please send completed EqlA’s to [email address]

5. Monitoring outcomes, evaluation and review

The Equalities Impact Assessment is not an end in itself but the start of a continuous monitoring
and review process. The relevant Service or Lead Officer responsible for the delivery of the
policy, function or service change is also responsible for monitoring and reviewing the EqlA and
any actions that may be taken to mitigate impacts.

Individual services are responsible for conducting the impact assessment for their area, staff from
Corporate Policy and Governance will be available to provide support and guidance, please
email xxxx if you have any questions.

6. Change log

Name Date Version Change

This EqlA should be reviewed on an annual basis. Next review due November 2026.

11| Page



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Empty Homes (Voids) Policy

Version control

Document name: Cheltenham Borough Council Empty Homes (Voids) Policy
Version: 1.0

Responsible officer

e Matt Ward, Head of Housing Services
e John Clements, Operations Manager Responsive Repairs

Approved by: Cabinet
Next review date: October 2028

Retention period: 6 month after replacement of policy

Revision history

Revision date Version Description
October 2025 1 New Policy
Consultees
Internal

e Tenancy Management

e Empty Homes Teams

¢ Responsive Repairs

e Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services

External

e Tenants via the Tenant Panel

Distribution
Website

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 1 of 14



Page 54

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGIT COUNCIL

Contents
1. PUrpose Of the POLICY ......ooveiiii it e e e e e e e e eeaaees 3
A ot o = o) 1 1= o Lo ] o V2SSO 3
3. ODbjJectives Of the POLICY .....uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 3
N I T {01 1T 3
TV o (o [ 071 =To [o] [T S 4
6. V0id Management PrOCESS ..........uuuuuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb 4
6.1 TenanCy TermMiNatioN ........... ... i 4
6.2  Pre-Termination ViSitS ........oiiii i 4
6.3  Post-Termination INSPEeCHION .........ooeviiiiiii e 5
6.4  Termination following the death of the tenant................cccoos 5
6.5 Evictions and Abandonments ...........oeeeiiiii i 6
B.6  RECNAIGES ... 6
6.7  Letting @ VOId PrOPEITY ....ccoveiiieeeei e 7
6.8  Viewings and Offers ........ouuiiiiiii e 7
6.9  Creating NEW tENANCIES .......oii i 7
6.10  WOrks to VOId ProPertieS ......cccveiieie it e e 8
6.11  ULIIIHIES @NA SEIVICES ..o e e e e e 8
T 2 |V F- o Yo (o £ PR 9
6.13 Temporary Furnished Accommodation (TFA)........ccoiiiiiiiiiieeee e 9
6.14 Hard to LEt Properti€s ........oo oo eanaas 9
6.15 Adapted Properties. ... 10
7. Performance MONIOING .......ooouiuiiiiiii et e e e e e 10
8. Governance and REVIEW ...........uuuiiiiiii e e e e e e 11
9. Equality and ACCESSIDIlITY .........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 11
Appendix 1: Lettable Standard............oooouiiiiii e 11
Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 2 of

14



1.1

1.2

4.

Page 55

Purpose of the policy CHELTENHAM

This policy sets out Cheltenham Borough Council’s BOROUGH COUNCIL
approach to managing empty homes (void properties).

The purpose of the policy is to:

a) Set out the principles and service standards of void management to ensure
efficient turnaround and minimise rental loss;

b) help to meet housing need by maximizing the availability of our housing stock;
and

c) make best use of housing stock with special characteristics and assist
downsizers

Scope of the policy

This policy applies to all council-owned housing stock managed directly by
Cheltenham Borough Council and includes:

a) tenancy termination

b) Inspections

c) Viewings and offers

d) Work to void properties

e) Creating tenancies

f) Management of long-term voids

Objectives of the policy

The objectives of this policy are:

¢ Minimise the time properties remain void.

e Ensure properties meet the “Fit to Rent” standards before re-letting.

e Reduce financial loss from empty properties.

e Improve customer satisfaction and housing availability.

e Support strategic housing goals including homelessness prevention and
affordable housing delivery.

Definitions

Void Property: A dwelling that is unoccupied and not generating rental income.

Major Void: A property that requires significant repairs or refurbishment prior to re-letting.
This typically includes at least one major component replacement—such as a new kitchen,
bathroom, or extensive plastering works. In most cases, these works can be capitalised
within the financial budgets.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 3 of 14



Page 56

Minor Void: A property that requires only minimal repairs or
preparation before being ready to re-let. These works are generally CHELTENHAM

low-cost and do not involve major component replacement.

5.

6.1
6.1.1

6.1.2

6.1.3

6.2
6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Void Categories

Routine Voids: Arising from natural tenancy turnover.

Decant Voids: Required for regeneration, redevelopment or disrepair.
Hard-to-Let Voids: Properties with low demand due to location, size, or condition.
Temporary Furnished Accommodation voids - properties set aside for temporarily
housing homeless households.

Void Management Process

Tenancy Termination

Full details about ending a tenancy can be found in the Tenancy Agreement,
including the requirement for a tenant to provide 4 weeks written notice. Tenants
who are transferring to another social tenancy (either council or another Registered
Provider) may be permitted to give a reduced notice period. All decisions in this
respect will need to be agreed with the council in advance.

Where the outgoing tenant has given notice and fails to leave the property after the
end of the notice period legal action may be taken to remove them from the
property.

The council will, wherever possible, inspect properties becoming vacant, both prior
to and following the termination of a tenancy.

Pre-Termination Visits

The purpose of pre-termination inspections is to ensure that the outgoing tenant
clearly understands which repairs are their responsibility. During the inspection,
they will be advised of the approximate cost of CBC carrying out these repairs,
which will be recharged to them if they choose not to complete the work
themselves.

In addition, the inspection allows CBC to identify any garden, shed or parking space
that is being used by the tenant and any work that may need to be scheduled in
advance of the keys being returned. This enables early engagement with our
contractors, helping to minimise both the cost and duration of the void period for
CBC.

Once written notice ending the tenancy has been received, a pre-termination visit
will be undertaken as soon as practicable. This visit will determine the condition of
the property and highlight any repairs that the tenant will be required to undertake
before leaving the property and where applicable, explain that the council reserves
the right to recharge the outgoing tenant for any damages to the property caused by
the willful neglect or arising out of unauthorised alterations to the property.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 4 of 14



6.2.4

6.2.5

6.3
6.3.1

6.3.2

6.4
6.4.1

6.4.2

Page 57

At this stage if the tenant has undertaken their own

improvements, where permission has not been authorised, CHELTENHAM
or where permission required reinstatement, the inspecting FOROUSHCOUNCIL
officer will look for damage to the property. If the outgoing tenant is advised that

they need to remove the improvement works, they are liable for all costs associated

with returning the property to the original state.

If the tenant is on the housing register and is transferring to another council property
a pretransfer visit will be carried out. If the works are not completed during this visit
the council may withdraw alternative offers of accommodation or they may be
charged for the works to be undertaken on their behalf.

Post-Termination Inspection

A post-termination inspection will be undertaken on all void properties within 2
working days of the property becoming void.

The purpose of this inspection will be to:

a) Ensure the property is empty, and to remove any items that pose a risk to the
health and safety of prospective tenant(s) or contractors.

b) Determine whether prospective tenants can be allowed to view the property.
c) Ensure the property is secure and change the front and back door locks.

d) Identify any outstanding disrepair which may be the responsibility of the
previous tenant.

e) Arrange for electrical appliances and installations to be checked.

f) Identify if the property requires a pre-clean or other works before the
prospective tenants can view.

9) Identify works and repairs to comply with the council’s Lettable Standard.

h) Apply a risk-based approach to determining the appropriate level of security
(if required).

Termination following the death of the tenant

Where the tenant dies, the tenancy still needs to be terminated by the giving of 4
weeks written notice. The council may, however, agree to accept a shorter notice
period.

In the instances where the tenancy has been ended due to the death of the sole
tenant the person who has been properly authorised to deal with the late tenant’s
estate is responsible for the removal of all goods from the property. Where there is
no person properly authorised to deal with the deceased tenant’s estate, then the
council will commence the formal legal process to end the tenancy by the service of
a Notice to Quit on the Public Trustee. Once this Notice has expired, any goods

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 5 of 14



Page 58

remaining in the property will be disposed of following the

procedure set out in Section 41 of the Local Government CHELTENHAM
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 which is discussed FOROUSHCOUNCIL
below in this policy.

6.4.3 The property will still be subject to a pre and post termination visit. If damage to the
property has occurred owing to the wilful neglect of the deceased tenant or the
carrying out of unauthorised alterations by the deceased tenant, then the council
may consider pursuing the estate for the costs of making good any damages
caused by the deceased tenant during the tenancy.

6.5 Evictions and Abandonments

6.5.1 The outgoing tenant is responsible for removing all personal possessions from the
property by the end of the written notice period. However, there may be some
instances where the tenant fails to give notice (either because of eviction or
abandonment) and belongings are left in the property or where notice has been
given but belongings are still left within the property. Once the notice period has
expired and the tenant has left the property, the council accepts no responsibility for
any items left within the property or the land forming part of the tenancy. In such
circumstances the council reserves the right to issue a formal Notice in accordance
with section 41 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
advising there are personal belongings within the property and that upon expiry of
the notice any belongings remaining will become the property of the council and will
be dealt with in accordance with section 41.

6.6 Recharges

6.6.1 The council will recharge the tenant the cost of repairing any damage or
unathorised alteration to the property.

6.6.2 If the outgoing tenant does not comply with their tenancy obligations to vacate the
property and leave it in a satisfactory condition with vacant possession and/or if the
outgoing tenant fails to return all keys and fobs the council will charge the outgoing
tenant for the cost of deep cleaning the property, and/or any costs in removing left
items at the property and/or the cost of any replacement keys.

6.6.3 At the end of the tenancy, the council reserves the right to recover from the
outgoing tenant any compensatory damages that have occurred during the period
of the tenancy because of the tenant being in breach of the tenancy agreement.

6.6.4 The council will make every reasonable effort to contact the outgoing tenant to
inform them of any outstanding items for which they may be liable to offer the tenant
the opportunity to settle the matter and thereby avoiding the need for formal legal
proceedings via the civil courts. The amount claimed by way of compensatory
damages will be raised by way of a recharge notification to the outgoing tenant. Any
recharge notifications will be noted on the debtors’ system and may affect any
future application for re-housing if they are not cleared.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 6 of 14



6.6.5

6.7
6.7.1

6.7.2

6.8
6.8.1

6.8.2

6.9
6.9.1

6.9.2

6.9.3

6.9.4

Page 59

Further information on recharges can be found in our

rechargeable repairs policy. CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Letting a void property

The council aims to ensure that allocations are made giving full consideration of the
customer needs, the property and any issues in the local area.

To ensure that void rent loss is kept to a minimum, the process of selecting a new
tenant for a property will begin when the council is made aware that the property will
be available for re-letting. Prospective tenants will be selected in accordance with
the council’s relevant policies and advertised via Homeseeker Plus.

Viewings and Offers

Once a suitable applicant has been identified they may be invited to attend a
viewing at the property. In exceptional circumstances where adaptations are
needed, a viewing for a prospective tenant will be undertaken prior to the outgoing
tenant leaving the property to minimise any delay in allocating the property.

Lettings Officers will inform the applicants when the void property can be viewed.
This may be before, after or during void works depending on health and safety
considerations. Where disabled adaptations are required, the applicants and an OT
will visit the property before repair works commence and if the property is suitable,
the Disabled Adaptations Procedure will be followed.

Creating new tenancies

As soon as all essential repairs are completed satisfactorily, the prospective tenant
will be invited to sign the Tenancy Agreement. The terms of the Tenancy
Agreement will be explained to ensure that the tenant(s) is fully aware of the
landlord and tenant responsibilities, and the consequences if conditions are
breached.

The new tenant will also be provided with appropriate advice about:
a) Paying their rent.

b) Applying for benefits, if required.

c) Setting up utilities.

d) Reporting any repairs.

e) Health and Safety including fire and safety.

Tenants will be given the opportunity to provide feedback relating to the void
management and allocations process by completing a Tenant Satisfaction Survey.

Feedback and satisfaction will be monitored and reported in accordance with the
council’s performance management framework.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 7 of 14



Page 60

6.10 Works to void properties
CHELTENHAM

6.10.1 All properties will meet the lettable standard, as shown in BOROUGH COUNCIL
Appendix 1. Prior to any works being undertaken the council
will ensure that there is an up-to-date asbestos survey for the property.

6.10.2 Tenants/prospective tenants will not be given access to the property for any reason
once void work has begun, due to health and safety reasons unless it is authorised
by the contractor, voids supervisor or Operations Manager for Responsive Repairs.

6.10.3 In some instances, works to the property may be undertaken after the tenant has
signed up, specifically where the works can be completed without significant
disruption for the tenant, the works will not pose a significant health and safety risk
to the tenant or member of their household and the tenant agrees to the works
being undertaken on tenancy. External works on the property will, in the main, be
undertaken after the new tenancy has started.

6.10.4 The council may also delay the completion of some works if the property is known
to be included on a planned programme in the next 6 months.

6.10.5 Internal decorating may be undertaken by the council in exceptional circumstances.
Exceptional circumstances may include a tenant moving into the property that is
elderly or vulnerable and/or the property being in a particularly poor state of
decoration. The council may offer decorating vouchers to assist with the cost of
redecoration.

6.10.6 Some adaptations may be completed before the tenancy commences, but these will
be dependent on the individual needs, must be specified in an Occupational
Therapist report and be in accordance with the Disabled Facilities Grant
procedures.

6.11 Utilities and services

6.11.1 All properties will be inspected and be issued with both electrical and gas safety
certification ensuring that the property is compliant with the current gas and
electrical regulations. All properties will have a valid Energy Performance Certificate
(EPC) in place prior to the letting with a minimum rating of between A to E to mirror
the council’s commitment to sustainability and compliance with minimum energy
efficiency standards (MEES).

6.11.2 When a property has become void the council will cap the gas supply to reduce any
health and safety risks. Wherever possible the supplies will also be transferred to a
preferred supplier to reduce any delays in managing the void process.

6.11.3 During the health and safety checks the electric and gas meters at the property will
be checked. Any evidence of tampering will be recorded. Tampering with meters is
a criminal offence and the council will provide tenancy details to utilities companies
and the Police if there is evidence that a meter has been damaged.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 8 of 14



Page 61

6.11.4 The gas supply will not be uncapped until the tenant
confirms that they have moved into the property, to ensure CHELTENHAM
that any risks of gas build up are minimised. The council FOROUSHCOUNCIL
aims to ensure that the gas is uncapped as soon as possible following the request
of the customer. When the gas is uncapped the tenant will also be provided with the
annual Gas Safety Certificate.

6.11.4 The council will ensure the water supply/system within each property is maintained
in accordance with the Water Safety Policy.

6.11.5 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide alarms will be fully tested and installed where
required in line with the council’s Fire Safety Policy.

6.12 Major voids

6.12.1 Where a void property requires major works, and therefore a high level of
investment is needed to bring it up to an appropriate standard, then an options
appraisal may be undertaken to assess whether the works should be completed, or
if the property should be taken out of use. Consideration will be given to:

a) Level of rent loss if the property is not tenanted and the impact on the
Housing Revenue Account

b) The level of demand for the property type and area
c) The overall cost of the works required.

6.12.2 If the assessment finds that the works are financially viable, they will be completed.
For properties where the assessment finds that it is not financially viable to
undertake the works and there is little demand for the property type and/or area the
property may be disposed of — either through sale or demolition

6.13 Temporary Furnished Accommodation (TFA)

6.13.1 These properties are held for the temporary housing of homeless households. They
contain flooring, curtains, and appliances and usually a full complement of beds,
sofas, tables and chairs to make them suitable for homeless households. The Void
Repairs Inspector will take note of the inventory before clearing the property so that
items belonging to CBC are not disposed of, unless they are damaged. All
damaged and missing items are notified to the Empty Homes Team Assistant so
that recharges for the prior tenants can be arranged. The Empty Homes Team will
arrange for the delivery of replacement items once the repair work is complete. The
Housing Options Team will be advised of the availability of TFA properties as and
when necessary.

6.14 Hard to Let Properties

6.14.1 The priority for the council is to ensure that all homes are let as soon as possible to
tenants who can sustain the tenancy. A property will be hard to let if it requires 3
offers or more to let it.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 9 of 14



Page 62

6.14.2 Additional action(s) may be taken when a hard to let
property is identified to attract a suitable tenant. A CHELTENHAM
combination of the following may be agreed and RO CROLNCIL
implemented:

a) Additional internal works beyond the needs of the customer, including
accessibility aids or adaptations

b) Internal decoration
c) Carpeting
d) Support for tenants moving in

6.15 Adapted Properties

6.15.1 Properties which are adapted when they become void will be let to a suitable
tenant, who requires the adaptations. Decisions to remove major adaptions from
properties will be made by a service manager based on all available information on
the demand for the property, subject to approval from the Director.

7. Performance Monitoring

7.1 The council is committed to ensuring that its repairs and maintenance services are
delivered to a high standard and provide high levels of customer satisfaction. To
help it do this, it will monitor and manage performance through a range of methods.

7.2  The council will measure and evaluate performance against a range of appropriate
and relevant performance indicators and will benchmark itself against other social
housing providers. All completed void properties will be cleaned and post inspected
to ensure quality of repair works and investigate complaints in relation to the
standard of work and will actively collect and analyse tenants’ views on the repairs
service provided, with feedback collected by staff acting independently of the
delivery of the service.

7.3  Performance in relation to the void management service will be monitored through
the Performance Framework. Key measures in relation to void management are:

a) Number of void properties — maximum of 5% of total stock

b) Average re-let time for a minor void - 15 days for works, 25 days key to key

c) Average re-let time for a major void - 8 weeks for works, 10 weeks key to
key

d) Amount of void loss — 1% or below

e) Average void costs.

7.4  Performance information and benchmarking data will be reported to the Cabinet
Housing Committee and to our tenants.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 10 of 14



Page 63

8. Governance and Review
CHELTENHAM

8.1  The policy will be reviewed periodically to ensure it is BOROUGH COUNCIL
consistent with changes in legislation and regulation. As
standard, the policy will be reviewed at three yearly intervals.

9. Equality and Accessibility

9.1  The council recognises that it provides housing for communities which include wide
social diversity and is committed to providing equal access to services.

9.2  This policy aims to treat all customers fairly, with respect and professionalism. In
line with the duty placed on the local authority under the Equalities Act 2010 specific
consideration of the impact of this policy has been given to people with protected
characteristics, including gender, race, age, disability, religion, sexual orientation
and marital status. The approach adopted within this policy focuses on
understanding individual circumstances in order to provide appropriate advice and
support; this includes understanding the needs of tenants who have protected
characteristics.

9.3 Consideration will therefore be given to language barriers, accessibility and cultural
issues which may affect a tenant’s ability to manage their tenancy or seek advice on
problems, and resolutions which take account of the individual’'s beliefs and
abilities.

9.4  The council will enable all tenants to have clear information and equal access to
available services and information in a range of appropriate languages and formats
will be provided when requested. This policy has been designed to be fully inclusive
regardless of the ethnicity, gender, sexuality, religious belief, or disability of service
users or residents.

Appendix 1: Lettable Standard

We want your new home to be of a good standard. Our service aim is to provide a property
which is safe, secure, habitable and clean in a timely and cost-effective manner. This
standard outlines what you can expect from your new home.

Security
We will make sure:

e Your doors open, close and lock freely with all handles fitted with new 5 lever locks
(front and back doors).

e You have 2 keys for the front door and 2 keys for the back door to the property.

e That all window fittings are in good working order and keys will be provided for
window locks where fitted.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 11 of 14



Page 64

You are given 2 entry fob keys to be issued where there is a

communal entrance door. CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Health and Safety

We will make sure:

There are working smoke alarms on each floor, either battery operated or hard
wired into the property.

That Gas and electricity installations have been tested and certified as safe.

If gas is present in the property, a carbon monoxide detector will also be installed.
That the water supply is working correctly.

That the property is free of rubbish, this includes the attic and any outbuildings.
The floors are in a safe and level condition ready for you to cover.

All stair treads, newel posts, handrails and bannisters are secure and free from
defects.

That all windows and doors meet current regulations.

Kitchen and bathroom

We will make sure:

There is a fully working supply of hot and cold water to the kitchen and bathroom
The kitchen and bathroom floors are fitted with a cleanable vinyl tile or vinyl sheet
floor covering. This will be free from stains, sealed with no rips or tears.
Splashbacks or tiles to worktops are in place and fully sealed.

That is either a gas or electric cooker point. (In properties where there is no gas
supply an electric cooker point will be provided).

Toilets are fully working, clean and free from staining with a new toilet seat fitted.
That there is a cold-water feed and waste pipe for connection of a washing
machine, space allowing.

A minimum of a functional bath and /or shower, wash hand basin and toilet in the
bathroom.

That all cupboards are secure, clean and fit for purpose along with worktops sink
and draining board.

That space allowing, minimum kitchen unit provision will be as follows:-

One bedroom properties and bedsits: One sink base unit, one double wall unit and one
double base unit.

Two bedroom properties: One sink base unit, one double wall unit, one double base unit,
one additional double base or double wall unit.

Three/ Four bedroom properties: One sink base unit, two double base units, two double
wall units

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 12 of 14



Page 65

General

CHELTENHAM

We will make sure that: BOROUGH COUNCIL

e Allinternal and external doors are in good working order.
e The inside of your home is cleaned to the following standard:
o Hard floor coverings to be swept and mopped;
o Light fittings and switches to be wiped clean;
o Kitchen units and sanitary fittings to be clean;
o Door frames and skirting to be clean.

e There is a minimum of one means of fixed space heating in the form of an electric
or gas heater or a radiator in the living room.

e That plasterwork is in good condition, noting that you may need to carry out some
minor preparatory work to hairline cracks and nail holes before you decorate.
Where a room is wallpapered and the wallpaper is intact the wallpaper will not be
stripped for inspection purposes. Where wallpaper in a room is damaged all walls in
that room will be stripped and any plasterwork repairs made good.

¢ Any non-standard items (such as a timber shed or fitted wardrobe) installed by the
previous occupant to be left in the property where they are found to be functional
and safe. We will ask you to sign a disclaimer stating that you understand you are
responsible for the repair and replacement of any such items.

Garden and communal areas

We will make sure that:

e Your garden, if there is one is safe and clear of rubbish, with no obvious trip
hazards.

e That fencing that consists of post and wire will be provided on all property
boundaries unless the boundary borders a public footpath, public highway or
garage site. Please refer to our fencing policy if you are unsure.

e That any brick external stores are in a wind and watertight condition.

Decoration Vouchers
You are responsible for the internal decoration of your new home

We may be able to help you with some of the cost if decorating is required. Your Letting
Officer will advise you of any help we can give you by issuing decorating vouchers which
you can use to buy your own materials.

Minor repairs after moving in

To avoid causing you unnecessary delays in moving into your new home, we may need to
carry out some minor repairs, such as replacement glazing after you have moved in.

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 13 of 14



Page 66

We will agree any work with you and confirm approximate

timescales for completing this work. CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Empty Homes (Voids) Policy v.1 Page 14 of 14



CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Your new héfle

The standard you can expect when you move
into your rented home

CBC service standards

Service statement

We want your new home to be of a good standard. Our service aim is to provide a
property which is safe, secure, habitable and clean in a timely and cost-effective
manner. This service standard outlines what you can expect from your new home.

Security Health and safety

We will make sure:
* Your doors open, close and lock freely
with all handles fitted with new five lever  There are working smoke alarms on each

Your safety is important to us we will make
sure:

locks (front and back doors)
You have two keys for the front door and
two keys for the back door to the
property
That all window fittings are in good
working order and keys will be provided
for window locks where fitted

* You are given two entry fobs where there
is a communal entrance door

Decoration vouchers

You are responsible for the internal
decoration of your new home

e We may be able to help you with some of

the cost if decorating is required. Your

lettings officer will advise you of any help

we can give you by issuing decorating
vouchers which you can use to buy your

own materials

floor, either battery operated or hard wired
into the property

That gas and electricity installations have
been tested and certified as safe

If gas is present in the property, a carbon
monoxide detector will also be installed
That the water supply is working correctly
That the property is free of rubbish, this
includes the attic and any outbuildings
The floors are in a safe and level condition
ready for you to cover

All stair treads, newel posts, handrails and
bannisters are secure and free from
defects

That all windows and doors meet current
regulations




Kitchen and bathroom Page 68

We will make sure:
There is a fully working supply of hot and cold water to the kitchen and bathroom
The kitchen and bathroom floors are fitted with a cleanable vinyl tile or vinyl sheet floor
covering. This will be free from stains, sealed with no rips or tears
Splashbacks or tiles to worktops are in place and fully sealed
That there is either a gas or electric cooker point (in properties where there is no gas supply
an electric cooker point will be provided)
Toilets are fully working, clean and free from staining with a new toilet seat fitted
That there is a cold water feed and waste pipe for connection of a washing machine, space
allowing
A minimum of a functional bath and /or shower, wash hand basin and toilet in the bathroom
That all cupboards are secure, clean and fit for purpose along with worktops sink and draining
board
That space allowing, minimum kitchen unit provision will be as follows:

One bedroom properties and bedsits:
¢ One sink base unit, one double wall unit and one double base unit
Two bedroom properties:
e One sink base unit, one double wall unit, one double base unit, one additional double base or
double wall unit
Three/ four bedroom properties:
* One sink base unit, two double base units, two double wall units

Garden and communal areas

We will make sure:
e Your garden, if there is one, is safe and

clear of rubbish, with no obvious trip
hazards
That fencing that consists of post and Minor repairs after moving in

vz vl lbe proviess o Al properly To avoid causing you unnecessary delays

boundaries unless the boundary in moving into your new home, we may
borders a public footpath, public need to carry out some minor repairs,

highway or garage site. Please refer to such as replacement glazing after you

our fencing policy if you are unsure have moved in.

That any brick external stores are in a : :
y We will agree any work with you and

confirm approximate timescales for
completing this work.

wind and watertight condition




General Page 69

We will make sure:
e All internal and external doors are in good working order

The inside of your home is cleaned to the following standard:

Hard floor coverings to be swept and mopped

Light fittings and switches to be wiped clean

Kitchen units and sanitary fittings to be clean

Door frames and skirting to be clean
There is a minimum of one means of fixed space heating in the form of an electric or gas
heater or a radiator in the living room
That plasterwork is in good condition, noting that you may need to carry out some minor
preparatory work to hairline cracks and nail holes before you decorate. Where a room is
wallpapered and the wallpaper is intact the wallpaper will not be stripped for inspection
purposes. Where wallpaper in a room is damaged all walls in that room will be stripped and
any plasterwork repairs made good
Any non-standard items (such as a timber shed or fitted wardrobe) installed by the previous
occupant to be left in the property where they are found to be functional and safe. We will ask
you to sign a disclaimer stating that you understand you are responsible for the repair and

replacement of any such items

How we’'ll review this standard We will review this standard

We will: When we:

e Use feedback from surveys, complaints and e Update our policies or review our services
compliments * Notice that your valued feedback is telling
Regularly report on how we are doing and use us we might need to look at things again
our Tenant and Leaseholder forums to help
scrutinise our services. In addition, we will use
our Tenant Satisfaction Measures and
benchmarking against other providers to help
shape our services to you

How to contact us

Visit our website for the latest information at cheltenham.gov.uk

Call us on our freephone number 0800 408 00000



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71
Equality Impact Assessment

Introduction

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is a method for assessing the effects or impacts of a
council policy or function on removing barriers to equality.

The Equality Act 2010 includes a public sector equality duty which requires public authorities to
try and eliminate discrimination; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it and promote equality and good
relations across a range of protected characteristics.

The protected characteristics are:

Age Disability Gender Reassignment

Marriage and civil
partnership

Religion or belief
(including lack of belief)

Pregnancy and maternity = Race

Sex Sexual orientation

An EqlA should be completed with the full range of protected characteristics considered during
the initial stages of developing new strategies, policies, functions or services, prior to starting a
procurement exercise and before decisions are made.

Examples of when an EqlA should be completed are:

¢ Any proposals to introduce or add to a ¢ Any proposals to adopt policy priorities,
service strategies and plans

Changes to staffing structure where
groups of employees are likely to be
negatives affected

Any proposals in relation to procured or
commissioned services

e Any proposals to remove, reduce or alter
a service

¢ Any new policies or changes to policies

Stage 1 - Equality Screening

Whenever a policy/service or function is reviewed, changed, developed or removed an initial
equality impact assessment stage 1 will need to be undertaken. This is a screening template and
will help establish whether a full assessment is needed. This should be done at an early stage of
the process so that it is part of policy development.

Stage 2 — Equality Impact Assessment

This is the full EqIA and seeks to identify the equality considerations that have bene taken into
account including any mitigating actions proposed and ensures decisions are based on evidence.
The EqlA will need to be agreed with the appropriate Head of Service or Director and should be
included on the decision making report, along with commentary on the assessment in the main
body of the report.

l|Page



Page 72
STAGE 1 - Equality Screening

1. ldentify the policy, project, function or service change

a. Person responsible for this EqlA

Officer responsible: Matt Ward Service Area: Housing Services
Title: Head of Housing Services Date of assessment: 06 November 2025
)
Signature:
b. Is this a policy, function, strategy, service change or Policy
project?

If other, please specify:

c. Name of the policy, function, strategy, service change or project
Empty Homes (Voids) Policy
Is this new or existing? New or proposed

Please specify reason for change or development of policy, function, strategy, service
change or project

The policy has been developed to review and formally capture the existing internal Empty
Homes (Voids) process to tenants.

d. What are the aims, objectives and intended outcomes and who is likely to benefit
from it?

The policy formally sets out Cheltenham Borough Council’s approach to
Aims: managing empty homes (void properties).

The purpose of the policy is to:

a) Set out the principles and service standards of void management to
ensure efficient turnaround and minimise rental loss.

b) help to meet housing need by maximizing the availability of our
housing stock; and

c) make best use of housing stock with special characteristics and
assist downsizers.

Objectives:

The outcomes of this policy are to:

Outcomes: o Make the process transparent to tenants
¢ Minimise the time properties remain void.

2|Page



Page 73

e Ensure properties meet the “Fit to Rent” standards before re-letting.

e Reduce financial loss from empty properties.

e Improve customer satisfaction and housing availability.

e Support strategic housing goals including homelessness prevention
and affordable housing delivery.

In addition to the expected outcomes, Cheltenham Borough Council tenants
will also understand their rights as a tenant and the Empty Homes (Voids)
Benefits: process and standard.

e. What are the expected impacts?

Are there any aspects, including how it is delivered No
or accessed, that could have an impact on the lives
of people, including employees and customers.

. N Positive
Do you expect the impacts to be positive or

negative?

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

The Empty Homes (Voids) Policy will improve Cheltenham Borough Council’s management
of managing its empty homes leading to a better and more efficient use of its assets.

If your answer to question e identified potential positive or negative impacts, or you are
unsure about the impact, then you should carry out a Stage Two Equality Impact
Assessment.

f. Identify next steps as appropriate
Stage Two required No
Owner of Stage Two assessment

Completion date for Stage Two assessment

Please forward this completed form to [add email address] and move on to Stage 2 if
required.

3|Page



Page 74

STAGE 2 - Full Equality Impact Assessment

2. Engagement and consultation

The best approach to find out if a policy etc, is likely to impact positively or negatively on equality
groups is to look at existing research, previous consultation recommendations, studies or consult
with representatives of those equality groups.

a. Research and evidence
List below any data, consultations (previous, relevant, or future planned), or any relevant
research, studies or analysis that you have considered to assess the policy, function,
strategy, service change or project for its relevance to equality.
Best practice

A review of the existing Empty Homes Process/Proceedure

b. Consultation

Has any consultation be conducted? Yes

Describe the consultation or engagement you have conducted or are intending to conduct.
Describe who was consulted, what the outcome of the activity was and how these results
have influenced the development of the strategy, policy, project, service change or budget
option.

If no consultation or engagement is planned, please explain why.

The Policy has been seen and reviewed by a group of Cheltenham Borough Council
tenants.

4|Page



Page 75

3. Assessment

a. Assessment of impacts

For each characteristic, please indicate the type of impact (positive — contributes to promoting
equality or improving relations within an equality group, neutral — no impact, negative — could
disadvantage them).

Please use the description of impact box to explain how you justify the impact and include any
data and evidence that you have collected from surveys, performance data or complaints to
support your proposed changes

5|Page



Protected
Characteristic

AGE

DISABILITY

A definition of disability
under the Equality Act

2010 is available here.

See also carer
responsibilities under
other considerations.

GENDER
REASSIGNMENT

MARRIAGE & CIVIL
PARTNERSHIP

PREGNANCY &
MATERNITY

RACE*

Further information on the
breakdown below each of
these headings, is
available here.

Specific
Characteristic
Older people (60+)
Younger People (16-
25)

Children (0-16)
Physical disability
Sensory Impairment
(sight, hearing)
Mental health

Learning Disability

Women

Men

Lesbians

Gay Men
Women

White

Mixed or multiple

ethnic groups
Asian

Impact
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral

Neutral
Neutral

Neutral

Description of impact

Mitigating Action

9, abed

6|Page


https://www.gov.uk/definition-of-disability-under-equality-act-2010
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/ethnicgroupdetailed

For example Asian,
includes Chinese,
Pakistani and Indian etc

RELIGION &
BELIEF**

A list of religions used in
the census is available
here

SEX (GENDER)

SEXUAL
ORIENTATION

Other considerations

Socio-economic

factors
(income, education,

employment, community

safety & social support)
Rurality

i.e. access to services;
transport; education;

employment; broadband

Other (e.g. caring
responsibilities)

African

Caribbean or Black

See note

Men
Women
Trans Men

Trans Women
Heterosexual

Lesbian
Gay
Bisexual/Pansexual

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral
Neutral
Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

/] abed

7|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

* To keep the form concise, race has not been included as an exhaustive list, please augment the list above where appropriate to reflect the complexity of other racial identities.

** There are too many faith groups to provide a list, therefore, please input the faith group e.g. Muslims, Buddhists, Jews, Christians, Hindus, etc. Consider the different faith groups
individually when considering positive or negative impacts. A list of religions in the census is available here

g,) abed

8|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Page 79
4. Outcomes, Action and Public Reporting

a. Please list the actions identified through the evidence and the mitigating action to be taken.

Action Target completion Lead Officer
date

b. Public reporting

All completed EqlA’s are required to be publicly available on the Council’s website once they
have been signed off. EqlA’s are also published with the papers for committee and full council
decisions.

Please send completed EqlA’s to [email address]

5. Monitoring outcomes, evaluation and review

The Equalities Impact Assessment is not an end in itself but the start of a continuous monitoring
and review process. The relevant Service or Lead Officer responsible for the delivery of the
policy, function or service change is also responsible for monitoring and reviewing the EqlA and
any actions that may be taken to mitigate impacts.

Individual services are responsible for conducting the impact assessment for their area, staff from
Corporate Policy and Governance will be available to provide support and guidance, please
email xxxx if you have any questions.

6. Change log

Name Date Version Change

9|Page



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 81

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy
for Tenanted Properties

Version control
Document name: Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy for Tenanted Properties
Version: 1.1
Responsible officer
e Operations Manager, Responsive Repairs
Approved by: Cabinet
Next review date: November 2028

Retention period: 6 months after replacement of policy

Revision history

Revision date Version Description
October 2025 1 New Policy
November 2025 1.1 Updated following tenant and
leaseholder feedback
Consultees
Internal

e Housing Service Managers
e Director of Governance, Housing and Communities
e Cabinet Housing Committee

External

e Tenants through the Tenant Panel
e Leaseholders through the Leaseholders Panel

Distribution
Website

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 1 of 8



Page 82
CHELTENHAM

BOROUGIT COUNCIL

Contents

1. Introduction and purpose of the POLICY.........ccooiiiiiiiiiii e,

2 To o o 1= PO

3. Legislative ReQUINEMENTS ..........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e

S T o] =P
4.1 (=T oo 1 oY = T =Y o X | SO
4.2  Repair appointMENtS ........oii i
4.3  TIMEeSCAlES fOr FEPAIIS ...uuuii et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
4.4  Repair responsibilities — tenants repairs.............cceeeiiiiiiiieeiiccie e
4.5 Rechargeable repairs ...
4.6 Responsibilities and exXpectations............cooovviiiiiiiiiii e
4.8  Performance mMONITOMING .....coooooeiiiiieee e

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 2 of 8



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.1

2.2

3.1

Page 83

Introduction and purpose of the policy

CHELTENHAM

Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) repairs service plays a BOROUGH COUNCIL
crucial role in ensuring overall customer satisfaction among

its tenants. High-quality repairs services significantly enhance tenants’ quality of life
and the enjoyment of their homes.

All CBC tenants will, at some point during their tenancy, access the repairs and
maintenance service. It is therefore essential that repair works are completed
promptly and efficiently. Repairs and maintenance represent one of the largest
areas of revenue expenditure for CBC.

As such, cost-effectiveness is vital. Many tenants are aware that repair costs are
funded directly from their rent payments and, understandably, expect a high-quality
service that offers good value for money.

In addition to promoting tenant satisfaction, maintaining the housing stock is in the
best interest of CBC and keeping them in good condition is a strategic priority.

This policy sets out CBCs commitment to deliver a high-quality responsive repairs
service and how we will

o deliver high-quality homes and services for tenants
o maintain the value of our housing stock
o ensure services meet tenants needs and expectations
o fulfils our legal obligations as a landlord
Scope

The principles and terms within this policy apply to the responsive repairs service at
CBC. It applies to all homes, communal areas and garages where the council has
a responsibility for repairs.

This policy does not cover works on empty homes (void properties), cyclical
maintenance or planned maintenance.

Legislative Requirements
The key pieces of legislation that are relevant to this policy are:

o Regulator for Social Housing Consumer Standards: Safety & Quality
Standard & Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard

o The Decent Homes Standard

o Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)

o Landlord and Tenant Act 1985

o Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974

o Decent Homes Standard 2010

. Party Wall Act 1996

o Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Right to Repair  Regulations) 1994

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 3 of 8



Page 84

o Construction (Design and Management) Regulations
2015 CHELTENHAM
. Building Safety Act 2022 BOROUGH COUNCIL
o The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018
o Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012
o Equality Act 2010
o Work at Height Regulations 2005
o Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
o Housing Act 2004
o Management of Health and Safety at Work regulations 1999 (as amended)
o The Gas and Safety (Installations and Use) Regulations (GSIUR) 1998 as
amended
o The Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992
o Electricity at Work Regulations 1985
o Building Regulations 2010
o Pre-Action Protocol for Housing Disrepair
o Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH)
o Provision and Use of Work Equipment (PUWER)
o The control of Noise at Work Regulations 2005

4. Principles

The following principles set out how the council will deliver a high-quality repairs service
which meets regulatory requirements and maximising operational efficiency.

4.1 Reporting a repair
Repairs can be reported through the MyCBH account or by calling 0800 408 0000.

An out of hours emergency repair service operates outside of normal working hours. To
report an emergency call 0800 137 111. This service is for emergency repairs only, which
include:

e Serious leaks or burst pipes
o Unsafe electrical wiring
e Unsecured doors or windows

We will respond to an emergency within 4 hours to make the situation safe. It may not be
possible to complete the repair in full during the emergency visit, in which case a full repair
will be scheduled for a later date.

If for any reason we are unable to make your home safe we may apply our Decant
(required move) policy.

4.2 Repair appointments

Repairs appointments are offered in fixed timeslots from Monday to Friday.
Saturday appointments may be provided in exceptional circumstances

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 4 of 8



Page 85
Appointments are available in the following time bands:
Morning (am) 08:00 - 12:00
Mid-morning 10:00 — 14:00

Afternoon (pm) 12:00 — 16:00

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Residents may request a more specific time when booking. Where possible this will be

accommodated.

If residents need to cancel or rearrange an appointment, they must contact the repairs
line.0800 408 0000. Should a repair be cancelled more than three times the council
reserves the right to put the repair on hold and/or cancel the repair request.

4.3 Timescales for repairs

We will prioritise the most serious repairs based on statutory responsibility, risk and

urgency and we aim to respond within the following timescales:

Emergency Repairs 24 hours
Urgent Repairs 5 working days
Routine Repairs 28 days

4.4 Repair responsibilities — tenants repairs

Tenants have responsibilities set out in their tenancy agreement.

Below is a summary of typical responsibilities. A full list is available in the Repairs and

Maintenance Handbook.

Repair / Issue

Council

(CBC) Tenant

Gas, electricity, and water supply — up to and within the property
(unless utility provider’s responsibility)

Structure of the property — roof, external walls, front/back doors,
windows, gutters, downpipes, drains

Communal fences (depending on property boundaries)

Outbuildings, sheds, coal bunkers (originally installed by the
Council)

Existing central heating, water heaters, and fires (provided by the
Council)

Internal walls, floors, and ceilings

Floor coverings in kitchens and bathrooms only (standard sheet
vinyl)

Floor coverings in other rooms (e.g., carpet, laminate)

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1

Page 5 of 8



Page 86

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

. Council
Repair / Issue (CBC) Tenant

Sanitary fittings — plugs, chains, and toilet seats v

Window frames, catches, and sash cords

Chimney stacks and flues

Communal areas — lifts, stairs, pathways, play areas

JRRS

Kitchen units, air vents, extractor fans (provided by the Council)

Fitting/replacing door latches, bells, spy holes, and extra locks

Clearing minor blockages (e.g. caused by fat, wipes, or sanitary
items)

Internal decoration (e.g. painting, wallpaper)

Note: Floor coverings include any materials such as carpet, laminate, tile, or vinyl.

CBC is only responsible for kitchen and bathroom flooring (wet rooms) and will provide
standard vinyl sheets only.

4.5 Rechargeable repairs

Where the council identifies that a repair is the tenants responsibility, we may complete the
repair and recover the costs of the work from the tenant as per our rechargeable repairs

policy.

If damage is caused by criminal action to a home, tenants must report this to the police
and obtain a crime reference number, so this can be provided to the council, and we will
arrange for the repair to be carried out without charge.

4.6 Responsibilities and expectations

Residents are asked to:

e provide access to carry out works

e report repairs early so they do not cause a larger problem in the longer term.

¢ test their smoke and carbon monoxide alarm once a month

e tell us if they are experiencing condensation, damp and mould.

e undertake minor repairs where they are able and avoid anything which may result in
blockages to pipes and drains, such as disposing of fat, oil, wipes and nappies.

e keep the inside of their home in good condition and keep the garden tidy. This
includes maintaining grass, plants and tree branches within the property boundary
so as not to cause nuisance to other residents.

e keep appointments or cancel with advance notice.

e treat CBC staff and contractors with respect.

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 6 of 8



Page 87

not to smoke while workers are present.

ensure children and pets are safely away during work. CHELTENHfAM
, BOROUGH COUNCIL

have an adult present for the duration of the work.

The council will:

4.8

Treat customers with respect and consideration.
Communicate appointments clearly
Introduce themselves, show ID, and explain:
o Who do they work for.
o Purpose, duration, and areas they’ll need access to.
Ask tenants about the problem and get permission before moving furniture or
belongings.
Arrive on time, prepared with tools and materials.
Keep the work area clean and tidy.
Park considerately and responsibly.
Never enter a home unless an adult is present.
Be aware of any additional needs (e.g. mobility or hearing issues).

Limit disruption; reconnect utilities the same day if turned off.
Avoid leaving fire or communal doors open.
Try to complete the repair in one visit.
Get permission before:
o Using customer facilities (toilet, water, power, etc.).
o Leaving equipment overnight.
e Ifajobisn’t finished:
o Discuss and leave information setting out why
o Arrange a follow up appointment
e Explain repairs clearly and check customer satisfaction.
e Show how new equipment works and leave instructions.
e Report any additional issues noticed.

Performance monitoring

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and Tenant Satisfactory Measure (TSMs) are a
fundamental component of CBC’s performance management framework.

At CBC, KPIs are designed to:

Serve as clear and transparent measures of performance for tenants, elected
members, staff, regulators, and other stakeholders.

Reflect the councils housing priorities as outlined in the Corporate Plan.

Set challenging yet realistic targets that encourage continuous improvement.

Be reviewed annually to ensure they remain relevant and suitably ambitious in a
changing environment.

Incorporate benchmarking by comparing performance with peer organizations to
identify areas for improvement.

The current TSMs for the repairs service are:

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1 Page 7 of 8



Page 88

e Proportion of non-emergency responsive repairs completed
within the landlords target timescale

e Proportion of emergency responsive repairs completed
within the landlord's target timescale

We also monitor performance against our repairs timescales.

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy v.1

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 8 of 8



Page 89

Repairs & Maintenance for Tenanted Properties:
What Tenants Need to Know
o Purpose of the Policy

Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) aims to provide a high-quality, cost-effective
repairs service that keeps homes safe, comfortable, and well-maintained. Repairs
are funded through rent, so value for money is key.

? Scope
This policy covers responsive repairs for your home:
It does not include:

o Empty homes (voids)

e Planned or cyclical maintenance

+ safe and habitable homes.

&2 Reporting Repairs
e Online: via MyCBH account
« Phone: 0800 408 0000

« Emergency Repairs (e.g. burst pipes, unsafe electrics):
Call 0800 137 111 — CBC will respond within 4 hours to make the home safe.

[] Appointments
o Offered Monday—Friday in time slots:
o Morning: 08:00-12:00
o Mid-morning: 10:00-14:00
o Afternoon: 12:00-16:00
o Saturday appointments in exceptional cases

o Tenants must give notice to cancel. After 3 cancellations, CBC may pause or
cancel the request.



Page 90

¢) Repair Timescales
« Emergency: within 24 hours
e Urgent: within 5 working days
o Routine: within 28 days

@@ Who's Responsible?
CBC is responsible for:
e Structure (roof, walls, windows)
e Heating systems
« Kitchen/bathroom flooring
e« Communal areas
Tenants are responsible for:
« Internal decoration
e Minor blockages
« Toilet seats, plugs, chains
e Floor coverings (except kitchen/bathroom)

e Doorbells, locks, spy holes

%) Rechargeable Repairs

If a repair is the tenant’s responsibility but CBC carries it out, costs may be
charged.

If damage is due to crime, report it to the police and provide a crime reference
number to avoid charges.

O Expectations
Tenants should:
e Report issues early
o Allow access for repairs
e Maintain their home and garden

o Keep appointments



Page 91

o Treat staff respectfully
CBC will:
o Communicate clearly
e Arrive on time and prepared
e Respect your home and privacy
e Minimise disruption

o Explain repairs and check satisfaction



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 93
Equality Impact Assessment

Introduction

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is a method for assessing the effects or impacts of a
council policy or function on removing barriers to equality.

The Equality Act 2010 includes a public sector equality duty which requires public authorities to
try and eliminate discrimination; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it and promote equality and good
relations across a range of protected characteristics.

The protected characteristics are:

Age Disability Gender Reassignment

Marriage and civil
partnership

Religion or belief
(including lack of belief)

Pregnancy and maternity = Race

Sex Sexual orientation

An EqlA should be completed with the full range of protected characteristics considered during
the initial stages of developing new strategies, policies, functions or services, prior to starting a
procurement exercise and before decisions are made.

Examples of when an EqlA should be completed are:

¢ Any proposals to introduce or add to a ¢ Any proposals to adopt policy priorities,
service strategies and plans

Changes to staffing structure where
groups of employees are likely to be
negatives affected

Any proposals in relation to procured or
commissioned services

e Any proposals to remove, reduce or alter
a service

¢ Any new policies or changes to policies

Stage 1 - Equality Screening

Whenever a policy/service or function is reviewed, changed, developed or removed an initial
equality impact assessment stage 1 will need to be undertaken. This is a screening template and
will help establish whether a full assessment is needed. This should be done at an early stage of
the process so that it is part of policy development.

Stage 2 — Equality Impact Assessment

This is the full EqIA and seeks to identify the equality considerations that have bene taken into
account including any mitigating actions proposed and ensures decisions are based on evidence.
The EqlA will need to be agreed with the appropriate Head of Service or Director and should be
included on the decision-making report, along with commentary on the assessment in the main
body of the report.

l|Page



Page 94

STAGE 1 - Equality Screening

1.

Identify the policy, project, function or service change.

a. Person responsible for this EqlA
Officer responsible: John Clements Service Area: Building Services
Title: Date of assessment: 10/11/2025

Signature: fotu Clemente

b. Is this a policy, function, strategy, service change or Policy
project?
If other, please specify: Policy

c. Name of the policy, function, strategy, service change or project

Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy for Tenanted Properties

Is this new or existing? Already exists and is
being reviewed

Please specify reason for change or development of policy, function, strategy, service
change or project

d. What are the aims, objectives and intended outcomes and who is likely to benefit
from it?

The Responsive Repairs Policy aims to provide a clear, fair, and efficient
framework for the delivery of repairs to council-managed housing stock. It seeks
to ensure that all residents live in homes that are safe, secure, and well-
maintained and that repairs are carried out within reasonable timescales based
on the urgency of the issue. The policy also aims to support vulnerable
residents, reduce inequalities, and promote tenant satisfaction.

Aims:

This policy sets out CBCs commitment to deliver a high-quality responsive
repairs service and how we will therefore essential that repair works are
completed promptly and efficiently. Repairs and maintenance represent one of
the largest areas of revenue expenditure for CBC. The key stakeholders are:

e Council tenants and leaseholders.
Tenancy Services officers and repairs teams.
Contractors and suppliers.
Community and wellbeing teams.
Residents' groups and tenant panels
Vulnerable residents, including those with disabilities, older people, and
families with young children.

Objectives:

2|Page



Page 95
The principles and terms within this policy apply to the responsive repairs
service at CBC. It applies to all homes, communal areas and garages where
Outcomes: the council has a responsibility for repairs.

Compling to Legal requirement and Compliance

Deliver high-quality homes and services for tenants!
Maintain the value of our housing stock!

Ensure services meet tenants’ needs and expectations!
fulfils our legal obligations as a landlord Compling to Legal
requirement and Compliance

Benefits:

e. What are the expected impacts?

Are there any aspects, including how it is delivered ~ YeS
or accessed, that could have an impact on the lives
of people, including employees and customers.

. . Positive
Do you expect the impacts to be positive or

negative?
Please provide an explanation for your answer:

This policy is to clearly outline CBC expectations for repair, focusing on service delivery, for
all our tenants regardless of customers, Value for Money and Legislative Requirements

If your answer to question e identified potential positive or negative impacts, or you are
unsure about the impact, then you should carry out a Stage Two Equality Impact
Assessment.

f. Identify next steps as appropriate
Stage Two required Choose an item.
Owner of Stage Two assessment

Completion date for Stage Two assessment

Please forward this completed form to [add email address] and move on to Stage 2 if
required.

3|Page



Page 96

STAGE 2 - Full Equality Impact Assessment

2. Engagement and consultation

The best approach to find out if a policy etc, is likely to impact positively or negatively on equality
groups is to look at existing research, previous consultation recommendations, studies or consult
with representatives of those equality groups.

a. Research and evidence
List below any data, consultations (previous, relevant, or future planned), or any relevant
research, studies or analysis that you have considered to assess the policy, function,
strategy, service change or project for its relevance to equality.
CBC senior management Internal consultation with housing staff and manager

Review of best practice guidance from HQN

Legal and legislative frameworks.

Alignment with existing policies.

Reviewed by CBC SIPS team

Reviewed by Amanda Wary Safeguarding Equality & Diversity Manager

b. Consultation

Has any consultation be conducted? e

Describe the consultation or engagement you have conducted or are intending to conduct.
Describe who was consulted, what the outcome of the activity was and how these results
have influenced the development of the strategy, policy, project, service change or budget
option.

If no consultation or engagement is planned, please explain why.

Discussed at senior level , r

3. Assessment

a. Assessment of impacts

For each characteristic, please indicate the type of impact (positive — contributes to promoting
equality or improving relations within an equality group, neutral — no impact, negative — could
disadvantage them).

Please use the description of impact box to explain how you justify the impact and include any
data and evidence that you have collected from surveys, performance data or complaints to
support your proposed changes

4|Page



Protected
Characteristic

AGE

DISABILITY

A definition of disability
under the Equality Act

2010 is available here.

See also carer
responsibilities under
other considerations.

Specific
Characteristic
Older people (60+)

Younger People (16-
25)

Children (0-16)

Physical disability

Sensory Impairment
(sight, hearing)

Impact

Positive and
negative

Positive
Positive

Positive and
negative

Positive and
negative

Description of impact

struggle to report repairs digitally or cope with
delays in heating or mobility-related repairs.
Older tenants may have mobility issues or
health conditions that make it harder to
cope with delays or disruptions. experience
mobility issue

No significant negative impact identified
No significant negative impact identified

sensory, mobility, or learning disabilities may
face barriers in communication or access during
repairs.

sensory, mobility, or learning disabilities may
face barriers in communication or access during
repairs.

Mitigating Action

Provide telephone and in-person
reporting options; prioritise heating,
lighting, and access repairs. Flags on
QL with vulnerabilities. With in the
HHSRS guidance based upon the
level of risk factor prioritisation of
repairs where older tenants, families
with young children, or young people
in supported housing are affected.
Equality and diversity training for all
staff including Sub-contractors;
robust complaint procedures.

communication (large print, BSL,
Easy Read); provide reasonable
adjustments and prioritise
adaptations. Contractors

Positive impact — reasonable
adjustments made where needed to
support disabled residents. Priority
repair times for equipment critical to
independent living. Equality and
diversity training for all staff
including Sub-contractors; robust
complaint procedures.

5|Page

/6 abed


https://www.gov.uk/definition-of-disability-under-equality-act-2010

Mental health

Learning Disability

GENDER
REASSIGNMENT

MARRIAGE & CIVIL Women

PARTNERSHIP
Men
Lesbians
Gay Men
PREGNANCY & Women
MATERNITY

Positive and
negative

Positive and
negative

Positive and
negative

Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral

Positive and
negative

sensory, mobility, or learning disabilities may

face barriers in communication or access during

repairs.

Trans and non-binary community can suffer

from Minority stress — this can impact on

both their mental and physical health — they

can become isolated and find it difficult to
engage- CBH need to work hard to ensure

that these communities feel safe and able to

work with teams to ensure that the DMC
can be addressed sensitively.

This may mean working in partnership with
local groups to ensure that the person feels
safe and respected.

No significant negative impact identified
No significant negative impact identified
No significant negative impact identified
No significant negative impact identified

Health risks from dust, fumes, or lack of
heating/hot water

This may mean working in
partnership with local groups to
ensure that the person feels safe
and respected. Flags on Q/L
Equality and diversity training for
all staff including Sub-contractors;
robust complaint procedures.

86 obed

Prioritise urgent repairs for
expectant or new parents. Positive
impact — quicker response times for
households with new-borns or
expectant mothers to ensure a safe
home environment. Equality and
diversity training for all staff
including Sub-contractors; robust
complaint procedures.

6|Page



RACE*

Further information on the
breakdown below each of
these headings, is
available here.

For example Asian,
includes Chinese,
Pakistani and Indian etc

RELIGION &
BELIEF**

A list of religions used in
the census is available
here

SEX (GENDER)

SEXUAL
ORIENTATION

White

Mixed or multiple
ethnic groups

Asian
African

Caribbean or Black

See note

Men

Women

Trans Men

Trans Women
Heterosexual

Positive

Positive

Positive
Positive
Positive
Positive

Positive and
negative

Neutral

Neutral

Neutral

Positive

No significant negative impact identified

language barriers or cultural expectations may
affect communication and satisfaction.

language barriers or cultural expectations may
affect communication and satisfaction.

No significant negative impact identified

No significant negative impact identified

. No significant negative impact identified

Contractors entering during religious
observances could cause discomfort.

Risk of bias or discrimination from contractors.

No significant negative impact identified

No significant negative impact identified

Positive impact — repairs service
accessible to all, with translation
services or cultural sensitivity
considerations where needed. Offer
translation and interpretation
services; ensure diverse workforce
training

Offer translation and interpretation
services; ensure diverse workforce
training.

Respect cultural and religious
practices; flexible appointment
times.

66 obed

Equality and diversity training for all
staff including Sub-contractors;
robust complaint procedures.
.Equality and diversity training for all
staff including Sub-contractors;
robust complaint procedures.
Equality and diversity training for all
staff including Sub-contractors;
robust complaint procedures.

7|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/ethnicgroupdetailed
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Lesbian
Gay
Bisexual/Pansexual

Other considerations

Socio-economic

factors

(income, education,
employment, community
safety & social support)

Rurality

i.e. access to services;
transport; education;
employment; broadband
Other (e.g. caring
responsibilities)

* To keep the form concise, race has not been included as an exhaustive list, please augment the list above where appropriate to reflect the complexity of other racial identities

Positive and
negative
Positive and
negative
Positive and
negative

Positive and
negative

Neutral

Choose an item.

No significant negative impact identified

No significant negative impact identified

No significant negative impact identified

o
jab)
Q

@D
=
o
=]

** There are too many faith groups to provide a list, therefore, please input the faith group e.g. Muslims, Buddhists, Jews, Christians, Hindus, etc. Consider the different faith grsops
individually when considering positive or negative impacts. A list of religions in the census is available here

8|Page


https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/census2021dictionary/variablesbytopic/ethnicgroupnationalidentitylanguageandreligionvariablescensus2021/religiondetailed

Page 101
4. Outcomes, Action and Public Reporting

a. Please list the actions identified through the evidence and the mitigating action to be taken.

Action Target completion Lead Officer
date

b. Public reporting

All completed EqlA’s are required to be publicly available on the Council’s website once they
have been signed off. EqlA’s are also published with the papers for committee and full council
decisions.

Please send completed EqlA’s to [email address]

5. Monitoring outcomes, evaluation and review

The Equalities Impact Assessment is not an end in itself but the start of a continuous monitoring
and review process. The relevant Service or Lead Officer responsible for the delivery of the
policy, function or service change is also responsible for monitoring and reviewing the EqlA and
any actions that may be taken to mitigate impacts.

Individual services are responsible for conducting the impact assessment for their area, staff from
Corporate Policy and Governance will be available to provide support and guidance, please
email xxxx if you have any questions.

6. Change log

Name Date Version Change

9|Page



This page is intentionally left blank



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 7
Page 103

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee — November 2025
Compliance Performance data for October 2025 and KPI

reporting for Q2

Accountable officer:

Claire Hughes — Director of Governance, Housing and Communities

Data analysis

Review Op 20
actions ,‘\
CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Review at

appropriate
meetings

Page 1 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Page 104

1. October 2025 Compliance Performance data

1.1 Compliance report exceptions (see appendix B for more information)

1.1.1

Our current compliance position for gas stands at 6 properties without a valid landlord’s gas
safety certificate.

One overdue property has now been completed from the September report, with four being
carried over to October.

Two properties became overdue in the month of October and are therefore new entries to the
compliance report.

o Two properties have had an injunction to access served and now lie in contempt of court; we
await new court dates.

¢ One property has a court date scheduled for 06.11.2025.

e One property has now had an additional statement added from Tenancy Management and
can now be submitted to court.

e One property due to be handed back on the 30.11.2025, gas cap will be completed at void
status.

¢ One property has had tenancy terminated, keys received 30.10.2025, gas will be capped by
voids. We would expect this to be compliant by the time of the next report.

Our current position for EICR’s (5-year programme) stands at 16 overdue inspections.

e One property is at legal status and awaiting a court date.

e One property has sustained significant fire damage and will therefore be reporting as overdue
for over 1 year.

e Four properties are due to be returned by the end of week commencing 03.11.2025 and we
would therefore expect these to be removed from the overdue report by the end of November.

¢ Nine properties are major voids expected to be handed back within a three-month period.

¢ One new acquisition requires an asbestos report and is expected to be handed back within a
3-month period.

e Whilst these are overdue in accordance with our policy, they remain legally compliant.

1.2 Additional comments

1.21

1.2.2

1.2.3

We currently have a total of 73 capped gas supplies — our report shows 74 however there is a
duplicate address within the report. All of these are tenanted.

54 gas supplies have been capped for over three months.

Following a discussion with HQN who will be conducting a mock inspection in the following
months the gas cap process will be under review so that we can effectively demonstrate to the
Regulator that we are exhausting all avenues to prevent gas meters being capped.

1.3 Current Fire risk actions (see appendix A for more information)

1.3.1 There are currently three fire actions showing as past their due date.

¢ One high risk action is awaiting approval on costs.

Page 2 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Page 105

e Two medium risk actions, one is with our contractor’s technical team under review, and one is
under approval for costs.

1.4 Legacy fire risk actions (see appendix A for more information)

1.4.1 Legacy fire action progress is reviewed weekly, and a new tracker has been created for the team to
provide real time updates with more accurate timeframes to provide a better understanding on how long
we will be reporting these as overdue.

1.4.2 Fire Doors — Our current position is six medium risk action and one low.

e The Low-risk action relates to a leasehold property which we are in the process of obtaining
an installation date and requesting access from the leaseholder.

e The medium risk actions are all sat with our door contractor with installation dates in
November.

1.4.3 Compartmentation — Our current position is three high risk actions, five medium risk and three low
risk actions.

o Works have commenced on all the high-risk compartmentation actions with works to be
competed on the 24.11.2025. In the meantime, appropriate mitigations are in place.

e Four of the medium risk actions for compartmentation require costs to be approved and one
is awaiting certification to be submitted so that this can be signed off.

o Of the low-risk compartmentation actions, one is due to be completed by 24.11.2025, one
requires costs to be approved, and one is awaiting confirmation on a completion date.

1.4.4 Windows — Our current position is 15 medium risk action all of which are on target for completion
within the next month access permitting.

e Four window actions have now been completed.

1.5 Compliance trend analysis
Please see appendix C for more information
Two areas have been non-compliant for 3+ Months:

e BSO01 - Proportion of Homes for which all required gas safety checks have been carried out for
CBC properties

o Non-Compliance is less than 1% for all three months
o As detailed above, these are largely due to ongoing court matters and therefore the
extended non-compliance is not considered of concern at this time as there are
reasonable explanations for this non-compliance
e Electric - EICR (5 year programme)
o Non- Compliance is less than 1% for all three months
o Whilst overdue in accordance with our policy, we remain legally compliant and for the

three months where we have been non-compliant there have been reasonable
explanations for this non-compliance

Page 3 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Page 106

1.6 Stock Condition Survey coverage across our dwelling types and associated areas:
Dwellings — Flats, Houses, Bungalows, and Bedsits

Flats: 2,425 total, with 1,781 surveyed (73.4%).

o Includes 421 sheltered flats, of which 363 (86.2%) have been surveyed.

Houses: 1,935 total, with 1,387 surveyed (71.7%).

Bungalows: 223 total, with 180 surveyed (80.7%).

o Includes 14 sheltered bungalows, of which 12 (85.7%) have been surveyed.

Bedsits: 62 total, with 51 surveyed (82.3%).
o Includes 55 sheltered bedsits, of which 46 (83.6%) have been surveyed.
Observation: Sheltered properties show strong coverage across all dwelling types.

Blocks and Associated Areas

e Blocks: 545 total, with 472 surveyed (86.6%).
o All 15 listed blocks have been surveyed (100%).
o External Areas: 343 total, with 285 surveyed (83.1%).

e Shed Blocks: 195 total, with 169 surveyed (86.7%).

1.7 Decent Homes Update - November 2025

Latest QSR data (27/102/2025 shows the following - Based on 4,655 properties, 4,547 properties
(97.67%) are considered ‘decent’ and as such we are compliant with Decent Homes standards.

Out of 55,591 components surveyed, only 5% (2,857) are in fair or poor condition. As part of this
assessment, we have identified 108 properties (2.32%) as non-decent, 31 of which relate on component
failures (identified only in terms of Key and Non-Key Component conditions) and 77 relate to thermal
comfort. Component failures will be addressed through the planned maintenance programme in the
coming years. Kitchens and bathrooms are the largest areas of concern and are already scheduled for
replacement. The 77 issues that relate to thermal comfort are being reviewed as part of a data quality
check.

Page 4 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Page 107
2. KPI reporting for Q2

2.1 July — September (Q2) KPI's

There were no significant exceptions for this month, but some data prompted additional questions to
data owners. Please see Appendix D for more information.

e Number of new Benefit and Money cases — Upwards trend

o Trends from previous years do show the same pattern over the summer months, with an
increase again then through the Winter, peaking in January, therefore this is not seen as
exceptional

o Former tenant arrears amount (includes court costs) and Former tenant arrears no. of cases over
£10 — upwards trend

o Former tenant arrears tend to rise for a period of time (due to slippage of debt from
current arrears to former arrears) but then decrease as payment arrangements start to
take impact and quarterly write offs are processed. As such, the trend often increases
throughout each quarter, with a significant drop just after quarter end. Quarter 2 write offs
are still pending, which will be why the upwards trend has continued. The pending write
offs equate to approx. £19k, which when processed will bring arrears back down to similar
levels as at the end of June 25. The cases put forward for write off are those whereby all
recovery attempts have been exhausted, or where we are unable to trace the former
tenant. Former tenant arrears no. of cases over £10 — 18 cases above £10 are waiting to
be written off for Quarter 2.

e % of sheltered accommodation alarm system calls answered within 3 minutes — steady
downwards trend (not significant)

o The Taking Care average customer wait time has continued to improve, and has now
reduced to 27 seconds so far week commencing 20/10/2025. These results reflect the
impact of several key actions, including:

= Increased line capacity installed, providing greater call-handling capability during
peak periods.

= Reduced sickness absence following the exceptional spike experienced at the
beginning of October.

= Onboarding of newly trained operators, who are now contributing to overall service
performance.

o The Taking Care Corporate Admin Team came under significant pressure during this
period and they redeployed resources to support call handling. This temporary adjustment
did affect the timeliness of some administrative duties. The team has now returned to
operating fully within SLA for live customer data updates. In addition, further training
classes for new team members are scheduled with cohorts already filled for November
and January. These planned intakes will ensure we maintain the resource levels required
to consistently deliver and sustain high performance.

Page 5 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Page 108

¢ Number of Evictions due to rent arrears — Context provided

o June — 4 warrants - Of the 4 warrants issued in June, one was suspended on payment
terms

o July — no warrants

o August — 1 warrant - 3 evictions went ahead in August (there was no tenant present at
any of these evictions). The warrant issued in August resulted in an eviction taking place
in September — the tenant was not present at the property.

o September — 2 warrants - Of the 2 warrants issued in September, one was suspended on

payment terms and following the other, an eviction took place in October — the tenant was
not present at the property.

Page 6 of 12



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Appendix A (Fire risk actions table)

Workstream

Total No.
properties in
programme

No. compliant
properties

No. non-compliant
properties

Compliance %

Direction of travel

Fire safety

FRAs - blocks

449

449

100.00

Static

TSM: Percentage of
homes covered by
compliant fire risk
assessments

2517

2517

100.00

Static

High risk actions

Med risk
actions

Low/planned risk
actions

Total

Overdue FRAs
remedial actions < 3
months

Overdue FRAs
remedial actions 3-6
months

Overdue FRAs
remedial actions 6-
12 months

Down

Up

Static

Overdue FRAs
remedial actions
>12 months

10

Down

Total

13

Down

Page 7 of 12

60T abed



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Appendix B (Compliance snapshot)

Select the period that you would like to look at on the left-hand side filter panel.

Compliance Scorecard - SNAPSHOT

Compliance Scorecard
Matadats Proparties Compliancs Hon-Compliancs Parformanca  Properties dus
Indicator within 30 days
Compilance Area Pariod [Year) Period {Monih) KP1ID Deecriptor Landliond Total On programme O Programme In Dats & In Dats % Overdua # Owerdue % Pl Hs}'t‘.ﬂ-:-m
B
Domeslic
KPis [includes lsassholder propertiss) - CBCICEH
BS01 - Proportion of Homes for which all requirsd gas safety checks have been carmisd out 25 n 12845 A CBC A cBY 13 490 73 4414 90.84% 5 016% -I
ﬂm-nmwhm of Homea for which all required fire rak asasesments have been camisd 2025 10 12848 KA cBC & Bl 713 2521 212 52 100% [ 0% ‘Ccompliant ®|
B503 - Proportion of Homaa for which all required asbestos managemant survevs of rs- 13 2475 23 100% 0 i a
e v 2025 n BFiorg Fata) LBCE Coy Compllant
Electric - EICR [5 year programme) i3 n 12789 -] CBCE CBH 13 4537 75 4621 50EE% 15 035% -:
Electric - EICR [10 year programma) 2095 n 12541 KA CBC & CBH 13 3 4710 3 100% [ (3 Compliant (]
TSMS (Tenant ) -
nﬂm-murm Tor which all required gas safsty checks have been carred 2025 0 12834 MBS0 LBC 2502 4332 260 4325 09.64% [ D.16% -I
ﬁm-WurmmmumﬂMmmmmmm 25 10 12837 TSM (BSH] cBH = ] B ] 100% 0 (3 Compliank 1
nlm:m:t-nm-hmurm for which all required fire risk asssasments have been 235 n 12835 IS (BS02) CHC 4500 2487 2105 2487 100% 0 0% Compilant ]
nlm:mthprm-hmurmmrm-lmmnnmmmmm 205 i1} 12838 IsM BS02) LBy = ] & 34 100% ] (3 Compliant a
BSONCHC - Proportion of Homes for which all requirsd asbeafng mananemsant SUNVeys of re- 25 12836 502 2354 23 100% (1] i
i o n LGS0 LEC Camplkant
BE03CEH - Proportion of Homes for which all required ssbesfos managemant surveys of re- =™ ] 1 o 1]
[t 'y 2025 n 12839 LM S0 e Compllant
BSOAICHC - TSM Percaniags of Water Safsty Chacks Compliant CBC 25 n 12840 I3M [BS0d) LHC 4500 406 4185 05 100% [ (3 Compliant 3
BSO4ICEH - TSM Percantags of Water Safsty Chacks Compliant CBH i3 n 12849 M [BS0d) LB = ] 1 ] ] Compliant
Communal Biocks | Schemes
B501 - Proportion of Bloeks for which all required gas safety chacks have basn carmied out 25 Il BLOCK CBC & CRH 546 13 13 100% [ (3 Compliant
B304 - Percentage of Water Safely Checks Compliant CBC and CBH 25 I ] CBC & CBH 545 1 24 100% ] (3 Compliant 3
Fira - Highsr Risk Blocks 2025 n 102958 HB CBC A& cal 45 bl 475 kel 100% [ (3 Compliant
Fire - Lower Riak Blocks 2025 o 102534 i CBC & CBH 546 am 167 s 100% 0 0% Complang
Electric - EICR {5 year programme for blocks) 25 n o BLOCH CBC & CBH 546 E 5 31 100% [ (.3 Compliank
tos Surveys quir 2035 n Bl fuix) LEC & CaY e o = o o Compllant a
Ltz i3 n [ BLOCK CBC & CBH 6 3 3 33 100% ] M Compliank

OTT abed



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Compliance Actions Scorecard SNAPSHOT

Numeric KPI Scorecard Snapshot

Actions Period Period Number | In Date# Overdue Compliance Area Period Period Number of Numeric | Percentage
(Year) (Month) # (Year) {Month) Properties Value

Fire Risk Actions - Total 2025 10 642 639 3 No. of properties with capped gas 2025 10 4713 74 1.57%
Fire Risk Actions - Urgent 2025 10 0 0 0 No. properties requiring gas safety checks in next 3 months 2025 10 4713 538 11.42%
Fire Risk Actions - High 2025 10 14 13 1 % up to date stock surveys 2025 10 5103 3760 73.68%
Fire Risk Actions - Medium 2025 10 344 342 2 Properties that are compliant with CO alarms (%) 2025 10 4261 4251 99.77%
Fire Risk Actions - Low 2025 10 284 284 0 Properties that are compliant with smoke alarms (%) 2025 10 4645 4632 99.72%
Gas Actions - Category 2 (Landlord Responsibility) 2025 10 2 1 1

Gas Actions - Gas Actions - Category 2 (Tenant Responsibility) 2025 10 0 0 0

TTT obed



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Appendix C (Compliance Trend)

ZTT obed

Compliance Area KPIID Descriptor FLAGALArea Landlord |InDate % Overdue % Pl In Date % Overdue % Pl In Date % Overdue % Pl InDate % Overdue % Pl In Date % Pl

Domestic Jul-25 Aug-25 Sep-25 Oct-25 Trend

KPIs (includes leaseholder properties) - CBC/CBH

BS01 - Proportion of Homes for which all required gas safety checks have been carried out. 12845 kPl GAS CBC&CBH| 99.95% 0.05% 99.91% 0.09% 99.89% 0.11% 99.84% 0.16%

BS02 - Proportion of Homes for which all required fire risk assessments have been carried out. 12846 KPI FIRE CBC&CBH| 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Non Compliant
& A

BS03 - Proportion of Homes for which all required asbestos management surveys or re- 12847 KPi ASBESTOS CBC& CBH | 99.87% 0.13% 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant Compliant

inspections have been carried out.

Electric - EICR (5 year programme) 12789 KPi ELECTRIC CBC& CBH| 99.66% 0.34% 99.61% 0.39% 99.57% 0.43% 99.65% 0.35%

Electric - EICR (10 year programme) 12541 KPi ELECTRIC CBC&CBH| 100% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0% 100.00%

TSMS (Tenant Satisfaction Measures) - Excludes Leasholders

BS01/CBC - Proportion of Homes for which all required gas safety checks have been carried 12834 TSM(BS01 GAS CBC 99.95% 0.05% 99.91% 0.09% 99.88% 0.12% 99.84% 0.16% 99.90%

out.

BS01/CBH - Proportion of Homes for which all required gas safety checks have been carried 12837 TSM(BS01 GAS CBH 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% C 100% 0% 100.00% | €

BS02/CBC - Proportion of Homes for which all required fire risk assessments have been 12835 TSM(BS02) FIRE CBC 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Non 99.96% Compliant

carried out. [ i

BS02/CBH - Proportion of Homes for which all required fire risk assessments have been 12838 TSM(BS02) FIRE CBH 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 100.00% = Compliant

carried out.

BS03/CBC - Proportion of Homes for which all required asbestos management surveys or re- 12836 TSM(BS03) ASBESTOS CBC 99.87% 0.13% 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant 99.97%  Compliant

inspections have been carried out.

BS03/CBH - Proportion of Homes for which all required asbestos management surveys or re- 12839 TSM(BS03) ASBESTOS CBH 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant 100.00% | Compliant

inspections have been carried out.

BS04/CBC : TSM Percentage of Water Safety Checks Compliant CBC 12840 TSM(BS04) LEGIONELLA CBC 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% C 100% 0% C 100.00% | €

BS04/CBH : TSM Percentage of Water Safety Checks Compliant CBH 12841 TSM(BS04) LEGIONELLA CBH 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100.00% | €

C Blocks / Sch

BS01 - Proportion of Blocks for which all required gas safety checks have been carried out. 0 BLOCK GAS CBC&CBH| 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% C 100% 0% [ 100.00% | €

BS04 - Percentage of Water Safety Checks Compliant CBC and CEH 0 kPl LEGIONELLA CBC&CBH| 100% 0% 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100.00% | €

Fire - Higher Risk Blocks 102936 KPI FIRE CBC&CBH| 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100% 0% c 100.00% | €

Fire - Lower Risk Blocks 102934 kP! FIRE CBC&CBH| 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Non 99.94%  Compliant
= i

Electric - EICR (5 year programme for blocks) ] BLOCK ELECTRIC CBC&CBH| 99.71% 0.29% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant | 100% 0% Compliant 99.86% | Compliant

Ash Surveys Ci | Required 102688 KPl ASBESTOS CBC&CBH| 95.26% 4.74% 100% 0% Compliant 100% 0% Compliant 98.68% Compliant

Lifts 0 BLOCK LIFTS CBC&CBH| 100% 0% 100% 0% c 100.00% 0% C 99.93% [ €




Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Appendix D (KPI report)

Cabinet Housing Committee Performance Report

Anti Sacial Behaviour

Benefit and Money Advice

Community Investment

Complaints

Customer Services

EmptyHomes

Estate Services

Howuszing Peverues

Howsing Suppart

Maonthly

Cluarterly

Manthly

Cluarterly

Maonthly

Cluarterly

Manthly

Manthly

Gluarterly

Manthly

Manthly

g2

10183

101ES

1287

12554

12483

12824

10167

10130

10245

12767

435

12860

12874

12885

12825

12526

12716

10066

10065

1007z

10365

12644

1zgzz

10010

10012

10017

10030

10031

03z

12545

10154

10155

12803

Mumber of ASE cazes cpened
Mumber of ASE caszes clozed
Mumber of live sases at manth end

TSM Mumber of new ASE cazes opened thatinvolve hate incidents per thouzand
properties

TSM Mumber of new A5E cazes opened per thousand properties

Mumber of evictions far ASE

TSM: tenants satisfied with landlord approach to handling anti-social beh aviour
Income generated on behalf of customer vear to date

Mumbser of new Berefit and Money cases

Amourt of Bent Arrears Cleared wearto date £5

TSM % tenants satisfied CBC listens to their view s and acts upon them

T5M Stage 1complaints relative to the size of the landlord

T5M Complaints progressing to stage 2 relative to the size of the landlard

TSM Complaints rezponded to within Camplaint Handling Code timescales Stage 2
TSM Complaints responded to within Camplaint Handling Code timescales Stage 1
TSM 3 tenants satisfied with landlard appraach to handling complaints

Total number of contact centre calls handled

. Contact Centre Calls Answered within 60 seconds

Average time taken to relet minor void CBC properties (excluding F& and JOC) in
days

. Pent lost through CBC dw ellings becoming vacant excluding temp furnished

fverage Time Taken ta Relet Major Void and Option App CEC properties
[excluding FA and JOC) in days

Woid Mumbers
Mumber of downsizers moved

TSM = satisfaction of tenants with communal areas about the maintenance of the
afeas

Current arrears as ¥ of rentalincome [excluding court costs]

Currert temant arrears level (including court costs)

Current Mumber of Arrears

Former tenant armears amount linchudes court costs)

Former tenant armears no. of cases over £10

Former tenant arrears cash collected lincludes court castz)

Mumber of Evictions due ta rent arears

. Sheltered accommodation residents with a support plan

+ of sheltered accommadation alarm system calls answered within 3 minutes

2 HSO weekly fire tests completed

E.00

100

0.00

0.21

128

0.00

E3.06

A7E217.13

5100

2423378

E9.50

362

085

100,00

30.91

3564

2ETE0D

£9.93

15213

261

455,00

1E4.00

100

TE1S

204

628,552.40

1.334.00

26452698

27800

E279.21

0.00

00.00

2a.m

00.00

4.00

0.00

33.00

0.00

0.55

58012514

53.00

28.583.78

.03

0.2

100,00

85.71

4,059.00

a0.00

1287

268

229.75

7200

0.00

229

531179.82

1487.00

267,299.16

28200

4ET2

0.00

00,00

987

00,00

12.00

000

105.00

000

256

102773046

40000

IR

B39

043

100,00

9655

2.410,00

8243

12,00

253

2703

EE.OD

000

130

433857177

1,223.00

288,732.14

230,00

3EERIZ

000

00,00

LA

00,00

2.00

4.00

10300

0.00

0.42

100

59.35

1160,336.20

G200

AT

B8

446

106

100.00

100.00

40.00

4,029.00

8743

136.52

268

24967

1E2.00

2.00

TE.26

214

553,898.24

1.407.00

27383227

23300

E.BR2ED

0.00

00.00

9629

00.00

Performance date June 2025 - September 2025 (Inclusive)

30,00

0.21

E.37

100

E132

1.160,336.20

303.00

AT

B5.52

3.00

1.06

3412

714

39.36

23,362.00

2968

129.50

268

24295

162,00

F.00

TE.21

214

653,898.24

1407.00

27382227

242.00

32,595.02

0.00

00,00

9226

00,00

¢TT obed



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee 26 November 2025

Investment and Technical Cluarterly 12831
12832

Responsive Repairs Manthly 10046
10047

10045

10043

12810

12836

12936

Cluarterly 12817

12518

Tenancy Management Manthly 12605
12663

12671

Cluarterly 12775

12820

12821

12823

Training and Emplayment Manthly 0176

10350

TSM: tenants satisfaction that the home iz safe

8318
T5M* tenants satisfaction that the home is well maintained
a1.25
TSM = of emergency repairs completed within target
8671
% of urgent repairs completed within target
9418
% of routine repairs completed within target
4785
* of programmed repairs completed within target (30 days)
0.o0
TSM ¥ of non emergency repairs completed within target
a7.1a
Housemark TSM % of repairs completed within target
9577
Tatal Mumber of TSM Responsive Repairs
1017.00
TSM 3 zatisfaction with a repair in the last 12 months prior to the survey LCRA
G054
TSM i satisfaction with the time taken to complete repair in the last 12 months
2161
Adult Safequarding - Mumber Referrals Made to GCC during Period
£.00
Adult Safequarding - Mumber Referr als accepted by GCC
5.00
Child Safeguarding - Number Referrals Made to GCC in Period
4.00
TSM Ouverall tznant satisfaction (4]
T2.ED
TSM ¥ tenants feeling landlord keeps them informed about things that matter to
them
£4.88
TSM ¥ tenants feeling landlord treats them Fairly and with respect
473
TSM ¥ tenants satisfied that CBC makes a positive contribution to the
nieighbourhood
TT.8E
Mumber of Employment Initiatives service users entering work
4.00
Emplayment Initiatives caselaad per manth
116.00

00

98.08

95.98

99.28

9566

621

1.056.00

2.00

2.00

100

.00

12600

]

00

97.06

9327

9456

5.09

B3z

2.00

2.00

0.00

.00

142.00

8326

201E

9285

9753

95.32

100

9451

9439

8h62

a7

2.00

2.00

1.00

20.54

Ta72

a4.82

T

4.00

145.00

83.22

80T

a1

925

721

9348

9567

9526

5,655.00

a3

8133

2200

22.00

200

TAE3

fz202

472

407

.00

202,00

vy TT obed



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 8
Page 115

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee — 26 November 2025

Housing Services Health and Safety Report

Accountable member:
Clir Flo Clucas, Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services
Accountable officer:

Andy Tootell, Health & Safety Manager, andy.tootell@cheltenham.gov.uk

Executive summary:

The report seeks to draw together the work that has been undertaken during the period of July 2025 —
September 2025, whether it was successful, and identifies the current tasks and challenges being
faced.

Recommendations:

1. The Cabinet Housing Committee is requested to note the information within the report.

1 Background

2.1 The focus during this reporting period has included the following:
e Undertake a full inventory check and inspections of all equipment used by Building
Services
e Deliver HHSRS training to several TMOs and surveyors
¢ H&S audit undertaken by Ubico compliance team

2 Main content

Page 1 of 7


mailto:andy.tootell@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 116

2.1 Health and Safety Incidents — April 2025 to September 2025

10 Incident Statistics 2025/26

2 |
Jul Sept Oct

Apr May June Aug Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

mRIDDORS  mNon-RIDDORS RTI's m Unacceptable mHouse Fires  m Near Misses Dangerous Occurence
Behaviour

2.2 July 2025 - September 2025 Incident Narrative

Month Incident Type No
RIDDOR 0

Non-RIDDOR 2

Jul Near Miss 0
Dangerous Occurrence 0

Unacceptable Behaviour 4

RTI 0

Fires 1

RIDDOR 0

Non-RIDDOR 0

Near Miss 0

Aug Dangerous Occurrence 0
Unacceptable Behaviour 2

RTI 0

Fires 0

RIDDOR 0

Page 2 of 7



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 117

Non-RIDDOR 1
Near Miss 0
Sept Dangerous Occurrence 0
Unacceptable Behaviour 3
RTI 4
Fires 0
2.3 Monthly Injury Causation — April 2025 to September 2025
Monthly Injury Causation 2025/26
10
9
B
7
5
3
2
1
: I
Apr May June Jul Aug Sept Oct Mov Dec Jan Feb Mar

m Slips, trip or fall

m Manual handling

m Contact with moving object

m Contact with a hot object

Contact with stationary object

m Physical assult

2.4 April 2022 to September 2025 Trend Graph

3yrs + Current Year Trend Graph

55

50

45

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

RIDDORS

Non-RIDDORS RTl's

Unacceptable
Behaviour

Page 3 of 7

m Utility strikes

House Fires

Contact with a sharp object

Near Misses

m Trapped/Crused

m Animal attack

w2022 -

2023 - 24

2024 -

2025 -

Dangerous Occurence



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 118

2.5 April 2022 to September 2025 Injury Causation Trend Graph

Injury Causation 3yr Trend and Current Year

2.6 Health and Safety Audit
Ubico Compliance Team have completed their audit of Building Services H&S.

We are currently going through each item actioning any areas of concern. It is worth
noting that we were already aware of most of the issues raised and already have plans
in place to action them.

3 Conclusion
Currently, there are no reports or areas identified as significant concerns to the general health

and safety of colleagues or others within Housing Services. This will continue to be monitored
through a series of audits and inspections, ensuring that health and safety remains at the
forefront of Housing Services activities.

4 Key risks

4.1 Please refer to appendix 1.

Report author:

Andy Tootell, Health and Safety Manager, Housing Services, andy.tootell@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

i Risk Assessment

Page 4 of 7


mailto:andy.tootell@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

CH6

we fail to meet regulatory
and legal requirements,
specifically the Regulator
for Social Housing
consumer standards and
the Housing Ombudsman
Complaints Handling

regulatory judgment
issued.

- Effective oversight of
regulatory performance
by senior officers,
Cabinet and Housing

Risk | Risk description Risk Impact | Likelihood | Initial raw | Risk Controls / Mitigating | Control / Deadline for
ref owner score score risk score | respons | actions Action controls/
e owner actions
(1-5) (1-5) (1-25)
CH4 | Housing Properties Health | Claire 5 3 15 Reduce - Clear health & safety | Claire Ongoing
& Safety - If we do not Hughes; procedures in place Hughes
manage health and safety with evidence these
management of our Paul are followed.
housing properties, then Jones
we may be putting tenant - Regular independent
at risk of serious injury or assurance that health
death. and safety is being
management ;_,U
effectively. «Q
@
- Effective oversight of |':
health and safety ©
performance by senior
officers, Cabinet and
Housing Cabinet
committee.
Housing Regulatory & Claire 4 3 12 Reduce | - Self-referral made to | Claire Ongoing
Legal Requirements — If Hughes regulator — no Hughes




Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Risk
ref

Risk description

Risk
owner

Impact
score

(1-5)

Likelihood
score

(1-5)

Initial raw
risk score

(1 - 25)

Risk
respons
e

Controls / Mitigating
actions

Control /
Action
owner

Deadline for
controls/
actions

Code then this may result

in intervention and
reputational damage.

cabinet committee.

- Delivery of
Improvement Plan

- External expertise in
place to support
compliance with the
standards including
mock inspection.

- Annual self-
assessment of
compliance with the
Complaints Handling
Code (published to
tenants and HO.

- New resource added
to the improvement
programme team

-External expertise has
been engaged on
policy development,
compliance strategy
and data validation

- Full review of

02T abed




Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Risk | Risk description Risk Impact | Likelihood | Initial raw | Risk Controls / Mitigating | Control / Deadline for
ref owner score score risk score | respons | actions Action controls/
e owner actions
(1-5) (1-5) (1-25)

consumer standards
gap analysis is
underway

- Inspection readiness
evidence bank is being
created

T2T obed



This page is intentionally left blank



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 9
Page 123

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee — 26 November 2025

Housing Improvement Programme

Accountable member:
Clir Flo Clucas, Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services
Accountable officer:

Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and Communities

Executive summary:

A report to update the Cabinet Housing Committee on the Council’s housing improvement programme.
Providing a copy of the self- assessment against the consumer standards and feedback from Housing
Quality Network on that self-assessment

The report also sets out the governance arrangements for the programme.
Recommendations:

1. That the Cabinet Housing Committee notes the report.

1 Background
1.1 This report is to update the committee on the Council’'s housing improvement programme.

1.2 The Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 introduced new consumer standards, which came into
effect on 1 April 2024. From this date, the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) transitioned from a
reactive approach, where it could only investigate consumer issues in cases of ‘serious detriment’, to
a proactive regulatory model.

1.3 As a result, the Council is now subject to inspections by the RSH. Following any inspection, landlords
are graded from C1 to C4, with C1 indicating full compliance and effective delivery of outcomes, and

C4 indicating significant areas of concern.

1.4 To ensure compliance and readiness for inspection, the Council has established a Housing
Improvement Programme, led by the Director of Governance, Housing and Communities. The

Page 1 of 6



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 124

programme not only aims to meet the new standards but also sets out an action plan to position the
Council for a C1 assessment.

2 Governance

2.1 The programme is overseen by the Housing Improvement Team, which acts as the programme
board. This team comprises specialists, workstream leads, and a project manager, and meets
monthly to:

o Review progress against workstream action plans

. Consider risks and issues

. Ensure alignment with the Council’s digital roadmap, with input from the Head of Digital
Development and Programme Office

2.2 The programme is structured around four workstreams, aligned with the four consumer standards:

1. Safety and Quality

2.  Transparency, Influence and Accountability
3.  Neighbourhood and Community

4, Tenancy

2.3 Each workstream is led by designated officers responsible for:

. Oversight and delivery of the action plan
o Logging and maintaining evidence for inspection
o Reporting progress via monthly highlight reports to the programme board

2.4 Starting January 2026, quarterly reports will be presented to this committee. These reports will
include:

. A summary of key highlights from the previous quarter
. Progress against actions (expressed as a percentage)
o Key risks and issues

This will enable members, tenants, and leaseholders, via their representatives or the public question
process, to effectively scrutinise the Council’s improvement journey.

Update reports will also be presented directly to the Tenant Panel and Leaseholder Panel.
3 Self-Assessment

3.1 In August, the Council completed a self-assessment against the consumer standards, identifying
areas of strength and those requiring further improvement to achieve compliance. A copy of the self-
assessment is attached at Appendix 2.

3.2 To validate the findings, the Council commissioned the Housing Quality Network (HQN) to review the
evidence and conduct meetings with relevant staff. This review has now concluded, and a feedback
session has taken place.

Page 2 of 6



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 125

3.3 The feedback from HQN was as expected. It highlighted areas where we are doing well and areas
for improvement. We were pleased that the areas of improvement aligned with those we had already
identified.

3.4 In summary they identified:

» Evidence across most areas was well-organised and well-labelled

+ Self-Assessments were fair, and identified areas of challenge

+ Self-Assessment on safety and quality needs to include more detail around repairs, maintenance
and planned improvements and aids and adaptations

* Overarching documents showing governance, structure for tenant input, etc were helpful

» Staff involved in workshops were knowledgeable, helpful and engaged

* In some areas policies etc are still CBH which need to be updated

* In HQN’s opinion the compliance strategy is an excellent foundational document

* Very good TSMs will be helpful in your story

3.5 Some key areas for improvement against each of the standards are set out as follows:

Standard Area for Improvement
Safety and Quality ¢ Need to confirm decent homes/HHSRS/EPC
position

o Compliance

strategy was o Asset management strategy needs updating
highlighted as ¢ Need to confirm if stock condition survey covers
excellent. 100% of the stock and includes
internal/external/communal areas/
e TSM results are ¢ Insufficient evidence on repairs
very good e Aids and adaptations needs more work
Transparency, Influence e Capture training records for staff e.g. those who
and Accountability have attended equalities training etc
« Voice plan e Complete the work on updating the single equality
identified as being a scheme
great document e Provide evidence of where we have changed
things because we agreed that a process was
e Good TSMs unfair
e Complete the work on updating the tenant
e Good tenant handbook — set out our timescales for doing this
engagement ¢ Include timescales in the self-assessment for
updating the website
e Excellent annual e Identify a programme for developing our service
report standards with tenants
Neighbourhood and e Good partnership work but we need to evidence it
Community more
« Lots of good e Publish things like cleaning and maintenance
schedules

partnership work
¢ Invite residents to join estate inspections on a

regular basis

Page 3 of 6



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 126

e Consider developing a policy on promoting
wellbeing
e Finish work on updating the domestic abuse policy

Tenancy ¢ Need better data on aids and adaptations — do we
know how many homes we have that have been
adapted?

e Ensure KPI reporting includes the numbers of
tenants downsizing

e (Good policies in
place

e Fraud work is good

o Lots of good
support work done
directly through
CBC

3.6 Overall, whilst the feedback does highlight areas of improvement these were, in the main, areas
which the Council had already identified and for which there are relevant action plans in place.

3.7 We will now spend the coming weeks completing as many of the actions as we can. Where work is
required over a longer period, detailed plans with timescales will be put in place. To provide further
validation and assurance of our position we will then undergo a full mock inspection early in the new
year. The outcome of which will be reported to this committee.

4 Key risks

See risk assessment at Appendix 1.

Report author:
Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and Communities

claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:
1. Risk Assessment
2. Self-Assessment against consumer standards

Page 4 of 6


mailto:claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Risk ref | Risk description Risk owner Impact Likelihood Initial Risk Controls / Mitigating | Control / Deadline for
score score raw risk | response actions Action owner | controls/
score (1 actions
(1-5) (1-5) - 25)
1. If we do not have Director of 4 3 12 Reduce Workshops Director of Ongoing
relevant evidence of | Governance, completed with Governance,
compliance with the | Housing and relevant officers to Housing and
consumer standards | Communities capture data. Communities
then we may receive
regulatory HQN reviewed self
intervention assessment and
action plan
o
New improvement 8
team in place and @
linked to digital 5
roadmap project ~
2. If we do not have Director of 2 2 4 Accept Quarterly reporting Director of January 2026
regular reports to Governance, in place Governance,
committee on our Housing and Housing and
improvement journey | Communities Communities
then there is a risk
that we are not
complying with the
Transparency,
Influence and
Accountability
Standard




Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

interdependencies
are not identified
resulting in delays in
delivery

Risk ref | Risk description Risk owner Impact Likelihood Initial Risk Controls / Mitigating | Control / Deadline for
score score raw risk | response actions Action owner | controls/
score (1 actions
(1-5) (1-5) - 25)
3. If we do not link the Director of 2 2 4 Accept Process in place Director of Completed

housing Governance, with Head of Digital Governance,

improvement project | Housing and Development and Housing and

to the digital Communities Programme Office | Communities

roadmap then there attending

is a risk that relevant programme board

meetings

8¢T obed




Page 129

CONSUMER STANDARDS
SELF ASSESSMENT




Contents

1.
2.
3.

Lo oY U034 1o ] o TS

REZULATOIY CONTEXE «.eieniiiiieii ettt ettt et e e et s e ta e e een s etaa s eeeneseeneserenneeenes

Self-AsSESSMENT APPIOACKH ...ceeii ittt et e e s e e e e e e e ees

Safety and Quality STANAArd .......ivuiiiiiii et et e e e e e e e e e e e e eas

Overview ...

Findings.....

Opportunities for further iMProvemMENT ........oe it e e e e e e

Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard........ccceiviiiiiiiiiiiininir s

Overview ...

Findings.....

Opportunities for further IMProvVEMENT ......ouiiiiiiii e e e e e e e eans

Neighbourhood and Community Standard ........c.ceeuiiniiiiiiiiii et eens

Overview ...

Findings.....

Opportunities for further IMProvVEMENT ......cuiiiiiie et e e e e e e e eans

TENANCY STANAAIA ..eeeiiiiinii ettt ettt et et st s e e e s enennenesansensensansannanns

Overview ...

Findings.....

Opportunities for fUrther iMProVEMENT .....cu i e e sesaea e e aaaaas

Conclusion



Page 131

1. Introduction

Cheltenham Borough Council is committed to preparing an annual self-assessment against the
regulatory requirements for Registered Providers. This report provides an overview of regulatory
content and observations on compliance.

The self-assessment identifies areas where our housing services are meeting the standards and
makes recommendations for consideration to strengthen areas where further work is required.

2. Regulatory Context

The Regulator of Social Housing (“RSH”) is responsible for ensuring that social landlords deliver
services against the consumer standards.

The Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 brought in a proactive role for the RSH on regulating
the consumer standards. With effect from 1st April 2024, it gave the RSH new powers to inspect
and to intervene when they believe necessary. The regulator also has new enforcement powers
and tools to do so.

The RSH will now regulate the consumer standards through a programme of inspection.
Following inspection, the RSH will issue a consumer grading of between C1 and C4.

The council will be inspected within a four-year period (by April 2028). In addition to
programmed inspections, the council is required to make self-referrals on all material issues
that relate to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the consumer standards.

This self-assessment provides a comprehensive assessment against the regulatory standards
and makes recommendations on areas of improvement which will be captured and monitored
through our Housing Improvement Programme.

3. Self-Assessment Approach

This self-assessment has been conducted against the RSH consumer standards and the RSH
Code of Practice that provides further guidance on the expectations and considerations for
Registered Providers.

The self-assessment process has been directed by the Director of Governance, Housing and
Communities.

The review has been conducted by the Housing Improvement Team, via a mixture of desktop
reviews and facilitated workshops with relevant officers.

External support has been provided Pennington Choices Limited and the Housing Quality
Network.

The self-assessment will be published and made available to our tenants.



Page 132

4. Safety and Quality Standard

Overview

We have made good progress against this standard over the past twelve months, implementing
new systems and monitoring regimes to ensure that safety standards are met. Where our
compliance figures are not 100%, we are actively addressing this.

However, there remains several actions to bring us up to a fully compliant position, including
completion of legacy fire actions.

The overall satisfaction with our repairs service remains positive, our tenant satisfaction
measures (TSMs) identified that 81.9% of respondents who have received a repair in the last 12
months were satisfied with the time taken and 81.8% satisfied with the overall repairs service.
78.8% of respondents reported that they are satisfied that their home is safe.

The following section provides an overview of how well we meet the standards.

Findings
Health and Safety

e A Compliance Monitoring Group meets monthly and oversees our performance against
all statutory safety requirements. This is supported externally by Pennington Choices
Limited and HQN. Our newly development compliance reports are also discussed at
the monthly housing operations meeting and reported to the Cabinet Housing
Committee on a quarterly basis.

e We have a compliance strategy place, and all of our policies are up to date, having been
approved in July 2025. Our policies are supported by written procedures and process
maps.

o Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) have now moved to a smoothed rolling programme
meaning that we will no longer find ourselves in a position of large numbers of fire
actions and one time. The assessments are conducted in accordance with current
legislation & good practice guidance. The QL system has now been developed to ensure
that we are able to effectively track actions, preventing the use of manually generated
spreadsheets

e 99.63% of our stock has an EICR certificate within the last five-years with zero properties
outside of ten-years. To achieve 100%, we have a fully funded Electrical Testing
programme in operation to ensure that within the next 18 months, all homes will have
been tested within a five-year period. Our HRA includes provision to maintain a five-year
inspection cycle.

o We are 100% compliant with legislation regarding lifts in buildings and all statutory
inspection requirements are met annually.

e Comprehensive gas safety inspections are in place with 99.91% of our homes
compliant. The four outstanding properties are currently going through the legal process
to secure access.

o We are 100% compliant on water safety.

o \We have asbestos surveys for all required premises under the Duty to Manage and
strong procedures support asbestos management during repair, refurbishment and
demolition works. We separate contracts in place for surveyors and removal works as
well as a third contractor for assurance.



Page 133

We have a Damp, Mould and Condensation policy in place and are working towards
actively reporting on the number of live cases via our compliance report.

Stock Condition

We are working through a programme of stock conditions surveys for all of our stock.
72% of our stock has had a condition survey within the past 12 months, with a target to
reach 100% by December 2025.

From 2026 we will move to a rolling stock condition programme, surveying 20% of our
stock each year, ensuring that all properties will always have been surveyed within a 5-
year period.

The existing Asset management strategy is out of date and requires reviewing and
updating. This work is in progress.

The data from our stock condition surveys is now being used to develop our planned
maintenance programme, upon which we will be seeking to engage our tenants.

Repairs, Planned Maintenance and Adaptations

Our approach to damp, mould and condensation is defined through our policy.
Performance is monitored using QL and datahub and will be reported as part of our
compliance processes

Our repairs and emergency out of hours service is easy to access 24/7, with a range of
ways to report a repair available for all customers to meet their needs.

Opportunities for further improvement

Complete the overdue fire actions as a priority.

In consultation with our tenants develop a repairs policy

Update our tenant handbook

Complete a review of our DMC policy and reporting to ensure we are fully compliant with
Awaabs law

Conduct an appraisal of QL to explore its functionality and to understand the gap
between where it is now, and where it needs to be to support the end-to-end delivery of
all compliance programmes.

Implement a rolling programme of stock condition surveys on at least a five-year basis
to ensure that data remains up to date and accurate to allow you to address any issues
of non-decency and assist in future planning.

Ensure regular, documented contract management meetings take place to cover
standard areas such as performance, competency, complaints and so on,

Ensure competency checks are undertaken across all contracts (at least annually), to
demonstrate that your contractors, and any subcontractors they use, continue to have
the competencies and accreditations you expect.

Implement a formal and coordinated approach to informing residents about each area
of compliance by developing a communications plan which sets out how and when
information will be provided.



Page 134

5. Transparency, Influence and Accountability
Standard

Overview

An assessment against the standard demonstrates that the service is performing well in some
areas. There is evidence of tenant engagement but in some places, this is not co-ordinated or
fed back to tenants. Therefore, it is difficult to demonstrate that the councilis truly ensuring
that investment and service delivery is directed towards tenants’ priorities.

Our TSMs indicate that 67% of respondents stated that they were satisfied that their landlord
listens to tenant views and acts upon them. Whilst this is above the sector average of 62% it’s
an indication that there is more we can do.

Findings

e Our Tenant Engagement Plan offers a wide range of ways to get involved and the level of
tenant engagement continues to develop.

e Our Cabinet Housing Committee, live streamed via YouTube and available on our
website provides an opportunity for tenants and elected members to provide scrutiny
and challenge on areas such as performance, complaints, policies and working
practices.

o We publish an Annual Tenants Report that provides an overview of how we spend
tenant’s rent and strategic priorities.

e TSMs are published in line with regulatory requirements. We are compliant with the
Housing Ombudsman’s recommended approach to complaint handling. Our
complaints policy is published and easily accessible and our performance is scrutinised
by our Cabinet Housing Committee.

e All our policies include an equality impact assessment

e Our corporate values and employee code of conduct clearly set out the councils’
expectations regarding staff behaviour and conduct, including upholding the Nolan
principles.

Opportunities for further improvement

e Finalise and publish our customer promise and customer charter

e Develop and publish service standards

e Update the single equality scheme

e Develop a contractor’s code of conduct, clearly setting out our expectations for
contractor’s conduct

e Ensure that we follow up actions from our tenant scrutiny work and publish the
outcomes

e Develop a communications and engagement calendar

e Develop a clear communications protocol so tenants are clear on the ways we can
communicate with them.

e Update our tenant handbook to be more accessible

e Develop arepairs policy which clearly sets out our approach to repairs, including where
these are rechargeable



Page 135

e Actively publish our cleaning and grounds maintenance schedules

6. Neighbourhood and Community Standard

Overview

An assessment against the Neighbourhood and Community Standard shows that the service is
performing well in many areas. Guided by tenant feedback we are actively undertaking a review
of our ASB services.

We work well with a range of partners to keep our neighbourhoods safe and our work on the
Home Office Clear, Hold, Build initiative (Endeavour) has been recognised as best practice
across the south-west.

We are active partners in a wide range of partnerships, some examples include weekly multi
agency meetings with the police and social care, facing hardship group, safeguarding boards,
combatting drugs partnership, serious and organised crime group, community safety
partnership and safe estates group.

Local lettings plans are used where appropriate as an effective neighbourhood management
tool.

Findings

e An estate walkabouts programme operates monthly. This is supplemented with Housing
Leadership Team walkabouts which also take place monthly.

e Our ASB team actively manage breaches of Tenancy through collaborative working with
Housing Officers and in partnership with Gloucestershire Police.

e Our Anti-Social Behaviour Policy was updated in July 2025 and sets out our approach to
dealing with ASB including Hate Crime and the range of enforcement actions tailored to
risk.

e Our TSM score for satisfaction with ASB remains relatively static, but we hope to see an
improvement is this next year as we progress with our ASB review

e Endeavour, Gloucestershire’s approach to Clear, Hold, Build has been a huge success
and has been recognised as best practice across the southwest of England.

Opportunities for further improvement

e Conclude our ASB review
e More proactively promote the use of advocates
e Develop a community cohesion policy

7. Tenancy Standard

Overview

Our assessment against the Tenancy Standard is that we are generally performing well, with
good understanding of housing need. We can demonstrate a history of supporting tenants in
their home and focusing on helping tenants sustain their tenancies.



Page 136

There are many examples across the service where housing services have worked with a range
of internal and external partners to support tenants.

Findings

o We allocate homes in a fair and transparent manner in line with Homeseeker Plus and
work with other Registered Providers who operate within the borough.

e Our Tenancy Policy was updated in July 2025

e We have policies and process in place for tackling tenancy fraud and actively carry out
fraud related activities such as NFI matches and reviewing the housing waiting list
bandings

e We have an active downsizing scheme to encourage best use of our stock and to assist
with dealing with overcrowding and under occupancy

o We are part of the county wide initiative to create a single accessible housing register,
although we acknowledge that significant work is required to bring this to fruition

e A number of teams and initiatives are in place to support the sustainment of tenancies
including specialist tenancy investment officers, our benefits and money advice team
and our training and employment service

e Ourtenancy audits provide a rolling tenancy review programme, based on level of risk,
which enables housing officers to provide a support visit to all tenants in their home.
These audits allow our team to provide support and advice to our tenants and where
required to make appropriate referrals for tenants.

e With the exception of 5 affordable units, we only provide secure tenancies and at the
time of sign up our empty properties team provide support to ensure tenants
understand their Tenancy Agreement and provide information on a range of services and
support mechanisms.

e The council provides a mutual exchange service through Home Swapper free of charge
for all tenants.

Opportunities for further improvement

e |mplement a programme for assessing all our properties to establish accessibility and
grade them accordingly then ensure that this data is reflected in the lettings adverts on
Homeseeker Plus

e |Implement a process to ensure that all adaptations are accurately recorded on our QL
housing management system

e Update the leaflet on downsizing initiatives

e Develop an annual report for the Cabinet Housing Committee demonstrating work done
on sustaining tenancies

e More proactively promote the mutual exchange service

8. Conclusion

In conclusion there is evidence of good performance in many areas. However, where gaps exist
these could result in the council receiving a lower consumer standards grade. Itis therefore
essential that we proactively work through the housing improvement programme, completing
the identified actions as a matter of corporate priority.



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 10
Page 137

Cheltenham Borough Council

Cabinet Housing Committee — 26 November 2025

Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) 6 monthly update

Accountable member:

Clir Flo Clucas, Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services
Accountable officer:

Caroline Walker, Director of Housing, Customer Services and Communities
Executive summary:

The purpose of this report is to inform Housing Committee members of the results of Tenant Satisfaction
Measure results for quarter 1 and quarter 2 2025/26 and to outline activities being developed to address
areas of dissatisfaction.

Recommendations:

1. That the report is noted by Cabinet Housing Committee.

1. Background

1.Members are reminded that tenant satisfaction surveys are carried out independently on the
council’s behalf, 250 tenants are contacted each quarter so that a representative sample of tenant
perceptions and opinions is obtained. Most tenants (around 80%) give permission for the council to
contact them to discuss areas of dissatisfaction further. These dissatisfied customers are contacted
to better understand areas of concern and the feedback used for learning and improvement.

2. Main content
Key messages from the survey results include:

o 82% tenants are satisfied with the overall service provided by the council (an increase of 3% from
quarter 1)

Several satisfaction areas achieved satisfaction above 80%, these included:

o Well maintained Homes
e Safe Home

o Repairs Last 12 Months
o Time taken repairs

e Kept Informed

e Fairly and with respect

Page 1 of 3



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 138

In contrast, tenants were less satisfied in three areas (below 70%)

e how the council listen to tenant’s views and acts upon them (65%)
e the approach to dealing with ASB (63%)
e Satisfaction with the handling of complaints (41%) which is an increase of 4% from Q1

Follow up calls have been made to all dissatisfied tenants and contact established with 34 tenants. The
key areas for dissatisfaction were repairs and planned maintenance, where possible individual tenant
concerns have been resolved.

The estate services team are working in addressing the dissatisfaction with the cleaning of communal
areas and the following activities are in progress:

e There are plans to carry out communal planting at James Donovan Court
e There are plans to carry out painting in communal blocks, including Scott and Edward Wilson
House

The complaints team has recognised that the SMS text surveys are delivering a poor response rate and
the team are not getting feedback regarding complaints handling. As a result of this the complaints team
will look to arrange and conduct complaints scrutiny meetings with tenants with direct experience of
making a complaint.

3. Performance Overview — Quarter 2 results

82% of tenants were satisfied with the overall service in Q2, an increase of 3 % from Q1

80% of tenants believe kept informed, decrease of 5% from Q1

84% of tenants believe treated fairly and with respect, decrease of 1% from Q1

83% believe their home is safe, 83% satisfaction in Q1

82% satisfied with time taken to complete repairs, 82% satisfaction in Q1

87% satisfaction with repairs in the last 12 months, which is an increase of 6% from Q1
4. Key risks

¢ Reputational damage and loss of public confidence
e Reduced tenant satisfaction and engagement.

Report author:

Caroline Walker, Director of Housing, Customer Services and Communities,
caroline.walker@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

i. Risk Assessment
i. Q1 TSM Tracker report
iii. Q2 TSM tracker report

Page 2 of 3


mailto:caroline.walker@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

Communities

improvements and
communicate these
to tenants.

Risk Risk description Risk owner | Impact | Likelihood | Initial Risk Controls / Control / Deadline for
ref score | score raw risk | response Mitigating actions | Action controls/
score owner actions
(1-5) (1-5)
(1-25)
Reputational damage Caroline Follow up calls to Natasha Annually
arising from poor tenant | Walker, dissatisfied tenants Dhillon,
satisfaction Director of 3 3 9 Reduce the | and identify common | Complaints
Housing, risk themes. Liaise with | Officer
Customer Service Managers to
Service and identify

6ST obed




This page is intentionally left blank



Quarter 1

Annual Customer Satisfaction
Feedback Report 2025/2026



Key TSM Metrics
Overall Satisfaction

Good Repair

Engagement

Complaints

Wellbeing

Summary

Introduction CHELTENHAM

Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) owns and manages around 4,500 LCRA properties, as well as a small number of
LCHO properties. Acuity has been commissioned to undertake quarterly independent satisfaction surveys of the tenants of
Cheltenham Borough Council, to collect data on their opinions of, and attitudes towards, their landlord and the services
provided.

The survey was designed using the Tenant Satisfaction Measures from the Regulator of Social Housing, which became
mandatory to collect in April 2023 and are now an annual requirement going forward. Every quarter, tenants are contacted
and nvited to take part in a telephone interview. The survey is designed lo collect the views of approximately 221 LCRA
tenants per quarter, proportionalely sampled by tenure type, area, and age. This report for Q1 2025/2028 presents an
analysis of the results based on 221 completed surveys, as well as 10 incomplele surveys, which are required to be included
in the report by the Regulator.

The telephone survey is confidential, and the results are sent back to CBC anonymized unless tenants give their permission
to be identified — 84% of tenants did give permission to share their responses with their detalls attached and 96% of these
tenants are happy for CBC to contact them fo discuss any comments or issues they raised.

This survey aims to provide data on tenanls’' satisfaction, which will allow CBC to:

* Pravide information on tenants' perceptions of current services

« Compare the results with previous surveys, where possible

« Compare the results with other landlords (in a separate annual report)
* Inform decisions regarding future service development

» Report to the Regulator annually as reguired.

For the overall resulls, Acuity and the Regulator of Soclal Housing recommend that landlords with under 10,000 properties
achieve a sampling error of at least +4% at the 95% confidence level. For this quarter, 221 completed responses were
received, and this response is high enough to conclude thal the findings are accurate to within £6 4% for the quarter and
+3.4% annually. For there to be a statistically significant difference In results, the change from Q4 to Q1 will need to be
above 13 percentage points (p.p) and annually would need to be greater than Gp.p.

MNote: The majority of figures throughout the report show the results as percentages. As percentages are rounded up or
down from two decimal places in the results file to the nearest whole number, they may not alway's total 100%. Rounding
can also cause percentages described in the supporting text fo differ from the percentages in the charts by 1% when two
percentages are added together. The charls also show the base for each question shown as n=.




79% TSM Key Metrics
Services Provided "

Keeping Properties in Good Repair Respectful & Helpful Engagement

In G111, ¥9% of tenants are satisfied with the

overall service provided by CBC, a fall of 3 al,

percentag (p-p) since the last survey & Well Maintained Home 81% 'Q' Listens & Acts
S -
The highest satisfaction is for the way CBC
treats its tenants fairly and with respect, and
for keeping tenants informed, both at 85%
this quarter. Satisfaction with four other
measures also score in the 80% range; well
maintained home, safe home, the repairs
senvice In the last 12 months, and the time

taken for repairs. _. Repairs Last 12 Months Fairly & with Respect

Including satisfaction with the overall service,

four measures fall in the 70% range, with just

two scoring below this level. Satisfaction with

f1e Afpman jo AGH b i i kx4 Time Taken Repairs 82% Q Complaints Handling
decrease of Zp.p against last guarter, and _
satisfaction with complaint handling is just

39%, although this is an increase of 2p.p

Hica N Jast alw/oy. Responsible Neighbourhood Management

Safe Home Kept Informed

BE " 1
=

Communal ’_'i.  Neighbourhood Approach to
Areas 76% [y 4 Contribution 78% ASB




Overall Satisfaction

into account, how satisfied or dissatisfied

Tenants were asked, “Taking averything @g

are you with the service provided by

43%
6%

Cheftenham Borough Councii?” This is the
key metric In any tenan! parceplion survey.
Just under four-fifths of tenants (79%) are
satisfied with the overali service provided 0% To% 5o
by CBC, with mare very satisfied than ﬁ
satisfied: 43% compared with 36%. - -

_ Very satisfied  Fairly satiefied Meither  Fairy dissatisfied Very dissatisfied * Satisfied - Neither = Dissatisfied
Just 12% of lenants are dissallsfled with

the overall setvice and a further 10% gave
a neufrat score; ﬂ\]

Satisfaction with overall service has been
fairly consistent over the lasl two years,
ranging from-a high of 83% to a low of
78%, and has reduced by 3p.p from the last
sUrvey.

T0%

Q2202324 Q3202324 Q420224 Q12024/25 Q2202425 Q32024125 Q4202425 Q1 2005126
\_ (n=221) (n=229) (n=232) (n=236) (n=237) (n=226) (n=231) (=229) /




The majonty (80%) of the 225 comments
regarding satisfaction with the overall service
from CBC. are positive, and includs
compliments sbout the repairs service and
those who deliver this service. For example,
"They are good. If | ever wanted anything,
hey have been on the ball".

Conversely, and accounting for around a fifth
of the comments received, there are issues
raised with the time laken lo complete repairs,
and repairs which tenants feel have been
forgotien. In-addition, there are a-small
number of issues with the quality of repairs
completed.

A small number of tenants feel there could be
more care and empathy shown by CBC during
their interactions and some mention concems
with ASB where there is a perceplion thal
sometimes action |s nol taken or is not
adequale.

Comments - Overall Satisfaction

@fa

S

Posltive comments - Repairs senice/workforce

Positive comments - Genarally happy, no problams
Day-to-day repairs - Ouistanding { forgotien repairs
Day-to-day repairs - Timescales to complele repairs
Property condition - Damp / mould / condensation
Customer services & contact - Care, empathy, support elc
Home improvemants - Mew kilchen, bathroom
Neighbourhood problems - Anli-social behaviour
Day-to-day repairs - Quality of work

Day-lo-day repairs - Appointments

Other - Neutral comment

Communications and information - Keep tenanls up to date . 2%




Keeping Properties in Good Repair

For Q1, 81% of tenants are satisfied thal
their home is well-maintained, up 3p.p, and
13% of tenants are dissatisfied.

Around two-thirds of tenants (63%) said

they had a repair completed in their home

in the: last 12 manths, and of these, 81% Wall Maintained Home (n=224) Repairs Last 12 Months (n=144) Time Taken Repairs (n=148)
are satisfied with the repairs service over
this period, which is an increase of Gp.p;

o
QD
®
14% are dissatisfied.
r/;ilD% 1\ =
AN
(@))

Colceired = Safmfied Meither ®  Dissafisfied

The time taken lo complete a repair sees
an Increase in satisfaction of 4p.p at B2%,
although Lhis is also down a little, by 4p.p,
with the level of dissatisfaction remaining
the same as last quarter at 14%.

=—a—\ell Malntained Home

—a— Repairs last 12 months

Time Taken Repairs

Q3 o4 a1 Q2 a3 o4 a3
2023/24 2023724 2024/25 2024/256 2024/25 2024/25  2025/26




Comments - Repairs

Tenants are asked to share thoughts about
the repairs service in the last 12 months, and
145 comments were recorded.

Three-guarters of the comments consist of : . t"';'lh
positive feedback about the repairs service

andlor those who deliver the service. The Positive comments - Repairs servicedworkforce _ T5%

next most common themes are imescales 1o
complete repairs (14% of the commenis) and Day-to-day repairs - Timescales to complete repairs
outstanding/forgotten repairs (11%), so
whilst many praised the prompiness and Day-lo-day repairs - Dutstanding / forgotien repairs
professionalism of those [nvolved in
delivering repalrs, some concems emerge
about delays in compleling repairs, with
some lenants waiting months for issues to
be resolved.

Day-to-day repairs - Appolniments

Day-lo-day repalrs - Keep informed of repair progress

A lack of updates regarding ongoing repairs Day-to-day repairs - Quality of work
can lead to tenants reporting the repair more
than once or resorting to chasing up

progress, which causes some frustration. Day-io-day repairs - Had to report repakr multiple tmes

Additionally, some mentioned their Day-lo-day repairs - Treatment of resident / home
experience of poor service quality, including
incomplete jobs and damage o property
during repairs. The need for better
scheduling to accommaodate working lenants
was also highlighted, as some tenants find it
difficult to arrange time off for repairs.

Homa improvements - Mew kitchen, bathroom

Property condition - Damp / mould § condensation

Customer services & contacl - Understanding Residents

Owverall, while there are commendable Circumstances

aspecis of the service, addresasing Customer services & contact - Call/contact handling -

enhance tenant satisfaction.

communication and timeliness could \ passed around




Maintaining Building Safety

Very satisfied

Fairly satizfied

Maither

i%

Fairly dissatisfied Very dissatisfied

Satisfied

Medthas

s Dizzatisfied

7

100%

75%

03 2025/24
{n=213)

=

Satisfied —a— Dizsatisfied

B2%

._

Od 2023124
(=220}

— o —

02 2024135
=227}

Q1 2024725
=222

03 20247135
=218

O 2024125
(=213}

3
QO
«Q
~ 0
=
D
00]

01 2025126
(n=220)




Comments - Home or Communal Areas not Well

Maintained or Safe

-
=
/

Day-to-day repairs - Outstanding / forgotten repairs

Property condition - Damp ! mould | condensation

Home improvements - Neaw kitchen, bathroom

Communal areas - Rubbish

Communal areas - Frequency of deaning service

Communal areas - Quality of cleaning service

Day-lo-day repairs - Timescales (o complete repairs

Grounds maintenance - Grounds maintenance generally

Safety and security - Deor securily in communal areas

Safety and securily - Gabe securnty, locks

Communal areas - Problems with dog mess

Day-to-day repairs - Keep informed of repair progress

S




Just over half af the tenants (54%)
surveéyed this guarer state they ve ina
building with communal aress that CBC is
responsible for maintaining. Of these
tenants, T6% are satisfied that thelr
communal areas are clean and well-
maintained, an iIncrease of 11p.p since Q3.
Dissatisfaction is now at 16%, with a further
B% giving a neutral response.

Satisfaction that CBE makes a pasilive
contribution to the nelghbourhood fell by
10p.p in Q4, from T78% lo 68%, and this has
now been reversed, with a 10p.p increase
in Q1, back to 78% satisfaction.

Salisfaction with the way the Council
handles ASB has fallen by 2p.p to83% this
quarter, with those who are dissatisfied
rising from 20% las| quarter lo 32% in Q1.
This increase could perhaps be because
mare of those surveyed this quarier have
experienced the ASB service firsthand, thal
cases are ongoing, and this has perhaps
influenced scores - or alternatively, this
cotld be based purely on perceplions. This
would need closer review In order to draw
firm conclusions, although some of the
comments which follow may help
understand whal is driving these soores.

Communal Areas (n=130)

Mewghbourhood Contribulhon (n=140) Approach to ASE (n=111)

Coloured = Satislied ®  peither ®  Dissafisfied

e

—— Comimunal Areas
—a— Neighbourhood Contribution
—a— Approach to ASB

a2 Q3 04
2023024 202324 2023724

P} Q2 Q3 Q4 g
2024/25 2024725 2024/25 2024/25 202526




When asked to share their views on CBC's
contribution to the neighbourhood, 136
comments were recorded.

The vast majority of these comments were
positive feedback, specifically aboul
communal cle2aning and maintenance. and
feeling that their nelghbourhood is 3 good
place o live

A small numbier say they have not seen any
contribution fram CBC in the local area, and
others feel there could be more done lo
encourage recycling with the provision of
bins to make this possible.

Some shared positive comments aboul the
communal cleaning setvice, whereas others
say the neighbourhood is Impacted by ASB,
which they feel is not tackled by CBC.

Several tenants spoke about the resident’s
aclivities which CBC organise for children
locally, as these efforts are very much
‘appreciated, such as “They tend lo do
activities for chifdren around the homes”

COwverall, while there are commendable efforis
In maintaining cleanliness and cammunity
aclivities, significant areas for | vement
exisl. particularly In addressing ASB Issues.

8

Comments - Neighbourhood

Positive comments - Generally happy, no problems

Positive comments - Communal eleaning & maintenance

Positive comments - Nelghbourhood/good location

Other - No comment/suggestions

Organisaticnal policies - Lack of contnbution to
neighbourhood

Positive comments - Repairs service/workforce
Communal areas - Maintenance of communal areas
MNeighbourhoed problems - Anti-social behaviour
Scheme/Estate Positive - Ressdant activitlas

Other - Dont know

Communal areas - Rubblsh

Communal areas - Rubblsh storage areas

e
B s
B «
B s
B s
B s
N 2




Ragarding the approach lo handling ASE,
107 comments were made, resulling ina
miked response.

Many tenant express satislaction with the
responsiveness and effectiveness of CBC in
addressing ASH issues, particularly in cases
invialving drug-relaled activities and noise
disturbances; and others who have not
expertenced this sendice themselves, still
have a positive view based on the
experience of others, for example. "/ can
oniy go by what [I've heard since ['ve
personaily never had to experence ASS, but
fram what | iear Chelteniam Borough
Homes deal with ASB in a good way.

Positive comments highlight imely
interventions, improved safely measures,
and effective communication from staff,
Conversely, a number of lenants report
dissatisfaction, citing a lack of fallow-up,
Ineffective resolulions, and ongoing issues
with problematic neighbours. Concernis
about inadequate support during weekends
and holldays were also ralsed, slongside
frustrations over perceived lenlency lowards
persistent effenders,

Overall, the feedback suggesis there could

be more consistency in handling ASB Issues;

sp.all tenants have a more posilive
experience.

Comments - ASB

\

Positive comments - Ganeratly happy, no problems
Customer services & contact - Complaint not resolved
Customar services & conlact - Complaints handling
MNeighbourhood problams - Antl-social bahaviour
Meighbourhood problems - Drug related issues
MNeighbourhood problems - Neighbours - noise, alcohol
Customer services & contact - Time taken 1o resolve enquiry
Other - Dant know

Other - No commentisuggesiions

Customer services & contact - Care, empathy, support el
Positive comments - Feel safe and secure

Communications and information - Keep tenants up to date




Just over four-fifths (82%) of tenants
surveyed in Q1 find CBC easy to deal with,
which is an increase of Gp.p since Q4.

Slightly more lenants (85%) are salisfied
that they are kept informed by CBC (an
increase of 6p.p), and the same percenlage
feel CBC treat them fairly and with respect
(an increase of 1p.p).

Salisfaction with the way CBC listens lo
tenants’ views and acts upon them Is also
up this quarier, by Bp.p, al 70%. This
measure has the highest dissatisfaction of
these four engagement measures, and
some of the commenis that follow may help
with understanding the drivers of this
dissatisfaction.

Respectful & Helpful Engagement

Listens & Acts (n=149) Kept Inforrmed {n=172) Fairly & with Respect (n=203)

Colouired = Satisfied Meither @ Dissatishiad

Easy to Deal With {n=220)

=~ ! gow  Do®

a2 a3 04 ey a2 Q3 Q4 m

2324 202324 202324 2024025 202425 2024/25 2024/25  2025/26

\

=l | islEns & ACS
—a— Kaopl Informed
Falrly & with Raspact

—8—Eazy to Deal With




Some 44 comments were received about
how CBC listens to tenants’ views and acls
upon them, with some mentioning frustration
over repair issues which remain outstanding,
and also delays in repairs, particularly
concerning kitchens and damp problems.

A recurring theme s the perception thal
feedback from lenants is often ignored,
leading to feelings of frustration and, for
some, a reluctance to report issues in the
future.

The need for improved communication
between teams and beller access o senior
staff for unresolved issues was also included
here. Additionally, there were calls for more
support for vulnerable tenants, particularly
regarding anti-social behaviour and disability
needs, for example, *They don't fisten
properly and they dont understand my
medical history and disability.”

Cwerall, the feedback indicates a need for
enhanced engagement with tenants, and
more timely action on reporied issues, 1o
foster a more responsive and supportive
environment.

Comments - Listens & Acts

Communications and information - Listen carefully, take
interest

Customer services & contact - Be more proactive

Customer services & contact - Complaint not resolved

Customer senices & contact - Understanding Residents
Circumstances

Meighbourhood problems - Anti-sacial behaviour

Customer services & contact - Complainis handling

Day-to-day repairs - Keep Informed of repair progress

Home improvements - Mew kiichen, bathroom

Customer services & conlact - Accessibility / Language
barriars

Customer senvices & contact - Care, empathy, support
et

Day-to-day repalrs - Outstanding ! forgotien repalrs

fdanager Megative - Communicationsfistendng (manager)

N




A smaller number of comments, just 30, were
noled regarding tenants’ thoughts about being
treated fairly and with respeol.

A third of the comments say there could be
miore care and empathy shown by CBC at
times, and some tenants express frustration
over unfulfilled promises regarding repairs and
follow-ups. with some feeling thal their
concems were dismissed or inadeguately
addressed.

Some share a perception of not being taken
seriously when issues are reporled, for
example, “They dismissed my complaint about
the ASB officer who, in § years of complaining,
fad not even met me.

Tenants reporl a lack of training among staff to
handle specific needs, particularly for those
with disabilities. The inconsistency in service
guality, often dependent an the individual
contacted, further exacerbates tenant
frustrations for a minarity. Some feel that thelr
complaints are not taken serously, leading lo a
sense of helplessness and a belief thal they
must fight for basic rights and services.

Owerall, the feedback indicates a need for
improved training, better communication, and a

more empathetic approach to tenant
interactions to enhance overall satisfaction and

trust in the service,

Comments - Fairly & with Respect

N,

Customer services & coniac! - Care, empathy, support
el

Customer services & contact - Return call / emaill

Day-lo-day repairs - Outstanding / forgotten repairs

Day-to-day repairs - Timescales to complete repairs

Customer semvices & contact - Complalnt not resolved

Customer sarvices & contac! - Understanding Residgenis

Circumstances
Meighbourhood problems - Anti-social behaviour

Communications and information - Listen carefully, take
interest

Customer services & contacl - Be mone proactive

Customer services & contact - Callicontact handling -
passed around

Day-to-day repairs - Contractor

Day-to-day repairs - Quality of work




The score for CBC being easy to deal with

his quarter, and 39 comments
were received from those who do not find
CBC easy lo deal with.

The most common theme was for there to be
mare care and empathy when issues are
reported, and for contact with the customer
service team (o be returmed when promised.
For example, *Cusfomer service really needs
fo be improved. Communication can be poor,
follow-ups are often delayed or dont happen
at all, and there's a general lack of
accountabilify. Tenants deserve a service
that is responsive, respectful and
consistent—espacially when it comes 1o our
homes and wellbeing.”

Some tenants note that while initial comtact
may be manageable, the subsequenl service
often falls short, leading lo feelings of being
brushed aside. Some inconsistency in
service quality Is highlighted, with some
tenants experiencing helpful interactions
while others report unhelpful or dismissive
responses.

There are also complaints about the difficulty
in reaching the right personnel and
navigating the syslem, exacerbated by a
confusing change in contacl numbers.
Overall, the feedback indicates thal
improved communication, accountability, and
a more consisient service provision will help
1o limit the reasons for dissatisfaction in the
future.

Comments - Easy to Deal With

e

Customer services & contact - Care, empathy, support
elc

Communications and information - Listen carefully, take
interest

Customer sarvices & conlact - Return call | emall

Day-to-day repairs - Keep informed of repalr progress

Customer services & contact - Answering phones

Communications and information - Communications (in
gereral

Customer services & contact - Complaint not resobved

Customer sarvices & contact - Keep promises

Day-to-day repairs - Appointmants

Day-o-day repairs - Ease of reporting repair

Day-to-day repairs - Timescales 1o complete repairs

Communications and infarmation - Website and onling
saryices

II-T‘II

£ 123

—




Effective Handling of Complaints

Just under a guarter of tenants (22%) say
they made a complainl to CBC in the last
12 months, although it Is not clear whether
these were formal expressions of
dissatisfactlon managed under the
complaint process, or perhaps senvice
requests nol yel compleled.

Complaint in last 12 months Satisfaction with Complaints Handling

Of these lenants, 39% said that they are 14%
satisfied with the way that their complaint
was handled, an Increase of 2p.p from Q4.

Dissatisfaclion is higher than satisfaction al
53%, and a further 9% gave a neutral Very satisfied  Fairly satisfied Meither Fairty Very dissatisfied

dissatisflad
response.

o
QO
«Q

Complaint handling s & common cause for ~ D
dissatisfaction for soclal landlords and is =
often the lowest-scoring measurs in e Satlisfiod e Dl s zalisfiad ol
surveys of this type, as is the case hare for ~
CBC. Sharing guidance and information
that helps tenants distinguish between
service requests (which may lake times 1o
complete fully) and service failures,
alongside ensuring the timescales for
complaint management are met, may help
sel correct expectations and limit the
reasons for dissatisfaction in the future.

0%

Q2202324 Q32023124 Q4202324 O12024/256 Q2202425 Q32024/256 Q42024125 O 202526
\__ {n=54) (n=50} {n=51) (n=58) {n=54) (n=44) {n=54) (n=44) _/




Cost of Living

Cost of Living Concern

300 40%
Tenanls were asked aboul their well-belng,
including how they feel about the current
cost-of-living crisks.
Just over three-quariers of tenants (79%)
are at least slightly concermned aboul the - ]

cosl of Ilving crisis, with more very
concerned {-1[!"'-':':} than slightly concemed
{(39%). Just 12% of tenants are not al all
concerned, and 9% preferred not to say,

Mot al all concemed Slightly concemed Yery concerned Prefer not to say

Cost of Living Concern & Satisfaction

It s often the case with similar strveys from

ST S e Overall Sausfaction  IEECCETMNN MO SN SO S
concerned with the costof living have lower

satisfaction rates than those slightly or not Well Maintained Home - SN RN IS S
at all concemed. This is the case here with Safe Home IS (L —— —
those who are concemned, having the Repairs Last 12 Months  IEEEEE &1 e
lowest levels of salisfaction across all Time Taken Repairs [N T T
Indicators. Communal Areas | INFETI T I = Very concemed
Neighbourhood Contribution | EEREES IS T T — « Slightly concerned
Approach to ASE quiy | BT ] TEM |
Listens & Acts  [ICFEES 000 .
Kept Infarmed -m_’”?- _"FE-”_
Fairly & with Respact 8%
Easy to Deal With
Comptaints Handling

= Mot at all concernad




Damp and Mould

Experienced Damp/Mould Last 12 Months Reported Damp/Mould

mY¥es mho

It is of some concermn that around a third of

66%

tenants (34%) say they have experlenced
instances of damp and mould in their
homes in the last 12 months, and this has
been fairly consislent over ime, aside from 34%
a dip on Q2 last year, to 24%.
Almost two-thirds (63%) of these have
reporied the problem, which means Just
over a third (37%) haven'l made CBC

Yes Mo

aware of these issues. With the onset of
Awaab's Law, CBC will need to investigate
all of these as a matter of urgency and take
aclion, where necessary, o alleviale the
issues and ultimately prevent any
associaled heaith-related problems.

Experienced Damp & Mould Over Time

Information on those tenants who say they
are experiencing damp and mould, where B8% B5% B6% BE% 855 BE%

permisslon has been given, Is avallable In — . o - — ; —a & ®

the raw data.
A2% 25% M% 3% 34% 35% 3%

2T% ® ——=0- 24% A ——

Q1 o2 Q3 Q4 a1 a2 Q3 a4 1
202324 202324 202324 202324 202425 202425 202425 202425 2025726




Trends Over Time

== Overall Satisfaction
—a—'Well Maintained Homs
Safe Home
—a— Communal Areas
—a— Repairs last 12 months
Time Taken Repairs
- Nelghbourhood Contribution
Approach lo ASB
——| |stens & Acls
Fairly & with Respect
== il Informed
—a— Easy to Deal With

—#— Complaints Handling

o2 Q3 24 o1 Q2 3 o4 o1
202324 2023724 202324 202425 2024/25 202425 2024/25 2025726




12 Month Rolling Averages

—&— Dvarall Satisfaction

—— el Maintalned Home
Safe Home

—a— Communal Aréas

#— Rapairs [ast 12 months

Time Taken Repairs
Meighbourhood Contribution
Approach to ASH

——| jslans & Acts
Fairly & with Respect

== epnl Informed

—a— Easy to Deal With

—— Complainis Handiing

Ending G2 Ending O3 Ending G4 Ending CH Ending 02 Ending @3 Ending O4 Ending Q1
23724 2324 2324 241 24125 24425 24025 25025




Acuity Calls CBC Housing Services

The Customer Service Team made 44 calls to the most dissatisfied customers which have been
identified by Acuity.

Failed to contact 18 after 3 attempts
Completed calls to 17

Unable to contact 4

Left messages for 5 to call back

Of the 17 calls completed the most dissatisfied area were Repairs (7), ASB (3), Estates Services (6),
Customer Service (1), 6 of the calls also included concerns raised about the cost of living.

As part of the survey process Acuity staff will send across an alert via email if during a call, they pick up
on any matters such as safeguarding concerns or urgent repairs which require our attention ahead of
them issuing the full data set.

29T abed

During the Q1 surveys, Acuity staff raised 17 alerts, of these:

*3 have been resolved
*8 relate to work in progress
*6 are new and current




Next Steps

Review complaints team capacity and roles

Continue to review communal areas and satisfaction

Arrange complaints focus group to gather feedback from lived experiences

Estates supervisor role to be confirmed

T
Q
Q
@D
=
o
W




Satisfaction with Measures Summary & Recnmmendatinns e

eree

Kept Informed

Fairly & with Respect

Safe Home

Easy to Deal With

Time Taken Repairs

‘Well Maintained Home

Repairs last 12 months

Ovarall Satisfaction

Melghbourhood
Confribution

Communal Areas

Listens & Acts

Approach to ASB

Complaints Handling

2

Results for G1 of 202572026 continue to show high levels of satisfaction across the majority of the survey measures.
This report is based on 221 responding tenants, plus 10 incomplete surveys which are required to be included by the
Regulator.

Overall satisfaction is one of just two measures that saw a decrease in satisfaction this quarter, down by 3
percentage points (p.p) to 79%, and so sits just below the centre of all measures when ranked in the chart to the left.
The other measure, which fell slightly, is the approach lo ASB, down by 2p.p lo 63%. All other measures increased
this guarter, with the largest increase being for the upkeep of communal areas, which is up by 11p.p to T6%, and the
provision of a safe home at 83%, which is also an Increase of 11p.p, the latter is also the second highest scoring
measure this quarter. Being kept informed and being treated fairly and with respect are the highest scoring measures
for Q1, both at 85% salisfaction.

The results show that almost four-fifths of tenants (79%) are at least slightly concemned about the current cost of
living, which is similar to last guarter. Given the conneclion between monetary concems and satisfaction, any easing
of financial pressures for tenants could have a pasitive effect on satisfaction levels.

The quarterly surveys include several open-ended guestions designed to highlight specific areas for improvement
based on lenants’ concerns and suggestions. As |s often the case, the repairs service continues to feature
prominently across all the guestions, with outstanding repairs and the time taken to complele repairs being the most
common categories, even though satisfaction with the repalr measures exceeded 80% this quarter. Comments
suggest there is a need for a more consistent repairs service.

Recommendations:

Communication

Some tenants are concerned with the upkeep of communal areas and grounds maintenance, and in some cases,
properly condition, including concerns with damp and mould, which should be addressed as soon as possible. Some
lenants feel CBC could listen more carefully to their views, and staff could show more care and empathy when
dealing with issues they ralse. Including in tenant communicalions/website some examples of service impravements
made as a resull of tenant feedback could prove beneficial to satisfaction scores in the future. In addition, an article
on the grounds maintenance contract, along with some examples of what tenants should expect, could help provide
some clarification and remove some of the frustrations seen in the feedback.



Quarter 2

Annual Customer Satisfaction
Feedback Report 2025/2026



Key TSM Metrics

Overall Satisfaction

The Home

Engagement
Complaints

Wellbeing

Summary

iy

Introduction CHELTENHAM

Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) owns and manages around 4,500 LCRA properties, as well as a small number or
LCHO properties. Acuity has been commissioned to underlake guarterly independent satisfaction surveys of the lenanls of
Cheltenham Borough Council, to collect data on their opinions of, and attitudes towards, their landlord and the services
provided.

The survey was designed using the Tenant Satisfaction Measures from the Regulator of Social Housing. Every guarter,
tenants are contacted and invited to take part In a telephone interview. The survey s designed to collect the views of
approximately 221 LCRA lenants per quarter, proportionately sampled by tenure type, area, and age. This report for 02
2025/26 presents an analysls of the results based on 221 completed surveys, as well as 12 incomplete surveys, which are
required to be included in the report as per Regulator guidance.

The report has used sentiment analysis to better understand tenants’ comments and why they have responded to the
satisfaction questions the way they have. Information about how this works is shown at the end of the report and adds an
extra layer of insight to the results to help CBC better understand whalt is driving satisfaction and whal tenants are most
concerned about, and consequently, what could be improved.

T

The lelephone survey s confidential, and the results are sent back lo CBC anonymised unless tenants give their permission (Q

to be identified - 83% of tenants did give permission to share their responses with their details attached, and 94% of these
tenants are happy for CBC to contact them to discuss any comments or issues they raised.

This survey aims to provide data on lenanlts’ satisfaction, which will allow CBC to:
* Provide information on tenants’ perceptions of current services
= Compare the resulls with previous surveys, where possible
* Compare the results with other landlords (in a separate annual report)
* |nform decisions regarding future service development
* Reporl to the Regulator annually as required.

For the overall results, Acuity and the Regulator of Social Housing recommend that landlords with under 10,000 properties
achieve a sampling error of at least +4% at the 95% confidence level. For this quarter, 221 completed responses were
received, and this response is high enough to conclude that the findings are accurate to within +6.4% for the quarter and
+3.4% annually.

MNote: The majority of figures throughout the report show the resulls as percentages. As percentages are rounded up or
down from two decimal places in the resulls file to the nearest whole number, they may not always total 100%. Rounding
can also cause percentages described in the supporting text to differ from the percentages in the charts by 1% when two
percentages are added logether. The charts also show the base for each question shown as n=.

Q)

=
(@)]
()]




82% TSM Key Metrics
Services Provided "

More than eight out of ten tenants are Keeping Properties in Good Repair Respectful & Helpful Engagement

salisfied with the overall service provided by
This marks a three percentage

it (3p.p) increase from the previou: e )
;::.Iar:llrp St -t & Well Maintained Home 82% Listens & Acts

Three measures received scores higher than
the overall satisfaction with the semvice, lthese
are safe home (83%), fairly and with respect
84%:), and repairs in the last 12 months Safe Home KEPt Informed
vhich Is the highest sconng metric in
fey this quarter

Only three measures received scores of i & %
below 70% satisfaction, These are listens to A0 Repairs Last 12 Months Fairly & with Respect
and acts upon them, with a score of el [
the approach to ASB, with a score of
and complaints handling, the lowest

Time Taken Repairs Q Complaints Handling
]

This report further breaks down each

measure individually, as well as analyses
tenants' open commenls o identify the rool of Responsible Ngighbgurhuud Managgmgnt
any dissalisfaction and polential areas for

improvement. CTT—.

Communal _%jii. ::;:,-I. Neighbourhood Approach to
Areas 77% [guied | Contribution 70% ASB 63%
I |




Overall Satisfaction

Tenants were asked, “Taking everything
into account, how satisfied or dissatisfied
are you with the service provided by

48%
Cheltenhiam Borough Councli?” This s the
key metric in any tenanl perceplion survey, 3%
Mare than eight out of ten tenants ars
satisfied with the overall service provided
by CBC (82%), with more tenants very
salisfied (48%) than fairly satisfied (33%). B

% %
Just 14% are dissalisfied (14%), with equal e N N | | 3
numbers fairly dissatisfied and very Wery satisfiad  Fairly satisfied Meither  Fairly dissatisfied Very dissatisfied = Salisfied - Neither = Dissatisfiad )
dissatisfied (both 7%). The remaining 5% of (@)
lenants are nelther salisfied nor
dissalisfled ’/;D% _\

D
=
()]
(00]

Satisfaction has remained broadly around
the 80% mark since these surveys began
With this quarter sesing a nse of 3p.p, the
gurrent score is now just 1p_p below the
highes! quarterly score seen for this metric
in G4 2023724,

T0%

03202324 Q4202324 Q1202425 Q2202425 Q32024725 Q4202425 01202526 Q2 202526
\_ {n=231) {n=232) {n=238) {n=237) (n=226) {n=231) {n=229) {n=233) /‘




Overall Satisfaction

Please describe your specific experiences that have shaped your view of Cheltenham Borough Council's service.

o Top 10 Subcategories e

5 Responsive Repairs Timedness | Responsiveness
s _ oo Customer Service & - VU Ot Wk Mnnion
Housing Senvices - 30 536 o7 3% Satisfaclion
N et Suhcategory, no attribase (yet)

Propesty Condition - 16.8% Camp I 59% Resaluticn
Communication ! Transparency
e oamanes. [} 0% Staff Conduct
Uncategonsed Comments I 5.0% MQ&mmunal I 4.5% Tﬂmlﬂli-‘ﬂuﬂvanlanm
ainlanance ° orker duct
Neighbourhoods | 3.6% Grounds | a1% Effort
Maintenance ) Mo Comments
Kitchens | 4.1% Listening / Acting
Planned Cangistency
nn
Em
Building Safety I 1.8% Maintenance | s Fmﬂ

Window/doors | 32% Trust
Accessibiity

Tenancy Mangement I 5.5%

----L

Community & Engagemant I 2.7%
Equaity, Diversdy & inclusion | 2.3%

Estate Services | 0.5%
Support Services | 0/0% Complaints | 2.7%

% .

When asked to descnbe expenences thal shaped their view of CBC's service, many respondents express satisfaction with the prompiness and
efficiency of repairs; highlighting quick responses and courteous staif, Positive comments include effective handling of urgent issues, such as leaks
and mould, with seme terants reporting repairs completed within days. However, concems arise regarding communication and follow-up, with
several respondents noting detays in repairs-and a lack of updates on ongoing issUes.

Complaints about poor guality of workmanship and unresolved long-term problems, such as damp-and Inadequate adaptations, are prevalent.
Some tenants feel discriminated agains! or neglected, paricularly regarding urgent repairs and adaptations for disabilities. Additionally, issues with
anti-social behaviour and inadequate communal maintenance were mentioned. VWhile many appreciate the service, there is an opportunity for
improved communication, consistency in repair guality, and responsiveness to tenant concemns o enhance overall sabsiaction

OPositive @Neutral ONegalive For further information about Aculty's Resident Seatiment Index, please see append(x 5




Mare than eight oul of ten tenants are
salisfied that their home iz well maintained
(82%). Just a tenth are dissatisfied (10%),
with the remaining 8% of lenants neither
satisfied nor dissatisfied. This measure has
remained fairly stable over the last couple
of years, only devialing by 6p.p between &
high of 83% and a low of 77%. Satisfaction
has marginally increased in the last two
surveys, with a rise of 1p.p In Q2 2025/285.
Slightly more tenants are salisfied that their
home is safe (83%:). Although slightly maore
are dissatisfied (11%), there are just 6% of
tenants who are neither satisfied nor
dissatisfied. Satisfaction reached a low of
T n 04 2024/25 bul then increased by
11p.p In the following quarter and has
maintained this score in Q2 2025/286.

Just over haif of tenants siated they live in
a property with a communal area that CBC
Is responsible for maintaining (55%). More
than three-guarlers of lenants are satisfied
that communal areas are kepl clean and
well-maintained (77%)]

lenants are dissatisfied (17%), while just
6% are neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.
Salisfaction consistently scored in the mid-
80 % range for most of 25, before
rising by 11p.p in Q1 202 There has
been a rise of 1p.p In 02 2025/26

Well Maintained Home (n=228)

Safe Home (n=216)

Coloired = Satified Melter @ Disaatisfied

Communal Areas (n=125)

N

83% 83%

'_,9-..._____'11 %
- 78% ==
82% \.-"/ B1%

65% 65%

Nl Maintained Home

Safe Home

=@ Communal Areas

O 202324 Q1 2024/256 Q2 2024/25 Q3 2024/25 Q4 2024/25 Q1 2025/26 Q2 2025/26




The Home

I you do not feel that your home (and [ or communal areas) ane safe

i\ Sentiment
Attribute Count e Score

Quakty of Waork | Service Ir 1% -3.30
Timelness | Responsivenass 228% -3.B6
Resodution 14.5% -1.33
Subcategory, no attribute (yat) 11.3% -2.20
Communication [ Transpanency B.1% -5,00
Listening ! Acting 4 B -4.33
Safaty 4.5% -4.33
Mo Camments z 3% 0.00
Accountability 16% -5.00
Effort 1.6% -5.00
Satisfacton 1.8% -3.00
Trust 16% -5.00
Worker Conduct 1.6% -3.00
Acoes sdbelity -
Appodntments | Convenlance -
Constaiency -
Empathy -
Falmess -
Rubhish, Bins & Recycling | a2% " el Copeui

-----------, L T F §F §F v §F ¥ ¥ ¥ vy r -y § - y_J

~

Top Subcategories

|
IR B e et Al

Communsl Maintenance - 35.5%
Grounds Meintenance - 30.6%
Responsive Repains - .0%
General Condition I aTH
Damp l a.7%
Planned Maintenance | 6.5%
Compiaints. | 46%

Fire safaty | 4.8%

Anti Social Behaviour | 4.8%
‘ulnerabiities l 4E%

Aids & Adsptations | 3%

T/,T abed

* Positive  « Neutral = Negalive

™ J

Customer Servica &..I 3%

--------I‘,

Mew Lettings | 2%

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
I Kitchans | 4.8%
1
1
1
1
1
1
\

e -

\

Tenants who are nol satisfied that their home or communal areas are safe and well-maintained were asked to explain their reasons and offer suggestions for improvement. Many
respondents highlighted issues with inadequate cleaning, with complaints about rubbish accumulation, dog waste, and general neglect in communal spaces. Several tenants reported
ongoing problems with damp, mouid, and plumbing, often citing delays in repairs and a lack of communication from management.

afety concemns were raised, particularly regarding unsecured entrances, issues with neighbours, and inadequate responses to reported thefts. Tenants expressed frusiration over the
ed lack of proper. consultation and responsiveness from the management, particularly regarding essential repairs and upgrades.

Additionally, there were calls for better maintenance of gardens and communal areas, with many noting rown shrubs and unkempt spaces. Some respondents also pointed out the
need for improved security measures, such as cameras, (0 address issues of vandalism and anti-social be our. The feedback indicates a need for enhanced communication, timely
maintenance, and a more proactive approach to community safety and cleanliness.




Around two-thirds of tenants (63%) said
they had & repair completed in their home
in the last 12 months, and of these, 87%
are satisfied with the repalrs service over
this period. Just 6% of lenants are
dissatisfied, with the same percentage
neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.
Salisfaction reached a low of 76% in (4
2024/25, before showing Increases in the
fasl two quarters: Most recantly, thera was
A rsa2 ol 6p.p in 02 2025/26.

Satistaction with the time taken to

repairs is commanly lower than the overall
sefvice. Whilst that has nol always been
the case for CBC, for this quaner. the
satsfaction with the tme taken to complats
repairs is Sp.p lower than the satisfaction
with the repairs service over lhe last 12
months,

Justa tenth al tenants are dissatisfied with
the time taken to complete repairs (10%),
while just 8% are nelther salisfiad nar
dissatisfied. Satisfaction in this measire
has remained largely consistent, retaining
the same valus from the Q1 202526
survey,

Keeping Properties in Good Repair

Repairs Last 12 Months (n=141)

Coloured = Spiisfied ®  Neither ®  Dissaiisfied

Time Taken Repairs (n=142)

.

4 2023724

Q1 2024125 Q2 202425 Q3 2024/25 Q4 2024/25 1 2025026 Q2 202526

—8— Rapairs last 12 months

—8—Time Taken Repairs




Repairs & Maintenance

Tell us more about your exparience with-the repairs sefvice over-the fast 12-months. Base Size: 138

S N . S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S

F

'd

Timeliness [ Responsivensss
Creality of Work ! Sarvice
Resolution

Subcategory, no attriute (yet)
Satisfaction

Eftort

Appointments | Canvenience
Worker Conduct
Cammunication | Transparency
LLigbening / Acting

Satety

Mo Comments

Consistency

Trust

Accessibility

AccountatbEty

Empathy

Fairness

% Steff Conduct

-—_________________________________#

ddMMMH‘ﬂ-ﬁHﬂHEHg

¢/ 1 abed

_x N N & _§ _§ N N N _§ _§ _§ _§ _§N _§N_ _1 ™

l\ = Positive = Meutral = Negative

Whenasked o descnbe expenances with the repairs service over the last 12 months, respondents expressad safisfaction with the promptness-and efficiency of repairs. noting quick
responses to urgent issues such as jeaks and brokan fixtures. Positive commants often meniioned courteous staff and thomugh work, with some respondants repoding repairs
compieted within hours or days.

However, there ars nolable concerns reganiing delays and incomplate jobs. Sevieral respondents reporied long wai fimes: for repars: wilh some issues eking months or even yesrs o
resolve, Complaints about poor communication, such as not receiving updates on pending repairs, were commeon. Addiionally, some respondents experienced dissatisfaction with the
guality of work, citing instances where repairs were not compieted correctly, necessitating follow-up visits

Issues retated to mould. damp, and inadequate follow-up on repairs were frequently mentioned, indicating a need for better management ol ongalng maintenancs concems. While there
are commendable aspects of the servioe, the feetdback underscores the potential for mproved communicatian: Tmely responses, and consistent quality in repair work to enhance
customer safisfaction. 11




Contribution to the Neighbourhood

Seven oul of ten tznanls are salisfied with
CBC's cantribution o the neighbourhood
(T0%), with mare very salisfied (41%) than
fairly satisfied (30%). Only 14% of lenants
are dissalisfied, while the remaining 16%
are nefther satisfied nor dissalisfied.

Satistaction for this measure consistenlly

scored around 75% or higher until 04 .

2024/25, where there was a fall of 10p.p -

Satistaction has fluctuated from there, and _ _

has seen a fall of 8p.p from Q1 2025/26. Very satisfied  Fairly satisfied Faily  Very dissatisfied
dizzatisfied = Satizfied = Neither = Dissatisfied

Dissalisfaction has remained relatively
consistent and decreasad marginally from
the previous guarter (down 1p.p). rr/_

=g Salisfied ——g—Dissatisfied
The larger percenlage of tenants who gave
neutral responses suggests that these 80% 79% 785
lenants may not be aware of the B0%

contributions that CBC has provided to the
neighbourhood, and additional publications &0%,
on this topic could help boost satisfaction in %
the future.

Yo Y
.-———0-—""_'_"‘*—-‘ —e- " =9 b

Q32023/24 Q4202324 O12024/25 Q22024/25 ©Q3I2024/25 O42024/25 ©Q12025/26 Q2 2025/26
(n=130) (n=153) (n=15T) (n=154) (n=114) (n=146) {n=140) {n=138)

%




Neighbourhood Contribution

Share your views on your landiord's contribution to your neighbotirhood. Base Skxe 128

i Sentiment

{_ Top Subcategories
Mesghbourhood.. S 465

| Gualty of Work | Service
i Grounds Maimenance Bl
1

Mo Comments

Satisfaction

Subcategaory, no attribute {yat)
Timeliness ! Responsiveness
Staff Conduct
Communication | Transpanency
Listening ¢ Acting

Effort

Resciution

Acoountability

Empathy

Safety

Acoessibity

Appointments | Convenience
Constatency

Falrmess

Trust

Workier Conducl

~“---------‘u'f .

Responsive Repairs e
1 Community Spint/ Pnde__§] 5.6%

i Customer Service &._J 4.8%
IRubhih,Bms & Recycling I 4B

Anh Sociel Behaviour | s
Communal Maintenance | zin
PestVemin Issuas | 24m
Parking & garages | g4m,

Fire safety | 1E%

Crime | 1 ge,

Parks, Play Areas &.] 16%
Rent & Arraars | 1E%
Planned Maintanance | o goy

* Positive = Neutral = Negative

e J

G S E e
-

1
i
1
|
1
1
1
1
|
i

’

When asked to share views on CBC's contribution lo the neighbourhood, respondents appreciate the cleanliness and maintenance of communal areas, with commenis highlighting
regular grass cutting and tidy properties. Some tenants express satisfaction with the gardening leam’s invoivement and the overall upkeep of green spaces. However, fhere are
concems about the perceived decling in sarvice quality, particularly regarding the frequency of gardening and maintenance tasks. Several respondents noted issues with fly-tipping,
overgrown areas, and a fack of timely responses {0 maintenance requesis.

Communication from CBC Is another area of concem, with some tenants feeling Uninformed about updates-or changes in services. A few respondents mentioned posifive intéractions
with stafi, while others reported a lack of visibility from local housing officers: Addiicnally, there are complaints aboul anti-social behaviour and insdequate acion iaken against ik




Approach to ASB

8%
=

Very satisfied  Fairly satisfied Meither Fairky Very dissatisfied
dissatisfied Satisfied - Meither = Dissatisfied

Salisfipd —e— Dissatisfied
B65%

:ju.l:.-':l 2,("!_-i| Hff{ 32’.‘-"-; 2

Q4 2023124 01 2024025 02 2024/25 Q3 2024425 04 2024725 Q1 2025126 Q2 2025028
(m=140) (=152} (=129} (n=115) (=131 n=111) (=118}




« Positihve

MNeutral

6%

0.37

= Magative

Attribute

Timedness | Responsivansgss
Listening / Acting

Resoiution

Subcatagory, no attribute {yet)
Cueality of Work ! Service
Satisfacton

Ko Commems
Communication | Transparancy
Effor

Safety

Trust

Faimess

Accassibility

Accountability

Appaintments | Convenlenca
Consistancy

Empathy

Stafl Condioct
Worker Conduct

Sentiment
Score
-1.05
=117
-1.58
+0.47
.13
+2.23
L7
250
87
500




Slightly less than three-guarters of tenants
are satisfied that CBC listens to views and
acls upon them (65% ). A guarter of tenants
are dissalisfied (25%), while just 11%
provided neutral responses. This measura
has fluctuated in satisfaction, with a general
downward trend since Q4 2023/24.

Eight out of len tenants are satisfied that
CBC keeps them informed aboul things
that matter (80%). Only 13% of lenants are
dissatisfied, while 8% are neither salisfied
nor dissatisfied. This measure has
remained relatively stable, scoring around
the low B0% range for the lasl two years,
although this quarter has seen a fall of
Sp.p.

The highest score in this section is for
treating tenants fairly and with respect, at
B4%. Less than a lenth of lenants are
dissatisfied (8%), while the same
percentage of tenants provided neutral
responses. This metric saw a peak of 88%
in Q3 202425, before falling back o 84%
in the following quarter. Although this score
Is still high and has remained consistent in
Q1 2025/26 and G2 2025/26, having
fluctuated by just 1p.p.

Eight out of len tenants are satisfied that
CBC is easy o deal with (80%). Just over a
iznth are dissatisfied (11%), while &%
neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.

Respectful & Helpful Engagement

Listens & Acts (n=150)

B

Kepl Informed (n=191) Fairly & with Respect (n=205) Easy to Deal With (n=220)

Coloured = Satisfied Meither ®  Digaatichied

(o

B0%

Bi%
85%

B2%

G6%

03
202324

2
202324

88%

B3i%
——| slens & Acls

—— K ept Informed

Fairly & with Respect

e E gz to Deal With

08% 65%

Q1 o2 3 04 o1 o2
2024/25 2024/25 2024/25 2024725 202526 2025026




Easy to Deal with

As you were not satisfied with Cheltenham Borough Council being easy to deal with could you tell me why and what could be improved? Base Sire: 38

o N N I S S S S S S S S S S S S O O S S S O S S .y

Sentiment

Y
7

Attribute

Communication ¢ Transparency
Lestending / Acting

Effiort

Resoiution

Staff Conduct

Timedness | Responaivensss
Subcategory, no sttribute (yet)
Empathy

Creadty of Work ! Service

Mo Comments

Accassibility

Accountabédny

Appointments / Convenlence
Constetency

Fairness

Satety

Satisfacton

Trust -

\ Wiorker Conduct
h-----------------------------------’

s B3 By RF B A DR oM B

8 & _§ _§ _§ _§ _§ & __§ _§ _§ _§ __§ _§ _§ 1 ™

\ « Positive = Meutral = Negalive _/

Tenants who are not satisfied that CBC is easy to deal with were asked to explain why and offer suggestions for improvement . Many respondents expressed frustration over the
difficulty in contacting staff, with reports of unreturned calls and a lack of follow-up on issues raised. A recurring theme is the perception that communication is poor, with tenants feeling
ignored or that their concems are not taken senously. Several res | en they do manage to speak with someone, the quality of interaction varies greatly, with some
staff being helpful while others are perceived as condescending or dis

There are specific complaints about delays in repairs. with some tenants wailing months for issues to be addressed, particularly concerning safety-related repairs. The absence of face-
to-face coniact oplions has also been mentioned, with many feeling that oniine forms are inadequate for expressing their needs. The feedback indicates the potential for mproved
communication sirategies, more proactive engagement with tenants, and a more efficient handling of repair requesis to enhance tenant satisfaction and trust in the service.




Fairly & With Respect

Please can you tell us why you don't agree that Cheltenham Borough Council Ireats you fairly and with respect?
#-----------------------------------

L4 Sentiment

Attribute

Staff Conduct

Timedress | Responsivensss

7/

Communication { Transparency
Listening / Acting
Subcategory, no attribuie (yel)
Etfort

Resolution

ho Comments

Empathy

Accountabdbty

Falrness

Safety

Satisfaction

Trust

Accessibility

Appointmeants | Convenience
Conslstency

Creality of Work ! Service

% Worker Conduct -

I . . . . . . S . . . . .

« Positive = Neutral = Negative _/

Tenants who don't agree that CBC treats them fairly and with respect were also asked to provide their reasons . A recurring theme is the perception of neglect, with many respondents
feeling forgoiten or overlooked, particularly in comparison to other areas like 5t Paul's and Hesters Way. Tenanis express frustration over poor communication, stating that they often

for updates and that their concems are not adequately addressed. Many report experiencing rudeness from staff, particularly during phone interactions, which leads to
feelings of disrespect and a lack of support.

Izsues with repairs and maintenance are prominent, with several respondenis highlighting long wait imes for essential services, such as heating, and safety concems in their homes.
The handling of complaints, especially regarding antisocial behaviour, is also a concem, with some tenants feeling discriminated against and unsupported. These responses indicate an
opportunity for improved customer service training, better communication, and a more responsive approach to tenant needs and complaints to enhance overall satisfaction and frust in
the sarvice.




Listens & Acts -

If you are not satisfied with the way Cheftenham Borough Council listens to your views and acts upon them, how could Cheltenham Borough Councll improve? = I L
§ \ { } : Base Size: 49

#-----------------------------------I
Sentiment

~
7

Attribute

Listening ! Acting

Timedness | Resporsivensss
Communication | Transparency
Subcategory, no attnibate {yet)

Steff Conduwct

Resolution

Effon

Faimess

Cruality of Work | Service
No Comments
Accountabikty
Appointments | Gonvenlence
Emipathy

Accassibility
Consistency

Safety

Satisfaction

Trust

% Worker Conduct

-‘----------------------------------’

B T TR T ¢ U - T -

==

- . - .

\ « Positive = Neutral = Negalive _/

Tenants were also asked to offer suggestions for improvement if they are not satisfied with the was q [
unheard, with many respondents expressing siration over a lack of acton on reported issues, such a3 maintenance and anti-social behaviour. Tenants frequently mentioned delays in
addressing complaints, with e wailing ks for resolutions, which exacerbates their concerns, particularly in sensitive situalions involving children or safety.

Several respondents emphasised the importance of personal interaction, suggesting that face-to-face discussions would be more effective than phone calls or written comespondence.
There is a strong desire for mproved communication; with calls for better information dissemination about meefings and decisions. Many feel that their concerns are dismissed or
inadequately addressed, leading to feelings of discimination and neglect.

Additionally, issues such as poor call handling, lack of follow-up, and inadeguate support for vulnerable tenants were noted. |f CBC were able to enhance its listening skills, improve
responsiveness, and foster a more supportive environment for tenants, this could go a long way to improving satisfaction,




Just over a fifth of tenants {21%) say they
made a complaint to CBC In the last 12
months, aithough it is nol clear whether
these are official stage 1 complaints, or
perhaps service reguests not yet
completed.

Of these tenants, 41% said that they are
satisfied with the way thal their complaint
was handled, an increase of 2p.p from Q1
2025/26.

Dissatisfaction is higher than satisfaction at
48%, and a further 11% gave a neutral
rEsponse

Complaints handling Is often the lowest-
scoring measure in TSM surveys. Although
salisfaction has marginally Increased over
the last two quarters; there is slill clearly
much dissatisfaclion among fenants in this
area. Adding an additional insight guestion
to get to the root of dissatisfaction can help,
as well as ensuring communication
throughout the process is proaclive and
regular.

Effective Handling of Complaints

Complaint in last 12 months

Satisfaction with Complaints Handling

Lz

24% 24%
22%
20%
I I .

WVery dissatisfied

Very safisfied  Fairly satisfied

Maithar Fairly

dissatisfied

.

38%

Q3 202324
(n=50)

04 2023/24
=51}

e Salisfied  eeDissatisfied

Q1 2024/25
in=58)

Q2 2024425
in=54)

3%

03 2024425
(n=44)

Q4 202425
(n=5%)

o1 2025126
(=44}

02 2025/26
(n=48)

/




Cost of Living

Tenants were asked about thelr well-being,
including how they feel aboul the current
cost of living crisis.

5% it
Just under three-quarters of tenants (72%)
are al leasl slighlly concerned aboul the
costof living crisis, with a marginally higher
proportion (37%) being very concemed
than slightly concerned (35%). Just 18% of
tenants are not at all concerned, and 10% [-]l

preferred nol to say. These resulls have
improved from the previous survey, a
potentially positive sign, although It is
advised to continue to monitar how the cost
of llving ceisls s affecting tenants,

Cost of Living Concern

Mot at all concemed Slightly concermed Very concernad Prefer not to say

Cost of Living Concern & Satisfaction

Itis aften the case with similar surveys from Overall Satisfaction
S0C| 5 lenants W g mos

social Iandlnr_d thal tenants who are most Well Mainitairiad Hofme
concerned with the cost of living have lower

satisfaction rates than those slightly or not S Hina

; = Vary concermed
R R Rspairs Last 12 Monihs  EES S S S B S 1y
the case for CBC in this survey, s lenants Time Taken Repairs  INEEPNN s SS E S
who are not alt all concerned are the most Communal Areas  ITVEESNN S F S « Slightly concerned
satisfied in 12 of the 13 measures, while Meighbourhood Contribution TR

15 who cermne - =
TR SR T ennemec St i Approac o A5 ISR 5 e

least satisfied in all measures.
Listens & Acts

Kept Informed

Fairly & with Respect
Easy to Deal With
Compiaints Handling




A quarter of tenants stated that they had
experienced damp and mould in the last 12
months, which s 9p.p lower than the
pravious quarter. Whilst this 1s a positive
change, 24% of tenants also stated that
they experlenced damp and mould in Q2
2024/25, before rising back to 34% in the
lollowing quarter. Uscally, tenants suffering
from damp and mould is lowest in 82 as
these cover the summer months, as the
warmer weather Is less likely to cause
damp and mould problems. Therefare, it
would be advised to monitor this question
in the following survey closely.

Of the tenants who reported experlencing
damp and mould, 82% have reporled this
lo CBC, while 18% haven'L It Is essential
that CBC addresses all issues relalsd o
damip and mould, particularly in light of the
intreduction of Awaab's Law later this year.

The contact details of all tenants who
reparted having damp and mould issues

are avallable through the online dashboard.

Damp and Mould

Experienced Damp/Mould Last 12 Months Reported Damp/Mould

m'Yes mho
75%

Mo

Experienced Damp & Mould Over Time

TE%

24% 25%

™ Q2 Q3 Q4 a a2 a3 Q4 Q1 Q2
2023024 202324 202324 2023724 202425 2024725 202425 2024025 2025726 202528




Acuity Calls CBC

34 call actions have been recorded to the most dissatisfied customers that have been identified by Acuity.

Failed to contact 13 after 3 attempts
Completed 13 calls

Unable to contact 5

Left a message and asked to call back 3

Of the 13 completed calls the most dissatisfied areas were Repairs (7), ASB (1), Planned (1), Customer Service (1), 3
of those called raised additional concerns which were all processed appropriately.

As part of the survey process Acuity staff will send across an alert via email if during a call, they pick up on any
matters such as safeguarding concerns or urgent repairs which require our attention ahead of them issuing the full
data set.

G8T abed

During the Q2 surveys, Acuity staff raised 19 alerts, of these:

3 have been resolved
*13 relate to work in progress
* 3 are new and current




Next Steps

Review information collated from complaints feedback group

DMC department are reviewing policy to identify any refinements or improvements

To carry out communal works in schemes and blocks including painting and planting works

T
Q
Q
@D
=
00]
o




Trends Over Time

—— Overall Satisfaction
—a—ell Maintained Home
Safe Homwe
—a— Communal Araas
-+— Repairs last 12 months
Time Taken Repairs
- Neighbourhood Contritulion
Appraach o ASB
—a—| [slens & Acis
Falrly & with Respect
== kot Informed
—a—Easy to Deal With

—#—Complaints Handling

3 24 =) a2 Q3 a4 o o2
202324 202324 2024/25 202425 202425 202425 2025726 202526




12 Month Rolling Averages .4:'.

Another way lo consider the results is to
Gaioulate the 12-monlh rolling averages,
These average the last four results and
are affected as much by those dropping
oulas the new ones added in, reduging
the fluctuations belween each quarter. 1l
is, iherefore, easier lo observe general —a— Overall Satisfaction

trends. —a— Well Maintained Home

The changas in salisfachion on these —&— Safe Home

averages are small, with only a few —
showlng & noticeable direction of travel, —8— ComimL eas

The mainlefancs of communal sfeas is — —a— Rapalrs last 12 months

the only measure o show a notable —&— Time Taken Repairs
increase. However, a few measures have

shown small decreases, including the ==heighenumand Contriuion
conlribtition to the nelighbourhood. and —a— Approach to ASE
camplaints handiing. —a— | stans & Acts

This-does help to show the general —a— Fairly & with Respect
undeslying level of satisfaction foreach g Kt Infonmiad

measurs.
—a—Easy o Deal With
—a— Complaints Hardling

Ending 03 Ending Q4 Ending 01 Ending G2 Ending @3 Ending Q4 Ending Q1 Ending 02
23124 23124 24125 24125 24125 24125 25126 25/26




Trends Over Time - Sentiment Scores

m—pee Genitiment Score - Owersll Satisfacton
—— Sentiment Score - Home, Gommunal, Safe, Wel Maintained a2

e Semiliment Score - Repais

e Sentiment Score - Contribution To Mesghibousrood

= Jentiment Score - ASE

-Bentiment Scora - Easy to Deal With

=te Beniimnent Scond - Faidy & With Respect

—— Gendiment Score - Listans & Acts

e (rpanisational Leved RS

01 H2526 02 202526
A sharp increase in scores and base size in April 2025426 is dus to a change in the survey approach — instead of enly asking folfow-up questions to dissatisfied residents. we began asking all residents

Sentiment has remained very similar in Q2 2025/26 in comparisan to Q1 2025/26, with most measures showing litle change over the quarter, Cantribution 1o the
neighbourhood, listens and acts, and home and communal areas have all showed slight decreases, while fairly and with respeat and overall salisfaction have increased.
Owerall satisfaction is how the measure-with the highest sentiment score-al +1.23. This is vary encouraging, 2s il suggests that lenants have an overall positive senliment
lowards CBC, aven il there are minor fallures in some areas:

The arganisation ieve| RS does not include all the measures shown abave, as some guestions are only asked to dissatisfied tenants. Therefore, the overall RS1 now stands at
0.69, which Indicates thal the majarity of tenanis have a posillve feeling lowards CBC




i

Overall RSI Score

The Organisational-Level RSl offers a single,
headline metric that captures the overall emotional
tone of resident feedback across all key service
areas. It is based exclusively on responses to the 7
core RSl open-ended questions. It reflects how
positively or negatively residents feel aboul the
organisation’s performance across these key areas.
Please naole, if your organisation does not ask all 7
core RSl questions, you are unable to benchmark
your Organisational RS Score. Each individual RS|
question has been analysed in its relevant seclion
throughout the report.

* Positive = Mautral = Negative




Sentiment Scores Summary

Overall Satisfaction
Survey responses reveal a combination of satisfaction and frustration among tenants regarding repair services. While many appreciate
Sentimsant Sho o A prompt responses and effective resclutions, others report delays, poor communication, and unresolved issues, particularly concerning
Chverafl Satiafaction ke ongoing repairs and maintenance quality.

Tha Homea

Tenants report dissatisfaction with maintenance and cleaning services_ particularly in communal areas. Issues include inadequate
repairs, parsistent damp and mould, poor communication, and safety concems. Many tenants feel neglected, with unresolved complaints
and a lack of timely action from management.

Sentiment Score -
Repairs

Neighbourhood Contribution

Tenants show a varied opinien regarding the contribution to the nelghbourhood. While many appreciate the maintenance of communal
areas and prompt service, concerns aboul fly-tipping, lack of communication, and insufficient acton on anti-social behaviour persist.

Crrganisational Level RS

Senfiment Score -
Contribution To ﬂ
Meighbowhood While some respondents appreciate prompt actions and support regarding anti-social behaviour cases, many express dissatisfaction

with skow responses, ineffective measures, and a lack of communication. Drug-related issues and meighbour disputes are recurming
CONCRMS:

Repairs
When asked for comment on the repair services, many appreciate promptness and courtecus staff. However, Issues persist with delays,
incomplete jobs, and poor communication. Some respondents reported long walt times and dissatisfaction with the quality of repairs.

Sentment Score - ASH

o
jb)
«Q
Q)
=

Sentment Score - Fairly
& With Respect

Listen & Acts

: : Many tenants have concerns regarding communication and responsiveness from the housing service. Respondents feel unheard,
"'E""‘L'.":;"‘ab;'::;; experience delays in acticn, and express frustration over unresolved issues, particularly related to safety, maintenance, and support for
e vulnerable tenants.

Fairly & With Respect
Sentment Score - Easy Tenants also have concems regarding communication, support, and responsiveness from CBC. Temnants report fealing ignored,
1o Daat With disrespected, and unsafe in their homes, with many highlighting delays in repairs and Inadeguate handling of complaints, impacting
their mental health and overall well-being.
Sentiment Score - Home, Easy to Deal With

Commanal, Safe, Wl ;
ETES Y] Tenanis who are not satisfied that CBC are easy to deal with highlight dissatisfaction with communication and responsiveness. Tenants

report difficulties in contacting staff, lack of follow-up on repairs, and feeling ignored or dismissed. Many express frustration over long
wait times for repairs and inadeguate support for issues ralsed.




Satisfaction with Measures

Repalrs [ast 12 months

Fairly & with Respect

Safe Home

Time Taken Repalrs

Well Maintalned Home

Overall Satisfaction

Easy to Deal With

Kept Informad

Communal Areas

Nelghbourhood
Contribution

Listens & Acts

Approach to ASB

Complaints Handling

g
#

=
&#

#

Summary & Recommendations
Summary

This report is based on 221 complete tenant responses, plus 12 incomplete surveys, which are required to be ncluded by the
Regulator. The results for Q2 2025/26 continue to show strong |eveis of satisfacfion across the sunvey measures. Overall
satisfaction has increased by 3p.p and is now above 80%, close to the highest guarterly result seen for this measure. The
score of 82% sits just above the midpoint of all survey metrics, which is a good position, as this indicates that tenanis have
good leveis of residual satisfaction with the services provided by CBC, which are not easily reduced by the performances of
individual areas.

Both repair metrics have high scores, with the time taken to complete repairs at 82% and the number of repairs in the last 12
months at 87%, the highest scoring measure in this quarner’s survey. These are excellent results, as satisfaction with repairs
is often a key driver of overall satisfaction with the service. Treating tenants fairly and with respect, and the safety of the
home have also scored well this month, at B4% and 83% respectively.

The lowest sconing measures in the survey are listens and acts (65%), the approach to ASE (63%), and complaints handiing
{41%). The contribution to the neighborhood is also low and has shown the largest decrease in this guarter's survey, with a
fall of 8p.p. Listens and acis has also fallen, by 5p.p. These are commaonly lower-scoring measures in TSM surveys. however,
the responses to the open questions reveal areas that could be improved and help drive satisfaction in these areas going
forward.

Sentiment analysis has been used against the sentiment questions, covering the main areas of service. This givas a score
based on the comments made and also highlights where tenants are happy with the service or where they think
improvements could be made. The overall sentiment score is positive at +0.69, with a mixture of positive and negative for the
other areas of service. The main areas of concern appear to be linked to the poor maintenance of some communal areas and
inadequate responses to reported issues. Analysing the sentiment scores and reading the comments wili help CBC get a
better understanding of what is driving satisfaction and what iz not working guite as well.

Recommendations

Complaints Handling - This is the lowest-scoring measure in the survey, and the only result with a higher score for
dissatisfaction than satisfaction. Tenants often experience frustration when they are not kept up to date with the status of their
complaints and feel the need to follow up themselves. Howewver, it is difficult to tell the key issues at CBC without an open
response question, something that the Council may wish to consider for future surveys if they would like to try to make
improvements in this area.

Listens and Acts = It is a commaon theme throughout the open comments that reported issues like ASB, repairs, and
complaints are not responded to quickly, and actions are lacking. This leaves tenants with feelings of neglect, frustration, and
inevitably affects their satisfaction. CBC may wish to look into their communication process. ensuring that issues are logged
and tenants are always followed up with, until issues are resolved.




Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025 Ag e n d a I te m 1 1
Page 193

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet Housing Committee — 26 November 2025

Q2 2025/26 Housing Complaints and Compliments Report

Accountable member:

Clir Flo Clucas, Cabinet Member for Housing and Customer Services
Accountable officer:

Caroline Walker, Director of Housing, Customer Services and Communities
Executive summary:

This report provides an overview of housing related complaints and compliments received during Q2 for
2025/26. It highlights key themes, performance against targets, and actions being taken to improve
service delivery and customer satisfaction

Recommendations:

1. That the report and next steps are noted by Cabinet Housing Committee.

1. Background

The Council is committed to providing high-quality housing services and maintaining transparent and
effective complaint-handling processes in line with the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling
Code.

Each quarter, the Housing Service monitors complaints and compliments to identify trends, recurring
issues, and areas for improvement. This ensures that feedback from residents directly informs service
development and performance management.

During Q2 2025/26, the Council continued to focus on embedding the principles of good complaint
handling, fairness and accessibility.

2. Main content

There has been a noticeable improvement in the time taken to respond to complaints during Quarter 2
and this is largely due to an additional resource within the Complaints Team and that all stage 1
complaints relating to repairs and planned maintenance are being investigated and responded to by the
Complaints Team. As a result, complaints are being responded to more efficiently at Stage 1, with the
majority being resolved without escalation, demonstrating effective early resolution.

Poor communication remains the most common cause of complaints. This issue has had a direct impact
on the quality of service experienced by residents, particularly in relation to the kitchen installation

Page 1 of 3



Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Page 194

programme. The service acknowledges this concern and is actively addressing it through internal
process reviews and engagement with our contractors to ensure clearer, more consistent communication
with tenants going forward

3. 4. Performance Overview

Category Q12025/26 Q2 2025/26
Stage 1 complaints 66 84
Stage 2 complaints 10 6
% of Stage 1 complaints upheld (in full/part) 68% 86.4%
Average Days to respond to Stage 1

g . y P 8 16.3 12.9
complaints
Compliments received 26 20
4. Key risks

Failure to comply with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code and the Council housing
complaints policy and manage the complaints process appropriately may result in:

e A maladministration decision from the Housing Ombudsman and include Ombudsman intervention
and financial penalty

¢ Reputational damage and loss of public confidence
e Reduced tenant satisfaction and engagement.
Report author:

Caroline Walker, Director of Housing, Customer Services and Communities,
caroline.walker@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices:

i. Risk Assessment
i Q2 2025/26 Housing Complaints and Compliments report

Page 2 of 3


mailto:caroline.walker@cheltenham.gov.uk

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 November 2025

Appendix 1: Risk Assessment

managed
professionally, fairly
and within target
timescale

Risk | Risk description Risk owner Impact | Likelihood | Initial Risk Controls / Mitigating Control / | Deadline
ref score | score raw risk | response | actions Action for
score owner controls/
(1-5) (1-5) actions
(1-25)
Maladministration Caroline Complete annually the | Natasha Annually
decision from Walker, Housing Ombudsman Dhillon,
Housing Director of 4 3 12 Reduce | Self-assessment form | Complaint
Ombudsman Housing, the risk s Officer
Customer Ensure compliance with
Reputational Service and CBC Housing
damage arising from | Communities complaints policy and Every 3
a complaint the Housing years or
Ombudsman more
Complaints handling frequently
Code if any
legislative
Ensure Complaints are changes

G6T obed



This page is intentionally left blank



CHELTENHAM
BOROUGH COUNCII

Housing services

Housing Complaints and
Compliments Report

Q2 July to September 25/26

Natasha Dhillon, Complaints Officer

natasha.dhillon@cheltenham.gov.uk

/6T abed



In this period:

JULY - SEPTEMBER 2025

STAGE 1 Compliments Complaints Complaints
Opened responded to
July 5 33 (3 No Tenant 26
Contact)
August 8 30 (1 No Tenant 34
Contact)
September 6 21 21
STAGE 2 Complaints Opened Complaints responded
to
July 1
August 2 3
September 4 2

In quarter 2 for 2025/26, 84 complaints were opened at Stage 1, with 4 of
these subsequently being withdrawn due to no tenant contact. During this
period, responses were provided for 81 complaints at Stage 1 and 6
complaints at Stage 2.

With the addition of a new member to the complaints team, we've seen a
noticeable improvement in our response rate and overall efficiency. In the
previous quarter 62 responses were sent in comparison to 81 this quarter.
This capacity has allowed us to address a higher volume of complaints in a
more timely manner, ensuring that more concerns are resolved quickly and
effectively. The positive impact of this increased support is reflected in the
growing number of complaints we are now able to respond to within our
target timeframes.

B Compliments Complaints
<
0
m
e o
m
N o
o0
n I o
JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER Q2

The period for this report is between 01/07/2025 00:00:00 -
30/09/2025 23:59:59 (inclusive)

86T abed



Q2 OVERVIEW STAGE 1: July to September 2025/26

84 complaints were opened in Q2, July to September 2025 and 81 complaints were responded to. 53 out of
the 81 complaints responded to were within 10 working days, 1 of these complaints were responded to
outside of target as no extension was agreed.

27 out of 81 complaints had agreed Stage 1 extensions and were responded to within timescales.

The average number of days taken to investigate all closed complaints was 12.9 days.

27 complaints had formal extensions agreed with the complainant, in line with the Housing Ombudsman
code. Some of these had extensions over an extended period of time due to a lack of resource in the
building services team.

The increase in average days to respond has been recognised and additional resource has now been
added to the complaints team to assist with this.

Compensation: Of the 81 stage 1 responses sent, 13 of these were offered compensation.

CBC declined nine complaints in Q2, these complaints were responded to initially via a phone call if possible
and all by letter to advise why the complaint was not accepted in line with our complaints policy.

Breakdown of Compliments
and Complaints

m Compliments = Complaints

|

66T abed



Q2 OVERVIEW Stage 2: July to September 2025/26

Number of complaints escalated to Stage 2: In this period 6 complaints were escalated to
Stage 2.

6 complaints were responded to at Stage 2

6 complaints were responded to within their agreed target date.

Compensation: Of the 6 Stage 2 responses sent, 1 was offered compensation:

This quarter saw a steady number of Stage 2 escalation requests, with the majority
relating to the Planned Maintenance team. It's encouraging to note that five of these
cases were successfully resolved and responded to without the need for compensation,
indicating effective communication and resolution strategies at this stage of the
complaints process.

BREAKDOWN OF STAGE 2
COMPLAINTS ESCALATED IN THE
PERIOD BY SERVICE AREA

B Disrepair B Planned Maintenanace

B Tenancy Management

Tenancy Disrepair
Management

Planned
Maintenanace

00¢ abed



Breakdown of Complaint Nature for complaints responded to

The majority of complaints continue to

Complaint Nature stem from poor communication, often

followed by service delays, two issues

that appear to be closely linked. In

many cases, a lack of timely or clear

updates contributes to frustration when

DISREPAIR services are delayed, highlighting the
1 importance of effective communication
‘ in managing  expectations  and

SERVICE DELAYS 7 . . . .
7 improving overall customer satisfaction.
QUALITY OF WORK | ‘ It is clear and evident from our handling
2 of complaints that there has been a
STAFF ATTITUDE 2 steady influx of cases relating to
2 | contractors during this period, most of
| _ which stem from the ongoing kitchen

R - 7 installation programme.
e I | =y

POOR COMMUNIACTION : It is noticeable that CBC has received
' ' ' T one disrepair claim during the period,
0 9 4 6 8 10 12 which may indicate the beginning of a

change in trend especially with

September m August mJuly autumn/winter approaching

TOgz abed



Complaint Outcomes

m Upheld

I -
B
| )

N
-

I :
A

UGUST

m Part Upheld

<
—
(@)}
o0
II o

SEPTEMBER

m Not upheld

)
<
|(\I
~
Q2

Of the 81 complaints responded to
during the period, 70 (86.4%) were
upheld either in full or in part. This
suggests that, in the majority of
cases, the concerns raised by
residents were found to have
merit. It may also indicate areas
where  service  delivery or
communication can be improved
to reduce the volume of justified
complaints moving forward.

20z abed



Complaints Compensation - Stage 1 -

Complaints Compensation

B Repairs Reactive

M Estates

m Planned

July

August

September

Total

£370
£50

£320
£69.98
£50
£1050
£202.74

£250
£100
£250
£25

£250
£750

Departmen

t

Repairs
Repairs

Repairs

Estates

Community Services
Repairs

Planned

Planned
Planned
Planned
Repairs
Repairs
Repairs

£420

£1,692.72

£1,625

£3,737.72

£0¢ abed



No Age Data
16-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

Total

Complainant Profile

3.3%
3.3%
19.7%
21.3%
13.1%
19.7%
13.1%
4.9%
1.6%
100%

Disabled

Not Disabled
No Data
Total

21.3%
75.4%
3.3%

100%

White British

No Data

Other Ethnic Group
White Other

Asian or Asian British
Other

Total

88.5%
6.6%
1.6%
1.6%
1.6%

100%

Gender ol |

No Data
Female
Male
Total

3.3%
62.3%
34.4%
100%

45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10

Property Type

Property Type

43

¥0¢ abed

HOUSE

FLAT
MW Property Type

BUNGALOW



LEARNING FRAMEWORK

« Conversation with colleague through 121 processes.
Individual Colleague Learning that can be « Follow up any learning actions with individual.
—— attributed to an = « Learning and training in place to make sure colleague can achieve,
individuals action/s » Putforms of support in place for colleague to succeed next time The Complaints Officer has
« Performance Management - 3 complaints
« Value of talking to whole team about it developed and implemented d
oy | Mesminghatcanbe learning framework to aid
Teams attributed to actions - e Conversation with colleagues through 121 processes L . L. .
or decisions made * Conversations with colleagues at team meetings Investlgatl ng Officers in 'dentlfymg
within or across a « Follow up any learning actions with teams, meaningful 'lessons learnt' from
team or multiple * Re-training inc managers X ) X
teams « Are there policies/procedures that need updating or that are complaints, and to guide them in
missing. implementing appropriate actions.
: U
Service Quality Learning that can be - - Q
5 | attributed to the e Consideration of process or system change This has been shared with all «
. 5 _—
jﬂﬁﬂ:{:j senviee investigating officers and will be g
monitored by the Complaints o
Organisational Culture | — | Learning that can be — + Consideration of process or system change Officer. (@)

sHibiited tb tha ailfiire * Look to other social housing organisations and structures.

of our grganisation

The framework has been embedded

——» | Learning thatis attributed | —» | ¢ Discuss at monthly contract meeting with contractor. into the QL complaints case module
16 tha actions and decslois * Review complaints element of procurement to ensure correct )
mechanism in place-CBH complaints policy needs to be part of all for reporting purposes.

of a contractor, which is

managed by CBH new contracts

* Random spot checks on physically identifiable work

Homes CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

A), Cheltenham §§2§
‘. s~ Borough part of



LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS - Q2 - July to September

LEARNING FRAMEWORK

B Contractor mIndividual ®mTeams m Service M Organisational Culture M Disrepair

20

18

13

5
6

|
0
|

JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER

o
—
(a\] o~
—
. o O IOO o O

It is clear from the nature of most
complaints that the core issue often lies in
service delivery and contractor issues. This
learning applies to both internal CBC
operations and external contractors,
highlighting the need for continued focus
on improving consistency and
accountability across all areas of what we
are delivering to our tenants.

It is positive to note the low number of
complaints received regarding individual
behaviors, suggesting that staff and
contractors are generally maintaining a
professional and respectful approach in
their interactions with residents.

90¢ abed



60

50

40

30

20

10

LEARNING FRAMEWORK COMPARISON

Individual

Learning Framework Comparison

Teams Service

mQ325/25 mQ424/25

Contractor

Q1 24/25

Organisational
Culture

Q2 24/25

Disrepair

This chart shows that Service and
Contractor complaints that derive from
the learning framework consistently
gain the highest number of complaints
across the Ilast four quarters. In
particular, Service complaints peaked
in Q2 24/25, while Contractor
complaints also rose noticeably in the
same period. Other frameworks such
as Individual, Teams, Organisational
Culture, and Disrepair recorded
relatively low and stable complaint
levels throughout the last four
quarters.

The Complaints Team will drill down
into complaint categories and identify
the top recurring themes and share
this with service leaders. This will
additionally identify if complaints are
coming from a specific group, for
example a town area, contractor or
service line.

/0¢ abed



Compliments July - September

Compliments

N

—_

3 | I

Repairs Customer Complaints TM Team Planned Leasehold
Services

o

Rents Estates

80¢ abed



IN THE LAST 3 MONTHS

* CBC has added an additional member to the complaints team

*  CBC has tasked the complaints team with investigating and responding to complaints related to building services

* MRC representative, Flo Clucas, attended the HOS conference specifically for MRCs

* Meetings were held with the planned maintenance team and contractors in response to the increased number of complaints associated
with the kitchen installation programme

* Implemented a standardised procedure for investigating Kitchen and Bathroom complaints

NEXT STEPS

* Review and manage building services complaints within the complaints team.
* Collaborate with relevant service areas to improve complaint response times and ensure commitments are fulfilled, complaint promises.
* Attend the HQN mock inspection for Consumer Standards

60¢ abed



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

Report for Cabinet Housing Committee, 26 \Page 211s

Tenant Engagement Update, Housing Services, Cheltenham Borough Council

November 2025

Tenant Panel

e The Tenant Panel are about to come to an end of their scrutiny of the repairs
process. They have put forward a number of recommendations. Supported by the
Resident Engagement Officer, they process will be published as a Scrutiny piece of
work.

o The Tenant Panel scrutinised a number of policies ranging from rent setting to
repairs. The Resident Engagement Officer then provided feedback to service leads.
The Polices were Repairs, Voids, Rent Setting and Recharge.

Leaseholder Forum

e The Leaseholder Forum set the pace and looked at the four key areas of scrutiny
they want to look at going forward - including key areas such as communication

¢ A new Terms of Reference for the group was formally adopted; which will include
four scrutiny meetings a year in addition to two meetings of the forum, to make sure
its focus is on actions

o The forum were asked to consult on a policy and the this was fed back to service
leads through the resident engagement officer. They were consulted on the Repairs
policy.



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting Title Objective Format
21stJanuary 2026 CEO/Director Briefing (if required) (Verbal) An update from the Chief Executive/Director on key issues which may be of interestto |Verbal
the Cabinet Housing Committee.
Policy Updates: Damp, Mould and Condensation Policy, To provide the committee with the Damp, Mould and Condensation Policy, Mobility Decision

Mobility Scooter and E-Scooter/Bikes Policies Policies

Compliance Strategy Action Plan Update

Anti-Social Behaviour Improvement Project - Update

Housing Performance and Compliance Report - Quarter 3

Housing Complaints and Compliments Report - Quarter 3

Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels

Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan

Scooter and E-Scooter/Bikes Policies policies for sign off and recommendation to
cabinet for approval

To provide the committee with an opportunity to monitor progress on the Compliance
Strategy action plan.

To provide the committee with an update on the progress of the ASB Improvement
Project.

To provide the Committee with key performance information relation to voids, arrears,
day to day repairs, ASB and property compliance.

To provide an overview of housing related complaints and compliments, identifying key
areas of dissatisfaction and areas for learning and service improvement.

To highlight the ongoing activities of the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels and provide an
additional opportunity for tenant and leaseholder voices to be heard.

To provide the Committee with opportunities to identify any additional areas they may
wish to scrutinise.

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight To provide the Committee with an overview of recent developments in the housing Briefing Note
sector and provide opportunities for horizon scanning.
25th March 2026 CEO/Director Briefing (if required) (Verbal) An update from the Chief Executive/Director on key issues which may be of interestto [Verbal
the Cabinet Housing Committee.
Housing Asset Management Strategy To provide the committee with the Housing Asset Management Strategy for sign off and |Decision

Housing Improvement Plan

Counter Fraud and Enforcement Unit Report

Housing Risk Register
Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels

Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan

Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight

recommendation to cabinet for approval.

To provide the Committee with a progress update on the Improvement Plan developed
to resolve areas of non-compliance with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer
Standards.

To provide the Committee with an overview of the Counter Fraud Enforcement Unit’s
work on housing and tenancy fraud over the previous year.

To review the strategic risks relating to housing from the Council’s Risk Register.

To highlight the ongoing activities of the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels and provide an
additional opportunity for tenant and leaseholder voices to be heard.

To provide the Committee with opportunities to identify any additional areas they may
wish to scrutinise.

To provide the Committee with an overview of recent developments in the housing
sector and provide opportunities for horizon scanning.

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper
Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Briefing Note

1stJune 2026

CEO/Director Briefing (if required) (Verbal)

Tenant Satisfaction Measures Submission 2025/26

Housing Performance and Compliance Report - Quarter 4

An update from the Chief Executive/Director on key issues which may be of interest to
the Cabinet Housing Committee.
To provide the committee with an opportunity to review the TSM submission for 2025/26

To provide the Committee with key performance information relation to voids, arrears,
day to day repairs, ASB and property compliance.

Verbal

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

cT¢ abed

€T Wal| epusaby



Housing Compliments and Complaints Report - Quarter 4

Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels

Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan

Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight

To provide an overview of housing related complaints and compliments, identifying key
areas of dissatisfaction and areas for learning and service improvement.

To highlight the ongoing activities of the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels and provide an
additional opportunity for tenant and leaseholder voices to be heard.

To provide the Committee with opportunities to identify any additional areas they may
wish to scrutinise.

To provide the Committee with an overview of recent developments in the housing
sector and provide opportunities for horizon scanning.

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Briefing Note

29th July 2026

CEO/Director Briefing (if required) (Verbal)

Housing Performance and Compliance Report - Quarter 1
Housing Complaints and Compliments Report - Quarter 1
End of Year 2025-26 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Budget Monitoring Report

Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels

Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan

Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight

An update from the Chief Executive/Director on key issues which may be of interest to
the Cabinet Housing Committee.

To provide the Committee with key performance information relation to voids, arrears,
day to day repairs, ASB and property compliance.

To provide an overview of housing related complaints and compliments, identifying key
areas of dissatisfaction and areas for learning and service improvement.

To provide a monitoring position statement for the HRA against the budget approved by
Councilon 21 February 2025, highlighting any key variances.

To highlight the ongoing activities of the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels and provide an
additional opportunity for tenant and leaseholder voices to be heard.

To provide the Committee with opportunities to identify any additional areas they may
wish to scrutinise.

To provide the Committee with an overview of recent developments in the housing
sector and provide opportunities for horizon scanning.

Verbal

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Information/Discussion Paper

Briefing Note

vy T2 abed



Agenda Item 15
Page 215

Briefing Note

Committee name: Cabinet Housing Committee
Date: 26 November 2025

Responsible officer: Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and
Communities, claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

This note provides information to keep Members informed of matters relating to the work of
the Cabinet or a committee but where no decisions from Members are needed.

If Members have questions relating to matters shown, they are asked to contact the officer
indicated.

Government Strategy and Announcements

a. The Government confirmed that Awaab’s Law came into effect in England on 27
October. The new regulations require landlords to fix emergency hazards within 24
hours, investigate damp and mould within 10 working days, and make homes safe
within five working days. Landlords must also consider vulnerable tenants’
circumstances and offer temporary accommodation if homes cannot be made safe in
time. Those who fail to comply face enforcement action, compensation orders, and
legal costs.

b. The Renters’ Rights Bill received Royal Assent on the 27 October, making it the
Renters’ Rights Act and granting private renters a significant increase to their rights.
As the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’'s (MHCLG) press
release highlights:

- Landmark legislation will abolish Section 21 ‘no fault’ evictions, ending a practice
that has threatened thousands of renters with homelessness.

- The Act will rebalance landlord-tenant relations across England as part of the
government’s Plan for Change.

- The reforms will give renters the right to end tenancies with two months’ notice,
while protecting legitimate landlord interests through strengthened repossession
grounds that support continued investment in the sector.

- Other changes include applying the Decent Homes Standard and Awaab’s Law
to the private rented sector, abolishing blanket bans on tenants who have
children or receive benefits, and cracking down on bidding wars.

Although it has received Royal Assent, the Government has yet to clarify how it will
go about implementing the Bill and when. However, from 27 December local
authorities will be able to make use of new investigatory powers granted to them in



Page 216

the Act, including procedures for requesting information from landlords and other
relevant persons, entering business and residential premises with or without a
warrant, and seizing documents.

. The Government has issued a policy statement and an updated consultation
response confirming a new regulatory Competence and Conduct Standard for social
housing that will come into force in October 2026. The Regulator of Social Housing
(RSH) is directed to set the standard to ensure that providers professionalise
services, strengthen culture and ensure tenants are treated with respect. There will
be a three-year transition for providers with one thousand homes and a four-year
transition for smaller providers. Registered providers must ensure that:

- Senior housing managers have (or are working towards) an Ofqual level 4
qualification.

- Senior housing executives have (or are working towards) a foundation degree or
Ofqual level 5 qualification.

- Providers must also adopt learning and development and conduct policies,
embed codes of conduct, and give tenants meaningful opportunities to influence
and scrutinise these.

- Services providers (such as arm’s length management organisations) who deliver
all or the majority of core housing management functions will have a contractual
obligation through management service agreements to ensure that relevant
managers have, or are working towards, the required qualifications (this will not
apply where a single function is delivered).

. Homes England have published new guidance for the Social and Affordable Homes
Programme (SAHP), including a specification that three in five homes should be for
social rent and information on how the funding can be used to support regeneration.
The £39 billion fund aims to support the delivery of 1.5 million social and affordable
homes during this parliament, including supporting an increase in council
housebuilding, the delivery of specialist and supported housing, and the delivery of
community-led and rural housing. The MHCLG also confirmed recently that £7 billion
from the fund has now been allocated to six combined authorities.

. The Government has confirmed that new Social Tenant Access to Information

Requirements (STAIRs) will come into force for private registered providers of social
housing in two stages from October 2026 and April 2027, aimed at improving
transparency and helping tenants hold landlords to account. Stage 1 will require
landlords to publish key information about how they manage homes, including
spending, governance, performance, housing stock, and progress towards net zero.
At stage 2 tenants or their nominated representatives will have a legal right to
request further information on issues such as rent, repairs, service charges, safety,
complaints, and estate management. Tenants dissatisfied with a landlord’s response
will be able to escalate complaints to the Housing Ombudsman, while the RSH will
oversee compliance with the new requirements. Local authority landlords are
currently not covered by the new regime, but the Government has pledged to extend
Freedom of Information laws to cover their tenant management organisations as
well.

The Government has responded to the HCLG Committee’s report on “The Funding
and Sustainability of Local Government Finance”, accepting most of the Committee’s



Page 217

recommendations and committing to wide-ranging reforms from 2026-27.
However, in its response to the Committee’s recommendation on Local Housing
Allowance (LHA), the Government confirmed that it has no plans to unfreeze LHA
rates for 2025-26, instead prioritising funding for the Household Support Fund and
Discretionary Housing Payments to maintain existing levels of discretionary
assistance for households most in need.

g. The New Homes Quality Board has been selected to take over the Shared
Ownership Code (a code of practice that registered housing providers can sign up
to), with responsibility for its operations, governance and financial stability. The code
was created in the Summer by the Shared Ownership Council to standardise best
practice and consumer protection amidst warnings that the shared ownership model
has too often failed to deliver genuinely affordable homeownership; leaving many
buyers facing rising rents, uncapped service charges, complex leases and
disproportionate repair costs.

Requlator of Social Housing (RSH)

h. The Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) has published its corporate plan for 2025 to
2028, highlighting the challenging operating environment for social housing
landlords, particularly risks to finance viability due to continuing tough economic
conditions and the difficult demands of repairs and safety remediation works, new
regulation and policy, and the need for new homes. Following consultation with their
Board and colleagues, the corporate plan’s objectives are:

- Driving improvement - deliver improved outcomes for current and future tenants
of social housing through robust regulation of registered landlords.

- Maintaining confidence - maintain stakeholder and investor confidence in social
housing by sharing insight, research and analysis to enable landlords to respond
appropriately to sector risks, challenges and opportunities and deliver more
quality homes and landlord services.

- Working with others - inform the development and delivery of effective social
housing policy, by working with a range of stakeholders, including tenants and
government.

- Building the organisation - develop and maintain a diverse, skilled and engaged
workforce, by creating an inclusive culture that enables continuous learning and
having corporate functions and systems that support and enable effective
regulation.

i. The RSH has published the annual Sector Risk Profile, concluding that: “The
importance of governance is the key theme running through this report. Governance
underpins both financial viability and the ability of landlords to provide better
outcomes for tenants. Our governance requirements apply to private registered
providers. But we have seen from our casework that local authorities can also learn
from our regulation of governance. For example, delivering the outcomes of our
consumer standards requires robust risk management, underpinned by
comprehensive data on health and safety risks and the overall condition of tenants’
homes. Boards and councillors must use this information, alongside other sources
such as feedback from tenants, to make strategic decisions about tenant services



Page 218

and repairs.”

The report discusses the challenges around providing safe and decent homes, the
supply of new homes, the importance of data in delivering quality services, data
integrity, rent setting, supported housing, energy efficiency requirements and net
zero, insurance, fraud, ensuring financial viability, debt, fixed asset sales and
diversification.

The RSH has published its annual statistics showing that the social housing sector in
England grew by nearly 38,000 homes in 2024-25 to around 4.5 million but also
revealing a continued fall in traditional local authority owned social rent homes. The
figures show:

- Anincrease of approximately 28,000 affordable rent homes and 13,900 low-cost
home ownership properties overall.

- Afall of just over 4,100 social rent homes (primarily driven by Right to Buy (RtB)
sales). Local authorities recorded a net loss of around 7,000 social rent homes.

- Private registered providers (PRPs) reported a net gain of nearly 2,900 homes
and accounted for 83% of new affordable rent properties and 98% of low-cost
home ownership completions.

- 75% of PRPs homes have an EPC rating of C or above, up from 71% last year,
and a further 19% are rated D.

- During the year, 537,000 homes were surveyed, identifying 41,000 that did not
meet the Decent Homes Standard (DHS). More than 35,400 of these have since
been remediated. A further 9,335 homes were excluded from having to meet
DHS requirements due to circumstances which prevent or limit remediation
works.

- Average general needs social rents rose by 8% between March 2024 and March
2025, in line with the permitted limit. The average weekly rent stood at £113.69,
ranging from £95.16 in the North East to £140.70 in London, with local authority
rents remaining lower on average than those of PRPs.

. The RSH’s analysis of the 2024-25 Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSMs) has shown

that:

- 71.8% of tenants in low-cost rental accommodation (LCRA) are satisfied with the
overall service from their landlords, an increase of 0.5% from the previous year.

- 18% of tenants are fairly or very dissatisfied with their landlords.

- Highest satisfaction drivers are satisfaction with overall repairs services (73.6%),
satisfaction with their home being safe (77.6%) and that their landlord treats them
with fairness and respect (77.9%).

- Satisfaction with complaint handling remains low at 35.5%, an increase of 1%
from the previous year.

- Other areas of concern are satisfaction with approach to handling anti-social
behaviour (59.5%), landlords listening to tenant views and acting upon them
(61.6%), landlords making a positive contribution to the neighbourhood (64.6%),
and maintenance and cleanliness of communal areas (66.7%).

- Most landlords report full compliance on each building safety measure, with the
vast majority of homes owned by large landlords having completed required gas
(99.7%), fire (98.7%), asbestos (97.9%), water (97.9%) and lift safety checks
(97.8%).



Page 219

- Landlords are required to set target timescales for the end-to-end completion
time for both emergency and non-emergency responsive repairs. Across the
sector, a large majority of responsive repairs were recorded as being completed
within these target timescales (79% of non-emergency, and 91% of emergency
repairs at sector level). This was 2% higher than last year for both repair types.

Housing Ombudsman

The Housing Ombudsman’s Annual Complaint Review for April 2024 to March 2025

has found:

- Complaints from social housing tenants about poor living conditions have risen by
43% in England.

- Local authorities, as well as housing associations with between 1,000 and 10,000
homes, are struggling more than other landlords to provide timely responses to
complaints.

- The Ombudsman made 26,901 interventions, with 40% of compensation relating
to leaks, damp and mould. It also made 2,007 findings of reasonable redress
(over 800 more than 2023-24).

- The Ombudsman also made 7,082 determinations, an increase of 30% from
2023-24.

- While 71% of complaints made were upheld, it also identified evidence of
improvements in the complaint handling process, including a 7% drop in the
maladministration rate and 117 fewer severe maladministration failings.

. The Housing Ombudsman latest ‘Learning from Severe Maladministration’ report has

focused on less-publicised areas of service failure such as subsidence, adaptations
and rent accounts. The Ombudsman warns that while these “silent” severe
maladministration cases may be less visible than those involving damp, mould or
disrepair, their impact on residents’ wellbeing and finances can be equally significant
and damaging. While the specific complaint areas differ, the report identifies
recurring systemic issues, including poor knowledge management, communication
breakdowns, and prolonged inaction.

The Housing Ombudsman has launched a revised special investigations process
designed to help social landlords identify and resolve service failings earlier,
strengthen accountability, and improve outcomes for residents without the need for a
full investigation. The new process introduces a three-tier framework that allows the
Ombudsman to intervene when a landlord is performing less well than others on key
metrics derived from casework. The approach aims to foster earlier engagement,
enabling landlords to detect issues and take corrective action before they escalate.

Research and Campaigns

0. Ahead of the Autumn Budget, the Local Government Association (LGA) has called

on the Government to expand access to the £2.5 billion low-interest loan fund
originally earmarked for housing associations. They have argued that local
authorities are well placed and should also be able to draw on the facility to
accelerate council housebuilding and expand affordable housing supply. The



Page 220

government-backed loans will be distributed through the newly established National
Housing Bank. The LGA also urged that alongside other funding streams, the
preferential borrowing rates for social housing through the Public Works Loan Board
(PWLB) be made permanent to provide greater certainty to house building.

UNISON'’s Housing Worker Survey for 2024-25, based on over 1,100 responses

from housing staff employed by councils and housing organisations, has highlighted:

- 77% of housing staff reported high levels of stress, with four in five respondents
saying pressures have worsened over recent years and 25% of respondents
reporting taking time off due to stress.

- 45% of respondents said they lack the necessary training for their jobs and 1 in 5
reporting having gone more than three years without health and safety training.

- 57% reported being asked to take on duties outside their remit, with UNISON
commenting that housing staff feel “unsafe, unsupported, and overstretched”.

- Nearly two-thirds of housing workers said they are looking for another job and
more than half are considering leaving the sector altogether, with UNISON noting
that over half of employers are struggling to fill roles and are turning to agency
staff.

- Of the 73% of respondents who are employed by councils, 43% reported earning
between £30-40k, with almost 1 in 5 earning below the real living wage.

- 72% of respondents reported experiencing violence at work in the last year, with
40% saying they were not adequately supported afterwards and 50% saying their
employer had taken no steps to prevent repeat incidents.

- The report also outlined that housing workers’ top priorities are more funding for
social rented homes, adequate funding for councils to house the vulnerable,
ending the five-week wait for Universal Credit, reforming the private rented
sector, and raising local housing allowance to cover average rents.

Contact Officer: Claire Hughes, Director of Governance, Housing and Communities

Email:

claire.hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk



mailto:Claire.Hughes@cheltenham.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	6 Rent Setting, Repairs, Empty Homes (Voids) and Recharge Policies
	2025_11_26_06App2_Rent_Setting_Policy_v2
	2025_11_26_06App3_Rent_Setting_Policy_Summary_for_Tenants
	2025_11_26_06App4_Rent_Setting_Policy_Equality_Impact_Assessment
	2025_11_26_06App5_Recharge_Policy_V2
	2025_11_26_06App6_Recharge_Policy_Summary_for_Tenants
	2025_11_26_06App7_Recharge_Policy_Equality_Impact_Assessment
	2025_11_26_06App8_Empty_Homes_(Voids)_Policy
	2025_11_26_06App9_Empty_Homes_(Voids)_Policy_Summary_for_Tenants
	2025_11_26_06App10_Empty_Homes_(Voids)_Policy_Equality_Impact_Assessment
	2025_11_26_06App11_Repairs_and_Maintenace_for_Tenanted_Properties_Policy
	2025_11_26_06App12_Repairs_and_Maintenace_for_Tenanted_Properties_Policy_Summary_for_Tenants
	2025_11_26_06App13_Repairs_and_Maintenace_for_Tenanted_Properties_Policy_Equality_Impact_Assessment

	7 Compliance Performance data for October 2025 and KPI reporting for Q2
	8 Housing Services Health and Safety Report
	9 Housing Improvement Plan
	2025_11_26_09App2_Self_Assessment_Against_Consumer_Standards

	10 6 monthly Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) Tracker Update
	2025_11_26_10App2_Q1_TSM_Tracker_Report
	2025_11_26_10App3_Q2_TSM_Tracker_Report

	11 Q2 2025/26 Housing Complaints and Compliments Report
	2025_11_26_11App2_Q2_2025_26_Housing_Complaints_and_Compliments_Report_v2

	12 Updates from the Tenant and Leaseholder Panels
	13 Review of the Housing Committee Forward Plan
	15 Briefing Note - Housing Sector Insight

